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Highlights of 2018

Delivering growth

in_speciality chemicals

Commercial highlights

+ Fourth consecutive year of growth and
record profitability:

- investment in organic and inorgamic growth
combined with geographic diversity and product
ditferentiation underpmned sofid progress in 2018

- Underlying profit before tax up 3.9% at £135.1m
(2017; £130.0m)

— IFRS profit before tax up 39.2% at £120.3m
2047: £86.4m)

+ Europe and North America (ENA) resillent

in chatlenging market conditions:

- Market leading position in aqueous polymers in
Europe

- Volume growth driven by acquisiion of BASF
Pischelsdori {Austria)

— Unit margins stable, recognising transactional
mpact of weak USD and significant raw material
price volatility

— Underlying operating profit £5.9m lower at £111.2m
(2017: £117.1m)

— IFRS operating profit up 18.5% at £91.8m
(2017: £77.5m)

+ Asia and Rest of the World (ARW) results driven
by strong growth in Nitrile latex demand:

— Nitrile latex market growth in excess of 10% during 2018

— Nitrile latex unit margins strengthened due to
improved supply/dermand balance

— Successful commissioning of 90ktes Narile latex
expansion at Pasir Gudang in Q4 2018, safely on
time and on budget

- Underlying operating profit £10.8m higher
at £45.7m (2017° £35.1m)

— IFRS operating profit up 76.0% at £54.9m
(2017: £31.2m}

Financial highlights

» Continued fogus and investment in organic
and inorganic growth:

- £75.7m investment in capitat expenditure, the
most significant investment in Group history,
securing future growih

- £17.1m investment in research and development
contimuing to drive innovation and new
product formulations

— Successiul acquisition and integration of the BASF
Pischelsdorf SBR business, enhancing Eurcpean
BBA business and increasing market share m
paper and packaging market

+ Record return on R&D investment:

— 21% of sales volumes from new products iaunched
" past 5 years

- Board approval for £5m investment in state-of-the-
art Asian Innovation Centre based n Malaysia
commmissioning 2020

+ Strong earnings per share performance:

~ 6.8% rise in underlying earnings per share to 32.8p
{2017: 30.7p)

- Reduced effective tax rate to 17.0% {2017: 19.0%),
consistent with geographical profit mix and prior
year tems

- 34.9% rise in IFRS earnings per share to 29.4p
{2017: 21.8p)

+ improved dividend per share in line with
dividend policy:

- Dmadend per share up 7.4% at 13.1p {2017 12.2p)
representing circa 40% of earnings per share

Underlying RS

2018 2017 2018 2017
Volume (ktes) 1,517.6 1,443.8 1,517.6 1,443.8
Revenue (£m) 1,618.9 1,480.2 1,618.9 1,480.2
EBITDA (Em) 181.0 176.2 - -
Qperating profit (£m) 1421 1380 128.7 Q5.4
Profit before tax (£m) 135.1 130.0 120.3 86.4
Earnings per share {p) 32.8 307 29.4 21.8
Dividends per share (p) 131 12.2 13.1 12.2
Net borrowings (Emi) 214.0 180.5 214.0 180.5

The Group's management uses Undarlying pertormance to plan for, control 2nd assess the performance of the Group Underiying
performance differs from the statutory IFRS performance as it excludes the effect of Special Items, which are detaied in note 3 The
Board's wiew s that Underlyng performance provides additional clarty for the Group's investors and stakeholders and so 18 the primary
focus of the Group's narrative reporting Where appropriate IFRS performance inciusive of Special ltems 15 also described References to
‘'unit margin' and ‘margin’ are used in the commentary on Underlying performance Urit margin (or margin} 1s calculated on selling price
less vanable raw matenal and logistics costs Further explanations can be found innotes 4, 5and 6




Synthomer is a speciality
chemicals company and one

of the world’s leading suppliers

of aqueous polymers. With
strong geographic diversity
and product differentiation,
Synthomer holds leadership
positions in a wide range of
markets including coatings,
construction, textiles, paper
and healthcare.

We continue to make positive progress
towards our strategic objectives, delivering
strong growth through capital investment
and strategic acquisitions, coupled with an
increasingly global approach to serving our
customers and end markets.
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Our business at a glance

Synthomer today

“We understand customers'
needs and provide innovative
formulations 10 a range of
industries throughout the world.”

Calum MaclLean
Chief Executive Officer

As announced dunng November 2018, the Giroup
structure has been recrganised with effect from

1 January 2019 Three new business groups have been
created to better service our customers and markets
by leveraging our global product pertfelio expanding
the reach of our R&D capabilities and by bringing
greater operahonal tocus to our giobal markets

Synthomer tomorrow

From 2019 our new structure
will allow us to better leverage:

+ Commercial relationships

+ Operational excellence

+ Technology

The new structure combines sales, marketing,
research and production by business group nte

dedicated global teams whilst retaiming very strong
regional strength and local focus

For more infermation on our new global business structure,
see pages 20-27.

Revenue split

Synthomer plc Annual Report 2018



Highlights

Volume by market

Europe and North America (ENA)

Volumes

1,115.2ktes

2017 1,067 7ktes

Revenle Underkying operating proft
£1,228.4m £111.2m

2017 £1,134 9m 2017 £1171m

ERITDA RS opersting profit
£135.8m £91.8m

2017 £140 9m 2017 £775m

5 Carpel&Foam — ~  13.4%
6 Specalties
7

Asia and Rest of the World {ARW)

Vo'lumes

402.4ktes

2017 376 1ktes

Fevenue Linderlying operat ng prohit
£390.5m £45.7m

2017 £345 3m 2017 £35tTm

EBITDA IF RS s ng wrabin
£59.7m £54.9m

2017 £48 2m 2017 €31 2m

Performance Elastomers

Construction & Coating 23.7%

1

2. Functional Polymers 2,59
3 _Hgalthn&AF’(o_t_e__cl_Lop .
4 Paper

5 Carpet&Foam
&

7

Specialties

volurres Pevenue J L REPET e e 36.4%
2 Health & Protection 35.9%

859.5ktes  £704.5m 3 Caroet T 10.3%

EBITDA Underlying opera ng prett 4_Gompounds 100%
§ Foam — T4%

£107.9m £87.2m

Functional Solutions

Wolormes Revenue ; . _-(r:vDa_tllf:IgS ....... . ;:';:

extiles -

526.0ktes  £680.1m 3 Constuchon . 216%
4  Adhesives 13.9%

EBITDA Unaelly rg opetatl 2o ofit 5"' 6thér’- c ','.";’%

£64.1m £53.0m

Industrial Specialities

Worunee Rever e 1 ..... Coatmgs ......................... 2 92%
2 Polymer Additives 21.9%

132.1ktes £234.3m Other ) 48.9%

B TA | DEERN  N F TR | "l

£23.5m £16.7m

T

uodsi oiBajeng

L29-0dI

Synthomer plc Annua Heport 2015

3

anuBLIBACE

g51-Skl  Ssjuewalels [RIouewl Auedwon || ¥rL-C6 SIIBWSILIS (B1oURL|) dnoury || 26-96

UOITBWLION J3ULG |

091-454




What makes us different

Adding capacity with safety as our priority

SHE Principles

Synthomer recognises that to be

a successful global business we
must seek to continuaily improve

and prioritise our SHE performance.
We have our SHE Principles and 10
Golden Rules embedded across all of
our global operations

Read more about our safety principles on
pages 52-53

4 Synthomer pl¢ Annual Report 2018



2018 has seen the largest organic
investment programme in the Group’s
history, focused on securing future
growth by introducing additional low
cost capacity across our network
and to support long-term profitable
business development.

The 'Synthorner Way’ is to maximise
the utiisation of our assets, identify
value enhancing debottlenecks and
add further capacity to improve our
economies of scale, and grow in

our chosen markets and leverage
our leadership positions. Combining
this with operational and functional
excellence allows us to deliver

our strategy.

We continually seek to identify hest
practice in all areas of our business
and ensure that relevant learnings are
embedded throughout the business.
Above all we place Safety, Health and
Environmental (SHE) activities as our
priority in everything that we do,

75./m

Investment In capex 2018

Q0ktes

tnvestment in new Pasir Gudang
(Malaysia) NBR capacity to support
market growth in the Nitrile gloves
market — safely commssioned on
time and on budget G4 2018

A8ktes

Investment in new 48ktes combined
speciality dispersion capacity in
Worms (Germany) and Roebuck
{USA} to support growth in the
coatings, adhesive and construction
markets. Due to be commissioned
Q2 2018,

Three year rolling recordable njury case
rate has reduced by more than 60%
compared to the prior three year penod.

All injury rate (AIR) and Recordable
case rate (RCR) 2010-2018

T

wodas o16aens

L18-0d1

BOUBLLIBADT)

26-85

| 95I-SpL  SUAWALeIS (eisuel)) Auedwo) || ¥b1-E6 SJUBWSIE]S [BloUBLY dnoig I

UOIBULOMI J8Y}0

Q094451

Synthomer ple Anra! Report 20°#



What makes us different continued

Global approach to customers and markets

The way we do busingss has become
Increasingly global as we follow our
customers’ requirements, extend our
global operating network and lsverage
our continued focus on research and
development and innovation. Cur new
global structure will improve both

our market alignment and close
customer relationships.

Read more about our new global
business structura on pages 20-27

Read more about our approach to SHE
on pages 44-57

Key

Sales office

Operational head
office

Manufacturing site

Manufacturing site
and R&D centre

Synthoemer plc Annudl Report 2018




The new structure will enable
Synthomer to better service its
custorners and markets through
leveraging its global product portfolio,
expanding the reach of its R&D
capabilities, bringing greater operabional
focus to our global markets.

The objective of our organisational
change I1s to sharpen our commercial
focus, accelerate sales growth and
drive further operational efficiencies.
Our sales, marketing, innovation

and production will be combined by
business group into dedicated global
teams whilst retaining very strong
regional strength and local focus.

Our long established blue chip
custemer relationships and the high
barniers to entry In our chosen speciality
chemicals markets, combined with

our market leading positions and

broad exposure o a diverse set of

end markets underpins our strategy

of delivering sustainable growth.

20

global plant network

4000+

Customers

10 years+

Average length of
customer relationships

/4

Technical centres globally

10

Product range launches
in 2018

21

Percentage of sales volume in 2018
generated from products launched in
the last five years

T
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What makes us different continued

Strateqgy driving sustainable growth

Three bolt-cn acquisitions completed
n past three years:

BASF Pischeisdorf
January 2018

Speciality Additives
March 2017

PAC (Dispersions}
June 2016

Read more about our strategic priorities
on pages 18-19

8 Synthomer plc Annual Report 2018



Synthomer delivered a fourth
consecutive year of growth in
profitability in 2018. This performance
1s underpinned by our strong balanced
strategy which focuses on organic and
inorganic acquisition led growth.

inorganic growth through acquisitions
In the speciabty chemical sectar
remains a key part of our growth
strategy. We focus on two types of
transaction; bolt-on acquisitions In
similar chemistry or transtormational
step change transactions not limited
by geography or chemistry. In the past
three years we have completed three
bolt-on acquisitions allowing us to
secure our market leadership position In
our core European agueous polymers
segment, optimise and consaolidate our
network and add new technology and
geographies to our business.

Qur experienced management team
diligently assess the strategic fit of
potential opportunities for the Group
and apply strict criteria on the type,
quality and valuation of targets.

20

Manufacturing sites

18

Countries

8

Newly acquired sites in the
last three years

2010

First manufacturing site acauired in
North America

]
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Chairman’s statement

Strengthening governance and performance

Neil Johnson
Chairman

Governance highlights

+ Board re-balanced with
increased diversity

+ Revised code of conduct and
whistleblowing hotline launched
to support values and culture

+ Non-executive director designated
for workforce engagement

+ Policies and practices developed to
implement 2018 Governance Code

Results

I am pleased to report a year of good
progress. highlighted by a fourth
consecutive year of growth in Underlying
profitabilty, Qur progress has been
underpinned by capital mvestment in
higher growth markets, a continued focus
on innovation, and our disciplined M&A
strategy, overcoming a challenging
market environment

We saw strong organic growth from our
Asia and Rest of the World {ARW) segment
which helped to offset adverse currency
and raw matenal heagwinds in Europe and
North America (ENA} One of the Group’s
strengths 1s our geographic diversity and
product differentiation and thig was once
again clearly demonstrated in 2018

Undetlying profit belore lax mereased from
£130 Om to £135 1m, an increase of 3 9%
and IFRS profit before tax ncreased by

39 2% from £86 4m in 2017 to £120 3m in
2018 As well as taking nto account the
improvement In Underlying performance.
the increase n IFRS profits 1s manly the
result of the gains on disposal of land

in Malaysia (£16 4m) and a reduction in
amortisation of intangible assets (£14 6m)

Focus on investment for
future growth

Organic growth remains a key part of our
strategy and we continue to see significant
opportunibies to drnive improvement from
our existing businesses with the support of

our conservatively leveraged balance sheet,

In 2018 we made a record investment

In capital expenditure to strengthen our
platform for future growth This investment
programme introduced new capacity in
each of our business segments with further
capacity due to be commussioned in 2019
Our largest nvestment, the 90ktes plant
expansion at our Pasir Gudang (Malaysia)
Nitrife latex plant. was completed safely,
on tirme and on budget in Q4 2018 and 18
now producing state of the-art prociucts
to support this high growth market In
ENA our capital commitments to expand
our capabiies in Oulu (Finland) and
Sant’Albano (ltaly) are complete and came
onhne in Q3 and Q4 2018 increasing
capacity by 12ktes and Sktes respectively
There will be further new capacity instailed
1IN 2019 10 Functional Solutions as our two
major plant expansions, the 36ktes Worms
{Germany) and 12ktes Roebuck (North

Amenca), are due to be comnissioned in
Q2 2019, These investments have further
optimised cur dispersion polymer network,
providing large scale, low cost olants wath
incremental capacity to support growth of
our igher margin speciality products

Inorganic growth

remains core

Inorganic growth also remains a core
aspect of our strategy and the Group has
now completed three bolt on acqursitions
in the past three years BASF Pischelsdorf
In January 2018, adding to the acquisitions
of Speciality Additives and PAC which were
completed in 2017 and 2016 respectively
The Pischelsdorf site expands our SBR
assets and customer base, supports our
strategy to strengthen our paper packaging
coatings business and will provide further
options for our network optirmisation in the
SBR market. The site was successfully
integrated into the business in the first half
of 2018 With this acauisition complete
Synthomer has secured its market
leadershup position in 1ts core European
aqueous polymers segment, another
milestone for our business We

corbnue to actively evaluate appropniate
acquisthon opportunities

Governance and Board

We were in full compliance with the
2016 UK Corporate Governance Code
throughout 2018 other than In respect
of Board balance which was addressed
In September 2018 by the appointment
of Holly A Van Deursen, replacing Jinya
Chen who retired from the Board on

31 December 2017

Holly was appointed to the Board

as an independent non executive
drrector and brings a wealth of chemical
industry, global business and sigrihcant
boardroom experience

The Boara was pleased to endorse the
promotion of the Company's values and
culture through the taunch, towards the
end of the year, of a revised and updated
code of conduct As the main vehicle

for explaining and communicating our
standards for carrying on business,
pecple policies and corporate citizenship
respensibiities, it was issued to every
employee VWe also put in place an
externally hosted whistle-blowing hotline
accessible by telephone and online

10
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We have pohkcies and practices well in
hand to implement the 2018 Governance
Code and as part of this work Alex Catto
has been designated by the Board as the
lead non-executive director to undertake
workforce engagement. Alex, with his
longstanding connection with and deep
knowledge of the Group, was considered
the ideal non-exegutive director to lead
this process

European Commission
investigation

As announced on 8 June 2018. the
European Commission {the Comimission)
initrated an investigation into practices
relating to the purchase of stytene
monomer by companies, including
Synthomer, operating in the European
Economic Area The Company takes
competition laws very seriously

and wili continue 1o fully cooperate
with the Commission during s
ongoing Investigation

Sustainability

Synthomer manufactures speciaity
chemicals using large scale and
complex manufacturing processes that
consume hazardous raw matenals Qur
standards relating to safety, heaith and
the environment are high and mairtaiing
these 1s fundamental to the way we
operate our business We have clear
policies and procedures that underpin all
of our processes and we remain resolute
to our commitment to learn lessons from
our activities share best practices and
continually improve

Synthomaor recognises the significance
and importance of being a respensible
company We take responsibility for the
complete Iite cycle of our products and
the impact our operations have on people
and the environment We are committed
to approaching cur business N an ethical
and environmentally sound manner and
have been committed to the International
Council of Chemical Assaciations ({CCA)
Responsible Care project since the

early 1980's

Our commitment to quanhfying, improving
and communicatimg the sustanability of all
our actvities will be further strengthened

In 2019 as a result of the introduchon of
Globa! Reporting Inmative {GRI) Standards
With increased interest in sustamability, our
programme idlentfies key issues affecting
our stakeholders and communicates the
activibes being undertaken and sets key
performance targets for the Group

Ihe Group's risk management processes
include conssderation of the potential
impact of corporate responsibiity

1IssUes on Synthemer's performance

The Group's investment decisions take
Into eccount appropriate evaluations of
patential consequences for its employers,
customers suppiers and the environment
We are not complacent and reman
focused in our campaign for continucus
and sustanable improvement

Qur people

Qur people agenda has made further
progress N 2018 With mentonng, graduate
recruitment, leadership and feaming
development programmes established,
and a strengthening employee brand, we
have made good progress in all pillars

of our framework to create an open and
posttive work environment Our organic
and inorganic growth strategy means that
our employee numbers now stand at 2.900
across our 3¢ manufacturing sites and
offices Itis pleasing to see the adoption

of our values and culture which continues
to unify the way Synthomer does businass
and underping the success of the Group

The Group's employees continue to
deliver mprovemnerits in profitability and
manage change in a dynamic organisation
committed to long-term sustainable
growth. The success of the Group

refies much on the commitrmment and
professionahsm of all our employees and

| would like to thank all of them for therr
support in 2018

Dividend

The Board has recommended a final
ordinary cdividend of 9 3p (2017, 8 5p) per
sharg, a 7 1% increase Taken with the 2018
intenm ordinary dividend of 4 Op (2017

3 7p) per share, the total ordinary dividend
1$ 13 1p {2017 12 2p), representing an
ncrease of 7 4% 1n total dvidend 1in 2018
This s in ine with the Group's dividend
policy with the dividend representing 40%
of the Underlying earnings per share

The final divigend per share 1s subject

to shareholder approval at the Annual
General Meeting on 25 Apnil 2019 and

will be payable on 5 July 2018 to those
shareholders registered at the close of
business on 7 June 2018

Outlook

Looking forward, the Group’s leading
market posttions, Incremental iow cost
production capacity, geographic diversity
and product differentiation, ensure we are
well placed to navigate the current glcbal
political and economic uncertainties
Given this, we are confident of making
further progress m 2019 and the Board's
expectations remam unchanged

Neil Johnson
Chairman
4 March 2019

]
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Chief Executive Officer’s review

Delivering growth in speciality chemicals

Calum MaclLean
Chief Executive Officer

Strategic highlights

+ Fourth consecutive year of growth and
record Underlying profitability

+ Continued organic and inorganic
investment to strengthen platform
for future growth

+ Significant raw material price volatility
successfully managed

+ Record return on R&D investment —
21% of sales volumes from new
products launched in the past five years

+ New global business structure launched
on 1 January 2019 to further enhance
customer and product focus

+ Welil capitalised and conservatively
financed balance sheet to fund future
organic and inorganic growth (Net debt/
EBITDA: 1.2x)

Performance

Despite some challenging market
condittons In 2018 Synthomer has delivered
sohd growth in Undetiying profitabilty,
achieving our fourth congecutive year

of growth and another year of record
Underlying profits ARW delivered
especially strong growth in Underlying
profits helping to offset the impact of
currency and raw matenal volatility in

ENA Our strategy of driving organic

and inorganic growth, complementad

by the Group's gecgraphic diversity and
product differentiation, continues to deliver
sustainzble growth

Underlying profit before tax increased

by 3.9% from £130 Om to £135.1m

This reflected a 30.2% increase in

ARW Underlying cperating profits, up
Irom €35.1m 1o £45 qm This significant
Inurease reflecls strong organic growlh
with improving volumes and unit margins
as Nitrile latex growth remained strong
and market ublisaticn ncreased ENA
Underlying operating profits were lower,
gaing from £117 1m to £111.2m This was
principally due to the USD invorcing from
Europe which led to an unfavourable
transaction currency impact of £5 3m ENA
was alsc impacted by sharply falling raw
material prices in Q4 2018 which affected
customer buying behaviour and led to

a softer trading environment in the final
quarter of the year.

IFRS profit before tax increased by 39,2¢¢
from £86 4m 1n 2017 to £120 3m in 2018,
Alongside the improvement in Underlying
performance, the increase was mainly
the result of the gains on disposal of land
In Malaysia (£16 4m) and a reduction

In amortisation of intangible assets

(£14 6m), as ntangibles acquired with

the PolymerlLatex acquisition became
fully amortised

The operating cash flows ol the Group

of £124 9m (2017 £162 6m) were agan
strong and absorbed the investment in
working caprtal of £35.2m which was
dnven by the volatiity in raw matenal prices
and the knocck-on impact on customer
buying behaviour The cash performance
of the business over the year meant that
the Group s leverage at the year end was
12 times net debt EBITDA, wall within

our preferred range of 1 - 2 times Capital
spend increased to a record £75 7m, a Ittle

higher than guidance, and consistent with
our stated strategy to invest in our pnncpal
large scale, low cost sites We also invested
In our Inorganic growth strategy with the
acquisttion of the BASF Pischelsdorf SBR
busiess, the third bolt-on acquisition
under the current management team.

for £25 8m

Safety, health and
environment

Synthomer sets high standards in
relation to safety, health and environment
ISHE) actvities which are supported

by approprate levels of investment,
improvement nibatves and by nigarous
assurance under the supervision of the
Group SHE team OCur performance agamnst
those standards 1s reported at each
executive team and Board meeting.

In 2018, our recordable injury rate
increased modestly as a result of the fugher
levels of contractor actvity related to our
capacity expansion programme, but our
underlying trend continues to improve

Our recordable injury rate has improved

In excess of 80% for the three year perniod
2016-2018 compared to 2013-2015 This
15 underpinned by our SHE Principles and
10 Golden Rules and our relentless focus
on our Permit to Work and Management
of Change procedures To impraove
reporting, cross company learning and
the induction of newly acquired sites to
Synthomer standards, a new Global portal
was introduced so that sites, regions and
businesses can report performance on a
consistent and timely basis The portal has
alsc improved communications and the
ability to accelerate the implementation of
actions to improve the safe operation of
aur sites

Synthomer has introduced a programme
that focuses on higher risk activities and
has identified yaps which drive action in our
site SHE Improvement Plans, All snes have
now completed this process Qur Group
Process Safety key performance indicators
show continued Improverneant

Innovation

Innovation continues to be a core pillar

ol business growth allowing Synthomer
to secure iImproved market positions and
provide solutions to generate added value
for our customers, In 2018, the Group had
fifteen now praduct platiorm launches
across a broad base of ten application

Synthomer plc Annual Report 2018



areas. Our key performance indicator

for innavation 1s sales volumes of new
products launched in the past five years
which increased to 21%, ahead of ow
stated target of 20%, buillding cn our strong
performance in this area in 2017 and 2016.
We continue to focus on protecting our
propnetary intellectual property through
patents with eight filngs in 2018,

The Group has four Innovation centres
across its giobal network We have made
strong progress to further leverage and
extend our mrovation capabilities, helping
to accelerate the delivery of cur business
strategies In order to enhance our
nnovation activities, we have committed

to Invest In a state of the art Inncvaton
Centre 1IN Malaysia which will open in

2020 Over the past four years we have
progressively reduced the time to market for
new mnovations. The recently introduced
SyNovus® product, which includes patented
propnetary technolegy, was daveloped
from inception to commercialisation in 18
months The shortened innovation grocess,
representing a reduction of almost 50%

on previgus new product developments,

1S a testament to the dedication. skill and
expertise of our 1n-house R&D team and will
be further enhanced via the investment in
improved facilities

Our operational excelience teams have
also supported our Innovation success
Through the transfer of products and new
technolcglies across our network, we can
maore effectively introduce new products
utihse our capacily more efficiently and
deliver synergies from newly acaquired
assets. Each of our plants has developed
a 'value gap' to wentfy the monetary value
associated with best in class and best in
Group standards which provides the
action plan for cperational excellence

and financigl improverment

Strategy delivering
sustainable growth

Qur conservatively leveraged balance

sheet provides a strong foundation from
which to deliver our strategy of sustanable
growth In the speciality chemical sector,
Synthomer has a broad blue-chip

customer base with [ong-term established
relationships, producing speciality chemicals
charactensed by high barniers to entry

Our market leading postions, passion for
nnovation and global asset network provide
the basis for our organic growth strategy.

2018 has seen the largest organic growth
investment programime in the Group s
tistory This programme cormmenced

n 2017 and we spent U75 7 of capex

i 2018 across tre Group Our Project
Lxcellence approach has been introduced
Groupy wide and aims to ensure that all
projects are completed safely, on time ana
wathin buddget With global mega trends

of urbanisation, ageing demaographics, an
evobing middle class, mcreasing mabihty
and ever more stringant environmental
legstation, there 15 increasing demand
from the market for our specialty chemical

products which drives our plans for better
capacity utiisation. plant debottlenecking
and new capacity expansions,

Qur 80ktes Nitrile latex capacity
expansion at Pastr Gudang (Malaysia) was
successfully completed in Q4 2018 safely,
on time and on budget The capacity

will allow us to support the ongoing
expansion in this high growth market and
provide capacity for our SyNovus™ and
cther market leading products A further
investment to introduce an additional
60ktes at Pasir Gudang will be made
which we expect to come online in 2020
In addition 1o our Nitrile latex investment,
our 2018 capital programme expanded
capacity at our Speciality Polyester Powder
Coating facility in Sant'Albano, (ltaly)

andg our SBR facility in Culu (Finland) to
aliow the Group to support the growing
packaging and speciality paper markets.

In 2019, our organic capacity investment
programme will see additional new
capacity commissioned in

+ Dispersions 38ktes capacity of
made to-order speciality acryhc ines in
Worms {Germany) in mid-2019

+ Dispersions 12ktes ncrease In acryhc
capacity in Rosbuck {USA) scheduled o
be complete In mid-2019,

+ SBR latex' Enhancement to our Marl
{Germany) site to improve output levels to
take advantage of opportunities in the
foam market

Digciphne in capital allocation remaing a
key focus for the Group, with hurdle rates
for capttal expenditure growth projects
remaining unchanged at a payback of less
than five years or a 127 IRR Recogrnising
the very signiicant investment made in
organic growth capexn 2017 and 2018,
the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP}
performance criteria included Return

on invested Gapital (ROIC}Y for the first
time 1IN 2018, aligning management and
shareholder delivery expectations The
overall LTIP ROIC target has been set at
circa 20%., broadly aligned with the ROIC
delivered by the Group in 2018

In order to consider and mitigate

the potential impact of a hard Brexit,
Synthomer established a cross functional
qroup to focus on supply chan, regulation,
trade compliance and human resources
We continue to belreve that our ability to do
brsiness will not ve siyniicantly affected
but have plans in place 1o manage. as

far as possitile. our ability 1o service

our customers and take any mitigating
actions necessary

Delivering M&A growth
Inorganie growth through acquisitions
ramains a key pronty for the Group and

a core tacet of Gur growth strategy The
speciality chemicals M&A market remaned
buayant m 2018 with a number of bolt on
and transtormational deals, many at

elevated valuation mulhples We evdluated
a nurnber of opportuntties but continued
to exercise rigerous discipling on the type,
guality and valuation of targets

We completed one bolt-on acguistion in
2018 being BASF Pischelsdort tAustria) This
has been successfully integrated into our
SBR network and positions us as the market
leader in European aquecus polymers

The integration of PAC (Dispersions)

1s stbstantially complete with the final

two major actions, the sale of the Leuna
{Germany) site completed In the yaar and
the restructuring of Ribecourt (France) site
underway, We have successfully dehvered
run rate synergies of $12m by the end of
2018 and confirmed that additional run rate
synergies of $2m will be delivered in 2019

Synthomer continues to assess acquisition
cpportunities, but we will be disciphned i
our approach The Group 1s well posittoned
to make both bolt-on and transfermational
acquisitions with a conservatively leveraged
balance sheet and the Board's support

to drive further shareholder value through
inorganic growth,

New global organisational
structure

As announced during Novernber 2018,
In order to better serve our customers,
provide a global product offering and
drive cperatonal etticiencies the Group
structure has been reorganised with
effect from 1 January 2018. Three new
business groups have been created
Performance Elastomers (Styrene
Butadiene Rubber and Nitrile Butadiene
Latex). Functonal Selutions {Dispersions)
and Industnal Speciahties

The new structure wilt enable Synthomer
to leverage its global product portfolio,
expanding the reach of its R&D capabilities
and brning greater operational focus to our
global markets Similarly the new structure
combines sales, marketing. research and
production into dedicated global business
teams, whilst retaining very strong regional
strength and local focus

Outlook

Locking forward, the Group’s leading
market positions, incremental low cost
production capactty, geographic diversity
and product diffgrentiation, ensure we are
well placed to navigate the current global
political and economic uncertainties
Give this we ate conhident ol making
further progress in 2019 and the Board s
expectations remain unchanged

Calum MaclLean
Chief Executive Officer
4 Maich 2019
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Segmental review

Europe and North
America (ENA)

3 7

Highlights

+ Market leading position in aqueous
polymers in Europe

+ Volume growth driven by the acquisition of
BASF Pischelsdorf (Austria)

+ Unit margins stable recognising
transactional impact of weak USD and
significant raw material price volatility

+ BASF Pischelsdorf successfully integrated

+ Commissiomng complete of expansions in
Sant’Albano (ltaly) and Oulu (Finland)

+ Delivery of annualised $12m synergies
from PAC Acquisition

Revenue % of Group

Underlying operating profit % of Group

L
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Underlying performance S
Increase/{decrease)
777&18 2017 7&@99@077}6 canstant currency
volumes {Ktes) 1,115.2 1,067 7 44 3
Revenue (£m) 1,228.4 1,134.8 82 71 %
EBITDA (£m) 135.8 140.9 13 B) 4 5) §
Operating profit - Underlying performance (€m) 111.2 1171 15 0} 58)
Cperating profit — IFRS {£my) 9.8 775 18.5
Constant currency reveriie znd profit ' ese redect curent yedr resuli= for ex shing busiress lranslated at the prior year = average exc hange rates and include thie
imprar* of acquisitions
o
w«
©
N
Robust results in challenging  abilty to manage changing raw matenal The capital expenditure included e
market conditions pnces and the benefits of our geographic 635
diversity and product differentiation + 12ktes styrene acryhc expansion at Gulu £
{Finland), expanding the sitg's capabiiity T
Europe and North America (ENA] delivered o £ ya business spends approximately to supply the growing packaging and E
arobust performance in a market £800m on procunng primary raw materials speciality paper markets The expansion 8
charactensed by volatile raw matenal for the sites and accordingly an effective, was commissionsd durnng Q3 2018, &
prices and a weaker USD, which adversely eficient and rehable supply 1s criieal in g
impacted European unit margins on driving the financial performance of the + bktes powder coating expansion at 3
products sold to customers in USD business In 2018 we secured additional Sant’Albano {italy) increasing site @
storage tanks to further optimise our supply capacity by more than 20% The
The acquisition of the BASE Pischelsdor cham, providing greater cphonality in raw expansion was commissioned dunng o
SBR business completed on 31 January materals supply and mitigating supply Q4 2018 "I:
2018 and was fully integrated into cur interruption risk such as the low Rhine nver -
European SBR businessn the first halt level seen in Q4 2018 + 36kteg acrylic dispersions expansion at —
of the year The acquisition underpins Worms (Germany), Increasing the site s p—
Synthomer’s market leading position in The ENA business continued to benefit capacity in excess of 30%, and Q
European agqueous polymers and also from the delivery of PAC related synergies, significantly enhancing its capability to E
provides grealer exposure Lo the growng helping to mitigate the costs of Incremental produce made to-order speciality 3
packaging paper market storage tanks and underlying inllationary acrylics, Commissiomng due (2 2019 E
pressures [The synergies in 2018 largely §
The acquisition of the BASF Pischelsdorf related to the sale of the Leuna site + 12ktes acrylic dispersions expansion at B
site contributed to he strong overall volume iGermany) and commenceament of the Roesbuck {USA) increasing the site §
gro:r/vth dunng the year with volumes Nsingw | chuning and simphiication of the capacity by in excess of 20% through the g
44% 10 1.115 2ktes Excluding the impact Ribecourt site {France) The programme at installation of a new acryhc reactor tran 3
of the acquisition. the business delivered Ribécourt will continue in 2019 and result in Commissioning due Q2 2019 ®
volume gr‘owth across rjnosfl markets In the the additional $2m of synergies announced 5
first h‘:” of the yeal icporting an incicase garlier In the year, bringing the total PAC The siggnific ant nvestiments made 1 ENA a
of 2 6% Haowever, the marked reduction synergies to $14m are focused in those markets where we areg «@
in petrochemical raw matenal prices in the capacity constramed and where we expect
hnal guarter ol the year exdcorbaled noumal onyinstanding the challenging market to see strong market growtn pre—
year end customer de stocking a(ihvmes canditions ENA teported robust results, Q
resufting n a fall in volumes of 1.3% over vaih Underbang operating prohit b 07 4
the full year lower at £111 2m (2017 £117.1m), and E
1 B35 operaling profil 18 5 higher 3
Weakness in the USD relative to the prion £O1 8m 2017 £775m) Fhe merease n 8
- . ) ) o -]
year. particularly evident n 51 2018, i R3S operating profit meonly <eflectard 3
resultedd in lower umt marging on products & reductions n intangible amortisation
sold from Europe in USD, causing a net 1214 7y and restructuring charges (€5 3m)
reduction in margin relative to the prior )
year of ££5.3m Lxcluding the impact of in addition to morganic growth generated
the weaker USD and the impact of the by Incremental earnnas from BASI =
BASF Pischelsdort acquisition averall unit Pischelsdorf and the further PAC synergies. Iy
margins were broaclly in ling with the prior LNA continued to iInvest In organic growth 3
year Unce again we demonstrated our capital expenditure durng 2018 N
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Segmental review continued

Asia and Rest of
the World (ARWV)

Highlights

+ Nitrile latex market growth in excess of
10% during 2018

+ Nitrile latex urut margins strengthened due
to improved supply/demand balance

+ Successful commissioning of 90ktes
Nitrile latex expansion at Pasir Gudang
Q4 2018, safely on time and on budget

+ Board approvai of £5m investment
in state-of-the-art innovation centre
in Malaysia

Revenue % of Group

Underlying operating profit % ot Group
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Underlying performance

T

wodes ojBejensg

45-041

Increase/idecrease)
2018 2017 o i&?e;glgd % congtant currency
Volumes (ktes) T o 402.4 Taer T N
Revenue {£m) 390.5 345.3 131 98
EBITDA (Em) 59.7 48.2 239 195
Operating profit — Undertying performance €m) 45.7 351 302 25 6
Operating profit - IFRS (£m) - 549 T ]

Con=tant currency resenue snd profic o+ esereflect current year resubs for ex sting busimess trarslated at the pror year © average exchange rates a~o include the

impact ot acquisitions

Good results driven by
continued strong growth
in Nitrile latex demand

Asia and Rest of the World (ARW) reported
a significant nse in Undetlying operating
profits driven by continued strong growth in
Nitrile latex demand

ARW volumes increased by 70% to

402 4ktes pnmarily as a result of record
Nitrile latex volurnes, partly reflecting the
benefit from the newly commissioned Pasir
Gudang (Malaysia) capacity brought on Iine
n Q4 2018 and partly reflecting the weaker
H1 2017 comparative, which was adversely
impacted by raw matenal price volatility

The S0ktes capacity expansion of our Pasir
Gudang asset brings our total Nitrnle latex
capacity to approximately 350ktes and
underpins our pesition as a market leading
producer and innovator of Nitrile latex We
are committed to our customers and therr
ncreasing Nitrile latex demands in a market
that continues to report sigrificant growth
and we have taken a range of actions

to strengthen our long-term contractual
relationships with our custcmers

Ihis capacity expansion, the largest single
capital mvestment undertaken by the
Group at £45m, was completed on time
and on budget | rom a safety perspective,
this project represented 1 4 milhan safe
hetns worked, The new fac ity wa- offially
opened by The Brntish High Commussioner,
Mrs Vickn Tredell CMG MVO with the

Group Board and over 100 key industy
leaders In attendance in September 2018
We hove confinned that we will inlrodug e

a further 60ktes as the next stage of the
Pasir Gudang expansian Work has begun
on this expansion bulding on pre prepiared

infrastructure and civit enginesring and i1s
expected to complete in 2020

ARW unit margins also improved year

on year. teflecting the strong market
demand for Nitrile fatex and tightening

of the supply/demand balance This
improvement was also due to sales of the
newly launched higher margin Nitrife latex
SyNovus®” product As with ENA, ARW
was successful in managing the impact
on margins from the volatile raw materal
prices, which were largely absorbed

by the market Similarly, ARW was also
adversely impacted compared to prior
year by the weaker USD relative to the
Malaysian Ringgrt, with Nitrile iatex pricing
denominated in USD The weaker USD
resulted in a reduchon in margin of £4 8m

Operating costs have increased in the year
reflecting the expansion n capacry which
resulted in tuigher production costs and
deprectation charges combined with higher
bonus costs it a successtul financal year

With strong overall volume and unit margin
growth ARW reported strong resufts
Underlying operating profit was 30 24
higher at £45 7rm (2017 £35 1m). and

IF RS operating profit was 76 0% higher at
54 8m (2017 £31 2m) with the marked rise
in Ik BS operating profit manly reflecting the
improvernent in Lndearhsng operating probl
10 6my and the profit on <ale of the inal
tranche of Malaysian tand (516 4m)

Gur commitment to research and
development has been underpinned by
Board approval for the construction of

a new £bm state of the art mnovation
centre in Malaysia which will be completed
In 2020 ths Hagstap tacility will prosade
leadership in research and development

and will ensure we stay at the forefront

of product development It will create the
right environment to allow us to attract and
retain the best talent and allow creative and
technical skills to be developed

SyNovus®, cur ground breaking patented
new preduct launched in September
2017, was well received by our customers
Qur customers have been working with
us to mtegrate this product intc therr
processes and several customers are
nearing full commerciatisation SyNovus™
IS Synthemer s response to the demands
of end users and glove manufacturers

for a product with sigrificantly reduced
maturation time, supenor tensile strength
properbes, ugher levels of durabity and
improved chemical resistance SyNovus®
dehvers a superior end-product for our
custormets while mmproving the efficiency of
thair cperations,

As we expand capacity in Nitrile |atex. we
have taken the opportunity to assess the
viability of several non-core product ines

In October 2018 we announced that we
werg ceasing producton of natural rubber
and polyester resins on our site in Kluang.
Malaysia Some of the assets of these
businesses were sold and our intention 1s

to redeptoy the workers to other produchion
Iines on the Kluang site In 2019 we will
transtorm the Kiuang site with the removal of
the discontinued production ines to provide
space for future expansicn projects

Synthomer ple Annuad FBepoirt 2018
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Strategy at a glance

Delivering against our strategic targets

Strategic priority

1. Research and
development and
technical expertise to
exploit new markets

We anticipate market trends and customer
requirements to deliver improved products with
improved margin and product differentiation.

2. Driving efficiency
and excellence
through operations

We operate continuous improvement across
our operations to improve production etficiency,
sales effectiveness and functicnal excellence.
We seek to identify good practice in all areas of
our business and ensure that relevant learnings
are disseminated throughout the business.

3. Capacity utilisation

Qur aim is to drive profitability through
maximum utilisation of our assets. This involves
identifying the root causes of production
bottienecks and finding innovative solutions,

4. Investment
in capacity

We seek to add capacity in growth markets
where investment opportunities meet our
stringent capital management policies.

5. Business growth
through acquisitions

We actively seek opportunistic bolt-

on acquisiticns in similar chemistries or
transformational step change transactions
not limited by geography or chemistry.

2018 achievements

+ Sales volumes of new products launched in the past five
years was at 21.0% - a record performance for Synthomer.

+ Introduction of fifteen new product platforms across
ten appiication areas.

+ Market approval and commercialisation of patented
SyNovus™ next generation Nitrile iatex product.

+ Board approval to invest in new state-of-the-art
innovation centre in Asia.

+ Utillised value gap analysis to embed operational
excellence tools and drive improved performance and
site restructuring opportunities.

+ Portal introduced to standardise global SHE reporting
and accelerate learning and action delivery.

+ Completed the roll cut of our global customer
relationship management system across the business
to trace new product leads, capitalise on customers’
needs and enhance cross selling opportunities.

+ Strong progress of strategic procurement initiatives,
securing additional tankage to enhance our supply
chain resilience, mitigate risk and further leverage
procurement of raw materials.

+ Completed debottienecking of our site in Marl
{Germany) to increase production of foam latex.

+ Completed disposal of Leuna (Germany) site and
commenced restructuring of Ribécourt (France), Kluang
{Malaysia) and Sokolov (Czech Republic) sites as part of
the development of the manufacturing network.

+ 90ktes Nitrile latex capactty at Pasir Gudang (Malaysia)
safely on time and oh budget in Q4 2018.

+ Completed capacity and capability expansions at SBR
plants in Marl (Germany) and QOulu {Finland), and powder
coatings in Sant'Albano (ltaly).

+ We completed the acquisition of BASF Pischelsdorf
(Austria} on 31 January 2018 with one strategically
positioned plant, and improved penetration of the
growing packaging paper market.

+ Delivered PAC (Dispersions) synergies run rate savings
of $12m by end of 2018 with commitment to further
$2m of run rate savings by end of 2019.

18
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Key performance indicators

21%

Sales volumes from new
products launched in the
past five years

£181.0m

Underlying EBITDA

£135.1m

Underlying PBT

£181.0m

Underiying EBITDA

32.8p

Underlying EPS

£181.0m

Underlying EBITDA

32.8p

Underlying £EPS

£181.0m

Underlying EBITDA

32.8p

Underlying EPS

Read more on pages 30-31

3.52

Energy consumgtion
(GJ/tonne)

0.23

Recordable acaident
frequency rate

£135.1m

Underlying PET

1,517.6

Volume {Wet kies)

£135.1m

Underlying PBT

1,517.6

Volume (Wet ktes)

£135.1m

Underlying PBT

Risk

+ Protection of IP

+ Competition and fallure
to innovate

+ Volatility n chemicals
and polymers market

+ Volatilty in chermicals
and polymers market

+ SHE

+ Loss or falure ot a
Synthomer site

+ Ethics
+ Financial risks

+ Brexit

+ Competition and fallure
to innovate

+ Volatitty in chemicais
and polymers market

+ Loss orfailure of a
Synthomer site

+ Brexit

+ Manufacturing capacity
expansion projects

+ Volatiity m chemicats and
polymers market

+ Brexit

+ Availabilty of suitable
opportunties

+ Faillure of acquisition
to deliver benefits

+ Valuation and financial
market volatility

+ Brexit

Read more on pages 32-37

2019 priorities

+ Commence investment in
state-of-the-art Asian
innovation centre for
2020 completion.

+ Further market penetration
of SyNovus and new
product launches.

+ Accelerate product transfer
activities to support new
global business structure
growth strategies.

+ Continued use of our
Manufacturing Excellence
process to drive
improved performance.

+ Roil out new tools in
commercial, supply chain,
HR and Procurement to
further improve efficiency
and effectiveness.

+ Under new business
structure drive sharing of
best practice globally.

+ Use value gap methodology to
identity and unlock ‘hidden
capacity’ in our assets.

+ Progress site restructure
plans and new opporiunities
to optimise manufacturing
network and extract value.

+ Complete capacity expansion
of Functional Solutions 36ktos
spociality acrytic dispersions
facliity in Worms [(Germany).

+ Complete capacity expansion
of Functional Solutions
12ktes speciality acrylic
dispersions facility in
Roebuck {(USA).

+ We remain highly active in
identifying, targeting and
reviewing opportunities,
both in relation to bolt-on
acquisitions and
transformational step
change transactions in
adjacent chemistries.

+ Drive synergles.

:
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Maximising
opportunities
for growth

From 1 January 2019, Synthomer has
changed its structure from two regional
husinesses (ENA - Europe and North
America and ARW - Asia and Rest of
the World) to three global businesses

- Performance Elastomers, Functional
Solutions and Industrial Specialities.

Performance Elastomers 1s focused on
healthcare, carpet and paper markets
through our Nitrile butadiene rubber latex
{NBR} and Styrene butadiene rubber latex
{SBR) products Functional Soluhons

1s focused on ceatings, construction,
adnesives and technical textiles markets
through our acrylic and vinylic based
digpersions Industrial Specialities 1s
focused an our speciality chemical
additives and non agueous based
chemistry for a broad range of
applications from polymer addrives

1o @merging matenals and technologres.

Our former regronal structure served

us well but with our customer base
increasingly global and the development
of technology accelerating market
opportunities, our new structure wil
provide closer proximity to our customers
and their global requirements, accelerate
our sales growth, sharpen our commercial
focus and drnive operational cfficiencies,
The new structure will enable Synthomer
to better leverage its global product
portfolic and customer refationships,
petter exploit its R&D capabiity within
chemistries, and bring greater operational
focus 10 production sites,

Sales, marketing, research and
development and production will be
focused by business group into dedicated
global teams whilst retaining very strong
regional strength and local focus

Read more about our Business Model and
Strategy on page 28

Our new global business structure

Performance Elastomers

Market position
No 2 preducer globally in Nitrile
butadiene rubber latex

No 1t producer n European
Styrene butadiene rubber latex
No 1 producer glebally of high
solids styrene butadiene rubber

Principal markets
served

Medical gloves, medical devices
and healthcare markets

Coated board, speciality
and graphic papers and
packaging. mattresses,

pillows and footwear

Compounds for residential,
ndustrial, automotive, carpets
and artificial turf,

Profile

Twelve manufacturing plants
located In Malaysia, ltaly.
Germany, Finland, Austna,

the Netherlands and Egypt
producing In excess of 850ktes
per annum

Performance Elastomers 1s
focused on markets where
scale s important and
manutacturing operations
differentiated by the abiity
to handle high hazard raw
matenals and complex
processes Assets utilise
advanced proprietary
technology and

innovation chemistry

Revenues {2018)

C704.5m

Customers

The world's leading medchcal
giove and healthcare
producers Global and
regional paper, packaging

and board companies, ang
leading bedding and footwear
moducers Carpet and artitcial
turf producers

Outlook

High growth in end user
demand for Nitriie latex gloves,
supported by Investment in
capacity expansion and next
generatton patented new
product development Foam.
carpets and compounds
growing, graphic paper
dechning, partly offset by
speciality paper and packagng

Priorities for 2019
Drive organisational synergies
through efficiency and
effectivengss in the new giobal
business orgamsation,

Finahse planning for the next
phase of Ninle latex expansion
following the successful
completicn of the 90ktes
expansion in Pasir Gudang

n 2018,

Market penetration of
SyNovus™ and delivenng plans
for Asian innovation centre

Ingrease the focus on the
development of new business
oppoertunities for our chemistry
and M&A opportunities

Progress transformation
programme at Kluang
{Malaysia).
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2 Functional Solutions

Market position

1op five global aqueous
polymer proeducer, with
leadershup positions in
dispersions In Europe, Middie
Fast and Asia

Principal markets
served

Canstruction, coatings,
adhesives, technical textiles
and oilffield

Profile

Fourteen manufactunng plants
located in Germany, UK, Spain,
ltaly, France, Czech Republic.
Saudi Arabia, Malaysia,
Vietnam, Thailland. and the USA
producing in excess of 500kies
per annum

Functional Solutions 1s
tocused on speciality markets
with mid-scale complex
manufactunng operations to
supply differentiated water
based dispersions to localised
markets Manufacturning assets
utiise advanced proprigtary
technology and mnovative
chemistry, Research and
developmaent, technical
service and deep application
knowledgs are key to growth

Revenues (2018)

£680.1m

Customers

The world's leading coating,
construction, agheswes,
technical textiles and oifheld
companies, Speciahst
praducers of cement modifiers,
primers, fiooring adhesives,
speciahst tapes, fleuble

roof coatings, emulsion and
specialist paints and coatings
and oiffieid chemicals

Outlook

Markets arg seaing good
growth as environmental
regulations move to watar
based products.

Priorities for 2019
Diive etficiency and
effectiveness In new

global organisation and
operationai network

Utilise innovation pipeline to
strengthen differentiation of
product range

Use European market
leadership position to drive
global and regional growth
through accelerated transfer of
products and apphications

Successiul completion of
captal investment programme
in Worms {Germany) and
Rosbuck (USA)

Progress transformation
programmes at Ribécourt
(France) and Sokolov
{Crech Republic)

Industrial Specialities

Market position
Leading positions in selected
niche specalty chermcal
markets globally

Principal markets
served
Speciahst markets including

PVC manufacture, construction,

cataiyst, autcmotive and
polymer manufacture

Profile

Six manufacturing plants
lccated In UK Italy, Czech
Republic and Belgium
producing in excess of 130ktes

Industrial Specialities has

a range of manufacturing
operations focused mainly on
specialist niche manufactuning
IN non-water-based speciality
chemical manufacture.

Revenues (2018)

£234.3m

Customers

Leading global PVC and
polyester polyrmer producers
Manufacturers of specialist
sealant and adhesives
producers. Specialist powder
coating manufacturers Gas
processing companes.

Outlook
Positive gutlock due to broad
base of specialist applcations,

Priorities for 2019
Drive efficiency and rehability
across the operational network,

Utihse innovation pipaine 1o
strengthen differentiation of
product rangse.

Market penetration following
capacity expansion of ltalan
Powder Coatings and PVOH
assets in 2018

Progress transformation
programme at Sokolov
(Czech Republic)

T
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Our new global business structure
continued

Performance
Hastomers

Qverview

+ The Performance Elastomers diwvsion
represents 44% of Synthomer's
2018 revenue.

+ Focuses en healthcare, paper, carpet and
foam markets.

+ The division has as its core Nitrile Butadiene
Rubber latex ‘NBR’ and Styrene Butadiens
Rubber latex ‘SBR’ including high
solid vanants.

+ The dmision produces over 850ktes from its
twelve plants operating in Europe, Middle
East and South East Asia.

Derick Whyte
President,
Perfermance
Elastormers

Performance Elastomers division combines
Synthomer's market leadership position n NBR,
where we are the second largest producer
globally, SBR where we are the market leader

in Europe and high solids SBR where we

are the global lzader The division operates
globally utiising some of Synthomer's largest
production faciities

Performance tlastomers serves a diverse
market and customer base NBR is focused on
the heatthcare market, which s characterised
by increasing levels of demand for Nrtrile latex
gloves supported by capacity expansion and
significant nnovation These markets are driven
by the global mega trends of Increasing hygiene
standards and emerging market population
growth SBR, which serves the paper coating.
carpet backing and foam markets, faces a
long-term shift away from the use of graphic
coated paper to digtal media This 18 balanced
by growth In packaging consumphon dnven

by on Ine purchasing The carpet and foam
markets cover a range of differentiated
applcations in floonng. bedding and foctwear.
Product innovation remains core, particularly in
NBR, where new products have continued to
support glove market demand for lower glove
weights and accelerator free matenals

Strateglc priority 1:

With a new global organisation comprising
12 plants and 1,000 people to optimise and
drive efficiencies in the organisational and
operational model.

Strategic priority 2:

To commerclalise the 90ktes Nitrile latex
Investment In Pasir Gudang {Malaysla),
finalise plans for the next phase of
capacity eaxpansion scheduled for 2020
and progress the commercialisation

of SyNovus®.

Strategic priority 3:

To optimise the innovation process
across the division to deliver efficiency
and effectiveness and complete the Asia
Innovation centre investment scheduled
for early 2020.

22

Synthomer plc Annuat Report 2018



Why innovation matters

Innovation 1: Speed to

market is key to driving
competitive advantage

Over the past four years the Asian nnovation
team has reduced the time to market for
new product introduction with our fatest
generation patented NBR technology
baing Introduced in half the tme compared
to previous generations The new Asian
innovation centre to be opened in 2020

will delwer state-of-the-art faciities to drive
further efficiency and effectiveness in our
R&D actvihies

Innovation 2: Efficiency and
excellence through operations

In our Marl {Germany) high sohd SBR faciity,
a cross functional team of Synthomer experts
focused on the 'value gap' dentified to
deliver an intal 15% capacity debottleneck
and expansion of speciahty high sohds

SBR products to meet growing customer
demand The delivery of additonal capacity
of differentiated products to serve the high
growth bedding and footwear markets
globally was the first step 0 a phased
debottleneck and expansion of our faciites

Innovation 3: Patented new
product development

Innovation has been at the core of the NBR
expansion strategy in recent years with
suscesstui launches of our third and fourth
generation glove dipping latex. SyNovus”,
s the latest product launch from the NBR
team and 1s a patented product offering
the benefit of an acceleralor free product.
which reduces the r1sk of allergic reactions
for glove users, and the additional benefit
of lower operating cests through improved
efficiencies and greater sustamability

for the glove producer The product has
undergone successful plant trials and
approvals with further commercialisation
growth anticipated in 2019.

T
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Our new global business structure
continued

Functional
Solutions

Overview

+ The Functional Solution division represents
42% of Synthomer’s revenus.

+ Focuses on the Coatings, Construction,
Adhesives, Textile and Oilfield markets.

+ The dwsion has at its core aqueous acrylic
and vinyhc polymer dispersions which are
used as speciality binders in the formulation
of environmentally compliant matenals.

+ The division produces over 500ktes from its
fourteen plants operating in Europe, Middle
East, Asia and LJSA.

Rob Tupker
President,
Functional
Solutions

Functional Solutions 1s Synthomer’s top five
globat agueous polymer business with
leadership positions In dispersions in Europe,
Widdle East and Asia. The division 1s ideally
placed to grow across all geographies both
organically and inorganically to mest the
expanding regulatory driven market for solvent
free differentiated applications Usmng
propnetary technotogy and innovative
chemistry, Functicnal Sclutions 1s focused on
specialist markets with assets strategically
positioned to serve localised markets,

As a global business. Functional Solutions 1s
ideally positioned to better leverage its global
product portfalias and customer relationships,
explot its R&D capabiities and drive operational
efficiencies further developing its global network
With Functional Solutions markets continuing to
grow In excess of GDP, and new capacity being
introduced in 2019, the division looks forward to
further sustainable growth.

Strategic priority 1:

Drive growth globally and reglonally by utilising
its market ieadership positions in Europe, Middle
East and Asia through more focused sharing

of technology, applications and products.

Strategic priority 2:

Focus on specialisation and delivery of the
innovation pipeline, To focus on accelerated
development of differentiated product platforms
of key segments via global product strategies.

Strategic priority 3:

Optimise the network and cost competitiveness.

To complete the strategic capacity investment
programme in Worms {Germany]} and Roebuck (USA}
and restructuring programme In Ribécourt (France)
and drive further operational efficiencies.

Synthomer plc Annual Report 2018



Why innovation matters

Innovation 1: Patented new
product development

Synthomer aqueous potymer dispersions
are widely used in the adhesives markets
globally. In the USA our patentad High
Shear Adhesion Falure Temperature (SAFT)
technology has been developed to allow
solvent based technology to be replaced
by more environmentally sustainable
water-based products in speciality

tape and label applications. Regionally
developed technology with access to a
global manufacturing network, application
testing and technical sales force allows
accelerated product development and
commercialisation and enabling customer,
environmental and consumer benefits to be
delivered quickly.

Innovation 2: Collaborative
business development

The battery market 1s being driven by

the growth of electric vehicles with an
underlying growth rate of 15% per annum.
leading to forecasts of 25% of all vehicles
being electric by 2040, Synthomer has
developed a technology platform and is
working with an industry wide consortium
to accelerate the developrment of its current
and next generaton binders for high
performance anode and cathode matenals.

Innovation 3: Market focused

new product development
Synthomer 1s expanding its product range
n technical textiles to introduce state-
of-the-art binders for glass fibre mesh
coatings to improve the performance of
products in the construction industry.
This expanded product range meets

the market need for significantly faster
curing combined with excellent alkal
resistance and a formaldehyde free
cross-linking system. The product future
proofs our customer requirsments through
compliance with the latest international
regulations and increasingly challenging
environmental demands in the industry.

T
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Qur new global business structure
continued

Industrial
Specialities

Overview

+ The Industral Specialities division
represents 14% of Synthomer's revenue and
holds leading positions in selected speciality
chemical markets globally.

+ The division focuses on specialist market
posions in non-agqueous polymer chemistry
to serve the PVC, construction, automotive,
catalyst and polymer manufacturing sectors
producing a range of performance additives
and acrylic ester monomers for supply inta
polymer manufacturers.

+ The division produces over 130ktes from its
six European manufacturing plants which
serve markets globally.

Nell whitley
President,
Industrial
Speacialities

Industnal Specialities 1s Synthomer’s platform
for high value specialist performance additives
and acrylate monomers, which hold some
leading posttions in selected niche markets
globally Our European assets support our
aqueous polymer segmental focus allowing
Synthomer to offer a more comprehensive
range of products to our coatings,
construchon, automotive and polymer additive
segments and affow us to expand our foot
printinto wider speciality chermical markets
The division serves leading global PVC and
polymer producers specialist sealant and
adhesive manufacturers, powder coating and
gas processing producers The division offers
a platform for both Inorganic and orgamc
growlth In speciality chemicals for Synthomer
with iInnovation core to its strategy

Strategic priority 1:
Drive efficiency and excellence through
operations. To utilise operational excellence

and our business focused ‘value gap’ analysis

to debottieneck capacity, drive rellability,
complete site transformation programmes
to deliver growth in profitability.

Strategic priority 2:

To optimise our innovation processes

to accelerats new product development
and further strengthen the differentiation
of our product range.

Strategic priority 3:

Focus on growth opportunities in speciality
chemicals markets to extend the footprint
of the Industrial Speclalities division.

Synthomer plc Annual Repart 2018



Why innovation matters

Innovation 1: Market focused new
product development

Synthomer’s Lithene iqud polybutadiene
products offer excellent compatibility with
rubber substrates, allowing modifications
to be made to polymers to meet the
increasingly demanding performance
properties of advanced materials. In both
peroxide and sulphur cure systems, new
Lithene grades demonstrate significant
tensile, heat age and mixing time
improvements to allow customers’ needs
to be met in the automotive and specialist
industrial markets.

Innovation 2: Accessing high
growth markets

Synthomer continues to invest in the
developmant of advanced matenals to
access their high growth potential, In
absorbents, Synthomer has launched its
Duraguard range of high capacity granular
finished absorbants offering unnvailed
durability to natural gas processing
aoperators. In other advanced materials,
graphene 1s an exciting and nnovative new
material which has the potential to open
new markets and even replace existing
technologies. Synthomer has developed
exceptionally high-guality graphene
products avallable under the Gograpghene
range, which can be accessed via a newly
introduced innovative marketing channel to
service both the development and industrial
scale customer. With applications under
development from superior performance
tyres to footwear, our high punty products
offer excellent opportunities for growth

Innovation 3: Global network drives
faster innovation

Synthiemer nnovation is delivered through

a global network with our four nnovation
centres in Asia, Europe and North America.
QOur R&D teams are embedded within

the businesses to allow close access to
customers and to ensure that we provide
solutions that deliver value where it matters.
In our Speciality Additive business, which

we acquired from Perstorp in 2017, we have
a new focused team in place to utiise the
strength of the Synthomer network. This
allows us to develop coating and polyester
additives and associated applications
required to deliver differentiated matenals and
access to higher rates of growth globally

T
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Business model

Creating and sustaining value

through innovative solutions

Our strategy

Qur strategy 1s to create shareholder value
by creating a global speciality chemical
business focused on providing customers
with innovative and high performance
solutions that enable them to efficiently
produce ther own high gualty products

Our strategy 1s composed of five
key elements:

1. Research and development
and technical expertise to
exploit new markets

We anticipate market trends and
customer requirements to deliver
improved products with improved
margn and product differentiation

2. Driving efficlency and
axcellence through operations

We operate continuous improvement
across our operations to iImprove
production cfficiency, sales cffoctiveness
and functional excellence We seek to
dentity good practice in all areas of cur
business and ensure that relevant learnings
are disseminated throughout the business

3. Capacity utilisation

Our aim 12 to drve profiability through
maximum utiisation of cur assets

This involves identifying the reot causes
of production bottienecks and finding
mnnovative solutions to ebminate them.

4. Investment in capacity

We seek to add capacity in growth markets
where Investment opportunities meet our
capital management policies.

8. Business growth

through acquisition

We actively seek opporturistic bolt on
acquisitions in similar chemistries or
transformational step change transactions
not imited by geography or chermistry

Synthomer s a speciality chemical
company which uses its technical service
expertise and R&D capability to understand
and anticipate customer needs to drive
competitive advantage.

We produce chermical formulations

for thousands of customers in a range

of industnes, from constructon and
coatings to healthcare and autocmotive
Qur strategic procurement specialists
acquire the upstream raw materials used
In our complex production processes
which involves controlling the pressure,
temperature and duration of mixing
reactions In ordet to create specific
formulations Qur highly skilled and
experienced operations t€ams, supported
by R&D, delver cost effective and flexible
operational capabilities te maximigse output
and qualty.

Our production sites are local to our
customers to better understand their needs
and reduce the cost of logistics and our
ervironmental impact We have leading
market posmions N BEurope and South East
Agia, which continue to be underpinned by our
drive for environmentally friendly technology
and exposure to global mega-trends

Effective nsk management s the key
method we deploy to ensure our strategy 15
delivered and sustainable value created

28
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Our sustainabie value chain

1. Research and
development
Under central
leadership, our
four research

and development
‘centres of
excelience’ work
to both develop
products that meet
our customers’
needs and to
improve the
efficiency of therr
manufacture.

3. Sourcing

raw materials
We work closely
with our suppliers to
obtain competitive
prices, correct
specification and

to Improve supply
chain resilience.

2. Consumers
We monitor mega-
trends and market
developments

to ensure our
formulations meet
the reguirements
not only of our
customers but also
the end users of
their products.

8. Production
Experenced
cperations teams
continue to optimise
the production
process to be most
efficient by using
complex producticn
tachnigues

and removing
bottlenecks.

3. Technical
services

Our technical
sarvice teams work
with our customers
1o ensure we
pravide the right
formulation for their
needs.

7. Quailty
control

Our quality control
procedures and
laboratones
ensure that we
manufacture ang
store finished
products in a
manner that
assures quality.

4. Formulations
QOur formulations
are designed for
use in customer
specific products.

8. Logistics
Our specialist
logistics teams
WOrk on ensuring
safe and timely
deliveries of
excellent products
In more than

140 countnes.

Our value chain
beneficiaries

Customers

Our customers expect us to provide
them with innovative. high guality,
competitive products We seek (o
work in partnerships with customers,
using our skilled R&D and technical
services teams, to develop products
that support their goals

Employees

Our employees are a critical part of
our success Employees contribute to
all aspects of our value chain and all
etnployees beneht from the success
of our business, We are committed

to providing a safe and rewarding
environment in which to work

Communities

We ook to be a valued part of
communities in which we operate,
providing highly skilled employment
opportunities, being aware of

how our plans may impact on a
community and demonstrating

that we respect the community
and its environment

Suppliers

Cur suppliers are an important part
of our business and we look to work
closely with them using the skills

of our strategic sourcing teams to
ensue we get the nght specification
ot products for our needs at
competitive prices

Shareholders

Qur shareholders, as the owners

of our business, should sege the
benehts of our focus on long-tenm
sustanable growth, regulatory
compliance and strong governance

Governments

We see local safety and emvironiment
leqislative comphance as the
minimum level at which we should
operate and strive for higher
standards We look 10 ensure that
we follow the letter and spinit of

tax regulations within each of the
junsdictions in which we operate and
contnbute farly to publc polcy goals

]
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Key performance indicators
Measuring our progress
Strategic
Key performance indicator focus KPI definition
Volume Volume of our products sold in thousands
{Wet ktes) 3 4 5 of tonnes (ktes). The volume Is based on
wet volumes - 1e. the volumes including
water content
Underlying Underlying operating profit before
EBITDA 1 2 3 depreciation, amortisation and
{£m) 4 5 Special ltems
Underlying Underlying profit before tax compnsing
profit 1 2 3 IFRS profit before tax excluding
before tax Special ltems
(€m] 4 5
Underlying Basic Underlytng earnings per share
earnings 3 4 5 before Special Items
per share
{pence}
Sales volume Percentage of sales volume In the year
from new 1 that can be attributed to new products
products launched in the past five years
(%)
Recordable Recordable injury rate for accidents
accident 2 involving more than first aid treatment,
frequency expressed as accidents per 100,000
rate hours worked by employees and
all contractors
Energy Energy (GJ) (including gas, electricity,
consumption 2 steam and fuel oil} used at each of our
per tonne plants divided by the number of tonnes
{GJ/Tonne) of procuct made. The energy excludes
transport of goods to and from site and
the movement of the associated vehicles
on site, but Internal transport on site
1s Included
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Comment Link to strategy
+ Underlying growth supported by the acquisition of BASF Pischelsdorf R&D and technical =
. . - A a
(A_ustna) and capa::nty expansion in Pasir Gudang (Malaysia), Oulu 1 expertise to b
{Finland) and Sant’Albano (italy). explolt new markets ~
2 Driving efficiency
, - " and excellence e
+ Record year for Underlying EBITDA benefitting from the acquisitions, through operations
performance improvements and foreign currency translation gains. 3
=]
+ Innovation, capacity expansion and cost control critical to 3 Capacity utilisation 8
continuing improvement.
+ Sustainable growth underpinned by erganic and inorganic growth more N
than compensating for the transactional impact of the weaker USD and 4 Investment in capacity
weaker Q4 due to falling raw material prices and buying behaviour.
+ Record year for Underlying profit before tax benefitting from the 5 Business growt_h
L. g through acquisition o
acquisibons, performance improvements and foreign currency g
translation gains. s oot R
Read more on pages 18-19
+ Innovation, capacity expansicn and cost control critical to ——
continuing improvement. o
+ Sustainable growth underpinned by organic and inorganic growth more g
than compensating for the transactional impact of the weaker USD, =
and weaker Q4 due to falling raw material prices and buying behaviour. §
=
+ 6.8% growth in Underlying EPS in the year benefiting from improvement §
in Underlying profit before tax. §
+ Reduction in effective tax rate reflecting geographical profits mix and 3
prior year rtems.
(1=
o
£
+ Continued success in our strategy to innovate and create products to e
meet market and customner needs. o
(=]
+ Investment in R&D continuing to dnve strong innovation pipeline. §
2
5
3
o
=3
+ Increase in the 2018 recordable accident rate related to increased 2
contractor activities associated with major capex investment across the g
Group. On three year rolling basis 60%+ improvement recorded. ]
[~
+ Best ICCA Process Safety Event rate at 0.14 per 100,000 hours. -
&
§
+ Specific Energy Consumption decreased by 0.5% but overall primary o
energy consumption increased by 3.8% due to BASF Pischelsdorf Ea
(Austria) acquisition and proeduction mixn Malaysia. =
+ Projects identified and in the pipeline which will deliver energy and g
emissions improvement. %
a
g
g
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Risk management

Managing risk

Synthemer achieves its strategic objectives by good sk management practices which enable good decision making and the pursut

of opportunities whilst protecting our sites. systems, staff and other stakeholders Successful risk management enables Synthomer to
achieve its corporate objectives faster aned more efficiently, and recognises tnat we only achieve reward by taking an appropriate level of
risk through setting the nsk appetite and risk tolerance

How Synthomer manages risk:

Synthomer pic Board

The Board 1s responsible for creating
the framework for the Group's nisk
management to operate effectively
The Board continues to strengthen its
defimtions and measurement of

+ the rnisk appetite, which s the target
range of risk the Board beleves
Synthomer shouid take to achieve its
corporate objectives,

+ the risk tclerance, which 1s the degree
of vanance from the targeted nisk
appetite that the Board 1s wiling
to tolerate

Identification and
assessment of risk

We have a structured nsk management
framework operated at business unit,
functional and Group level. The Business
Risk Assessment Melhodology defines a
standard set of nsk categones with genenc
nsk descriptions o assist management in

identitying areas of nsk There Is alsc a simple

scorng methodology to quantify nsk. We
rank nisks, taking into account the mitigating
controls N place, by combirng their
ecenomic, operational or reputational impact
and the Iikelihcod that they may occur.

We use a barrier based ‘bow tig’ method
to help management define and assess

Bow tie methodology

Risk
oversight

Audit Committee

The Audt Comrmittee I1s responsible

for overseaing the management of the
principal rigks, controls and the assurance
processes To help further embed
successiul nsk management within
Synthormer, the Audit Committee in 2018
conducted ‘deep dives’ into a number of
business urkt and functional sk reqisters
These deep dives alow management to
explam drectly to the Audit Committee
the nsks and associated mitigating
actons in place and in development

The nsk managemert system, Aucit
Committee ‘deep dives' and associated
assurance work arg designed to ensure that
risk 1s managed to within the rigk tolerance
ather than to elminate sk completely, and
reviews provide reasonable assurance in
Ine with good practice

the most critical nsk events The method
brhygs structure to the idenlihcation ot
hazards or nsk events, potenual causes
of those hazards and the congequences
of the hazardg cccurring. The bow tie
method also identifies barniers or controls
In place or needing 1o be developed

to mitigate the lkehhood of the threats
occurnng or impact of the effects of the
rigk event We encourage our management
to be cognisant of good practice on

nsk management including from our
professional advisers and the World
Economic Forum Global Risks report

Executive management
Executive managemsnt 1s responsible
for the management of our strategic,
operational, compliance and financial
nsks using the risk management
framewocrk This includes ensunng there
are to the extent possible mitigating
actions and controls in place.

Risk output

Busmess units individually conduct a
bottom up assessment of the principal risks
and record them in a nsk register using the
Busingss Risk Assessment Methodolagy
Group Functions and the Executive Board
conduct a top down review of strategic
risks taking mto account the input rom the
business units and prepare a Group risk
register using the same methodology

The Board reviews and approves the
Group risk register

A barner-based bow tie methodology is used to clearly show the retationship between the potential causes (threats), consequences
and controls {barrers) associated with undesired hazardous events

Hazard
Threat 1 Proactive barner Proactive barrier Recovery barrier  Recovery barrier  Consequence
Top event
Threat 2 Proactive barrier Proactive barrer Recovery barrrer  Recovery barrier  Consequence
Escalation Escalation Escalation Escalation
factor factor barner factor barrier factor

Synthomer plc Annual Report 2018



Assessment of
principal risks

Our key nsks and assessment of therr
likelihood and petential impact are illustrated
In the probability / impact matrix opposite

Strategic

1 Volatlity in chemicals and polymers market
2 Compettion and failure to innovate

3 Intellectual property

4 Manufacturing capacity expansion projects
5 Strategic projects including M&A

Operational
6 Safety, health and environment {SHE)
7 Loss or failure of a Synthomer site
8 Security, complexity and reliablity
of systems
g Disorderly Brexit

Compliance
10 Ethics

Financial
11 Financial nsks

Each region undertakes a formal nisk
assessment and prepares a register using
the Business Risk Assessment Methodology

Risk management
review and assurance

Group risk function

The Group nsk function, an integral part of
our Group operations funchion, challenges
the assumptions, nsks dentif ed,
prioritisation and response actions in
place or proposed.

Assurance providers

Synthomer cperates a 'three lines of
defence’ model A number of different
internal assurance providers {far example,
Group SHE, 1ISO audits and Internal Audit}
review the effectiveness of the mitigating
actions and controls External assurance 1s
provided by our Statutory Audrtors and also
by an external specialist in 1ISC standards.

The three lines of defence

New risk

Our key risks

Risks affect us In many ways ACross our
business. we identity the kelhaod and
potential tmpact of nsks through our formal
twice-yearly risk assessment submissions
encompassing the business units and
Group functions and altso more regularly
through empowering management o
consider and react to nsks These reviews,
together with our three ines of defence
model. enable us to establish effective
controls to mitigate (to the extent possible)
their effects.

We categorise our rnisks taking into account
the effectiveness of mitigating actions and
controls, i the following areas

+ Strategic nisks that could prevent us
from achieving our strategic objectives

+ Cperational ngks which, if not
successiully managed. wouid threaten
our viability These reiate to our ability to
operate a sustanable and safe business

Risk that has moved from 2017

+ Compliance rnisks where a breach of
regulations or laws could lead 10 fines
from regulators and reputational risk
that may be disproportionate to the
zize of the event leading to a breach

+ Financial nsks relating to the funding
and fiscal security of the Group

The table on pages 34 to 37 shows more
detall of the key nsks identified at the end of
2018 QOur Board and management consider
that these pose the greatest threats to our
business and they score highest on our risk
table. They fall into categornes that relate
closely to our business model Not all nsks
facing Synthomer arg listed and the nisks are
not hsted in any order of priority

The nature of ngk changes over tme with
new risks emerging and the impact of

others changing Our nsk management and
assurance programme can only provice
reasonable, not absclute, assurance that key
nsks are managed to an acceptable level

T
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Board/Audit Committee
Senior managerment External
auditor
+ 1stline of defence + 2nd line of defence + 3rdline of defence
+ Policies + Risk management +  Internal audit
Regulators
+ Procedures + Group finance (E.g HSE. EA. ICO
+ Management controls 4+ Group sHE 9 CMA,‘ FCA) ’
+ IS0 audits
+ Regulatory affars
+ Legal department
+  Quality Investors and

Functions that cwn
and marage risks

Functions that oversee nsks

Functicns thatl provide
ndependent assurance

rating agencies
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group's strategic objectives can only be achieved if certain risks are taken and managed effectively

We have listed below the key nsks that affect our business, although there are cther lower level risks that occur and impact the Group's
performance which are also actively managed through our nsk management framewaork

Strategic risks

Risk

Response

Volatility in chemicals and polymers market

The rnarkets in which we cperate are
inherently volatile, iInciuding in raw material
input prices, affecung volurmes and marging
and may adversely affect the results of

the Group

1 4 v

Competition and failure to innovate

We operate in highly competitive markets
and the Group could lose market share 10
other producers of speciality chemicals if
we fail to remain competitive, or to other
praducts that can be substituted for the
products of the Group if we fail to identify
threats and innovate to mitigate them

1 3 V'

Intellectual property

The value of the Group 1s dependent on
our ability to identify and protect our own
intellectual property and ensure we do
not breach third party intellectual property
{iP) nghts which could lead to reputational
damage and additional costs

1

The Group continues to maintain a balanced
portfolio of products serving a wide range
of end markets around the globe Segment
performance at business unit level s closely
monitored and corrective actions are taken
as necessary

The Group continues to invest 1IN enhancing
existing products and developing new
products through our R&D pragramme and
our acquisition strategy includes technologies
that are new 1o the Group

Our techrical services teams work with
customers to understand and anticipate their
futlre needs and 0 help them drive efficiencies
in theirr own manufacturing processes

All siles operate qualily management systems
Including assurance processes to ensure the
quality of products meets agreed standards

We continue to review our cost base and
sales effectiveness to ensure we can price our
praducts competitively

The Group improved its IP management
with new hires in 2018 and will continue its
active patent programme and monitoering
for infringements

Manufacturing capacity expansion projects

Enhancements to cur plants to increase
manufaciunng capacity to take advantage
of growth markets are dependent on good
project management Poor execution of our
various projects could impact on our ability
to deliver the capacity enhancements

4 v

This risk 1s perceved to be increasing as we
spend more on capex and have to secure
professional project management and
contractor resources 1o design and build
capacity expansion

We have a robust capital appraisal process In
place to assess proposed projects 10 ensure
they deliver vaiue wnich includes regular
reporting 1o the Board Project Excellence
methodolagy s 0 place for all sigrficant
capex projects The outcome of completed
projects with costs in excess of £1m

are reviewed by Internal Audit and the

Audit Committee

2019 plans

Qur acquisition strategy continues o target
expansion In new geographic regions and also
adjacent speciality chemicals businesses to
help us diversify the risk further

New product development will continue
to dwversify the Group's nsk n 2019

We have rearganised the busingss along
chemistry Iines in order to bring our
businesses closer to the customers and

we expect this, logether with our Customer
Relationship Management (CRM) system
enabling our sales teams to better identify
and secure opportunities, to drive growth in
2019 and beyond

Qur integraled business planning process
will allow us to operate more efficiently

Where approprate, and where we are

legally able to, we will patent or otherwise

protect more IP In preducts, processes '
and technologies

We will continue to improve IT security In
our networks, ERPs, recipe change control
systerm and industrial controls systems, to
protect IP from theft and unauthcrised use

We will delver two significant ¢ apacity
enhancements in early 2019 and have
announced a further capacity expansion in
our NBR plant :n Mataysia

Our Project Excellence methodology will be
reviewsd to ensure any lessans learned are
addressed and further training given

as required

Retura on Invested Cap.tar (ROIC}) for

our significant captal projects s being
ntroduced to the Long-Term Incentive Plan
(LTIP) performance measures in 2012 10
ensure appropriale management focus
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Link to strategy
1 Research and davelopment and techrucal
expertiee 1o explolr new markets

5 Drving efficiency and excelleng ¢
through operations

3 Capsciy uthisation
4 Inwestment in capacity

5  Busness growth through acquisition

Read more on pages 18-19

Change In risk

Na change
Increase

Dex rease

V  Sensitivity for nsk made n assessing wabil ty

Risk
Strategic projects including M&A

The Group's strategic plan includes
significant M&A actty 1o grow o
business There 15 a risk that we fal' to
identify and secure any targets or identfy
the wrang targets, paying too high a

price, fail to inlegrate acguired assets and
drive planned synergies, or we encounter
porformance funding and cashfiow ssues
or other potentially unknown liabuties

3

Operational risks

Response

Execulive management has extensive
experence of successful M&A transactions
inctuding integrabion of the acquired business

External advice 1s used 1o help identfy targets,
prepare bids and conduct due dligence

Detaled integraton plans are prepared as
pa-t of the due diligence exercise

2019 plans

M&A activity will continue to be closely
scrutiniged and challenged by the Board

We will ncrease the eficiency of ol existing
processes and continue to nvest in our ERP
systems to enable smoother integration of
acqurred businesses

Ongoing review of acquisition process
and implerrentation of lessons learned
1o ‘utyre transactions

:

Risk

Safety, health and environment

The chemical indusiry 1s inherently dangerous
involving the sa‘e transpo-t, storage and
manufacture of hazardous cnemicals

Failure to manage the impact on our staff,
manufaciunng sites and 1he environment of
these nsks could lead to1egulatory fines,
renutational damage and lost production

2

Loss or failure of a Synthomer site

A manufaciuring site or a raw matenal
storage site might be unable to operate,
whether iemporarily or longer term, due

1o & nis< event, Including natural disaster,
safety incident, fairure of a key suppler or
the supn’y chain saootage or cyber-attack.
whrch would have an adverse impact on
operations and busness urm profitability

2 3 v

Response

Synthomer operales a centrar safety audit
function dedicated to SHF ssues and it
provides advice to and moniters our si1es
to enable continuous IMprovernent across a!
major SHE areas Increasingly, the focus is
on process safely risk 1o miligate the nigk of
ma|or Incidents

Maintenance programmes are undertaken to
miigate the nigks

Crisis management procedures are in place
for all sites to respond 1o rsk events which are
reviewed and tested regularly

Sourcing strategies are in place Group

wide to access multip-e scurces for key raw
materials and the Group works closery with
key suppliers 1o ensure avalataity Single
sourced matenals are wWentiied ano inventory
retained, where approprate, to mtigate risk of
sdpply chan failure

2019 plans

Qur Group SHE audits wil continue to
focus on higher nsk areas inc-uding
process safety We w.ll maxe further
progress on our long-term ambition

to implement a proactive approach to
maintenance as a preventable measure

We will focus specifically on
completng ine act.ons from our
Process Hazard Assessments

We will cortinue to improve preventative
measures {o reduce the risks and develop
our business cont nuity plans includ ng crisis
management response, disaster recovery for
key systems and data as well as longer term
recovery of operations
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Operational risks continued

Risk

Response

Security, complexity and reliability of systems

We are reliant on various legacy systems

to run our busnNess and the complexity

of our systems continues to Increase with
acquisitons, compliance reguirements and
automation of processes We also expect
the inherent nsk from cyber secunty attacks
to continue to grow, and although mitigated
by our Increasngly sophisticated defences,
all of our systems, including our industriai
control systems, ERPs and communicatons
could be compromised We could lose
intellectual property and customer data
whuch might undermine our competitive
position or a cyber-attack could leave

one of cur plants out of action or subject

to blackmall

1 2 3

Disorderly Brexit

We reassessed the Brexit nisks throughout
our business In 2018 as a 'no dea!” outcome
was percewed 10 be more likely There 1s

a risk that a no deal scenane will lead to
tinancial costs such as tantts, and affect the
UK and EU manufacturning plants’ ability to
import raw materials and export products
on a tmely basis, and also impact REACh
regulation complance costs

2 3 4 5 v

Compliance risks

We have increased resources in our IT
systems and secunty teams to improve our
systems, processes and securily

Cyber defences continue to be enhanced and
approprate employees complete IT Security
Awareness tramng

A Brexit task force has been established to
consider and mitigate, as far as possible
the potentral impact of a disorderly Brexit,

monitoring impact on supply chain, regulation,

trade compliance, operations and human
resources

2019 plans

Further security process improvements are
planned in 2019 Including penetration testing
and review of good security practices

We will test IT resilience through our
programme of disaster recovery testing.

We will continue 1o manitor the impact of a
no deal scenario or any delays to setthng
future trading arrangements We will review
our trading arrangements, processes and
systems to ensure that we take, as far as
possible, any mitigating actions necessary

Risk
Ethics

The Group could suffer substantial penalties,
damage to reputation and cther sanctions
for any failure 1o control, for example,
ant-competitive behaviour, bribery and
corruption, or breaches of trade sanctions
The General Data Protection Regutation 1s
now law and has greater potential penatties
that could impact the Group

2 \

Response

The Code of Conduct has been updated

to address the new regulations The new
Code of Conduct includes real examples and
scenanos 10 aid employee understanding and
e-franing 1s avallable Malpractice reporting
and protection for reporters are simrarly
covered in the new Code of Conduct and

an extlemal, contidenbial reporting helpline
has been made avalable Group 'egal and
logal management provide regular train g

1o targeted groups of employees on ant
competitive behaviour, bribery and corruption

We have terminated all business activities in
certain sanctioned countr es to avoid the rns<
of breachng trade sanctions but continue

to monitor all ouwr customers using trade
compliance tools

2019 plans

We will ensure that senior management and
local business unts continue to emphasise
the provisions in the Code of Conduct and
that Group legal and other relevant functions
continue 10 provide tramning and advice on
its apphicability

We will continue to review our approach
to legal comphance includ ng the new
GDPR law
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Link to strategy

1  Research and development and techmcal
cxporbise to cxplon new markets

2 Orving e'ficiency and excellence
through operations

Financial risks

3 Capacity ull sation
4 ‘nuestrentincapacity

§  Business growth through acquisition

Change in risk

No change
Increase

Decrease

V  Senstvity for nsk made in assessang viahity

Risk
Financial risks

Acsigrific ant proportion of the Group s
turnover and assets are in currencies other
than LK sterhng and fluctuations n cunency
oxchange rates may significantly impact the
results and net assets of the Group

Tre Group has funding nsks relating lo
defined beneil pensicn scheme obhyations,
the value of which are nighly dependent on
volalile Inancial markets

2 5 v

Viability statement

Response

Tre Group has a policy of hedging all
significant forcign excharige transactional
exposure (prncpally recevables and payables
denominated n a currency other than the
entity’s reporting currency) at aperating
company level The Group regularly reviews iis
net assets and bonowing curency exposures,
CoOWINg N averseas currencies to hedge the
net assets neld »n those currencies

as approp-.ate

The UK defined beneht pension scheme was
cloged 1o futdre accrual n 2008 Additonal

contributions and careful asset management
should reduce the deficit over the longer term

{arseds defined benefit pension schemes
are reviewed annua'ly by actuares to ensure
approprate conttbutions are made and
labnites are recognised appropriate y

2019 plans

We will cont-nue to hedge transactiona’
currency risks

The UK schemes pensien deficit s expecied
to reduce over the longer term as the

Group pays the additional contrizutions to
the UK scheme agreed with the Trustees

N 2016 The imescale will be affected by
movements i the financial markets and the
discount rate

A Group wide review of pension and
other iong-lerm employee labilities will be
underiaken in 2019

F

Wodas n1Bajens

L45-0dl

In accordance with the provision of section C 2 2 of the 2014

Furthermore, a sensiivity analysis has been undeartaken,

revision of the UK Corporate Governance Code, the directors
have assessed the vigbilly of the Group over 4 ive-yedr penod
to December 2023, being the penod covered by the Group s
approved strategic plan, This plan 1s updated annually, n a
process led by the executive management team with input from
the respective businesses and funchons It includes analysis

of product and segmental petformance, cash flow, investment
programmes and returns to shareholders The plan s presented
to the Board each year as a part of its annual strategic review

The directors consider ive years to be an appropnate time
harizon for the strategic pian, being the pericd over which the
Group actively focuses on its long term product development
and capntal expenditure investments . A penod above five
years 15 considered by the directors to be too long. gven the
uncertanbes that exist beyond this time frame

In making ther assessment, the directars have considerad the
diverse activites and product offenng of the Group In terms of
geographies, chemistry and end markels The directors have
Also considered the Group's corrent strong inancial position
nclucding the existing committed unsecured bank facilities,

whie B Bave bieenr assur ed to be refimane oo at maturry and the
fixech interest rate hedages cotered nto 2018

focusing on the impact of the principal risks (detalled above on
pages 34 o 37 over the five year penod  The risks have been
assessed for ther potential impact on the Group s business
madel, uture trading and funding structure The sensitivity
analysis has considered a number of severe but plausible
scenarios linked to the nsks In all cases, the impact was
considered on both hlquidity and borrowing covenants

The scenanos inciuded trading volatihty, increased compettion,
disruption as a result ot a disorderly Brexit, delays in progect
dehvery, falure of new products and the temporary loss of a
manufacturing site They also included the risk of potential
signiicant ¢ hanges n foreign exchange rates, which s
deemed to be outside the control of the Group A combined
sensitivity was also performed, aggregating all of the scenarios
considered The results also took into account the availabulity
and hkely degree of effectivenass of mitigating actions available

While this sensitivity analysis did nat consider all of the risks that
the Group may face, the diectors consider that it 1s reasonable
In the circumstances of the inherent uncertainty involved

Based on the results of this analysis, the directors have a reasonable
expactation that the Group will be atile to contnueg it operation and
Imeet it fiabilitic = as they f-ll due over the free year penod
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Chief Financial Officer’s review

Continued eamings growth underpinned by

geographic diversity, product differentiation
and sound balance sheet financing

Stephen Bennett
Chief Financial Officer

Strategic highlights

+ Fourth consecutive year of Underlying
earnings growth

+ Robust performance underpinned
by geographic diversity and
product differentiation

+ A further year of record investment in
growth capex

+ Group refinancing and interest rate fix
completed

+ Balance sheet remains
conservatively leveraged

Overview

The Group has reported a further solid
improvement in Underlying profit before
tax, up 3 9% at £135 1m, benefitting

from gecgraphic diversity and product
differentiation and overcoming challenging
foreign currency and raw maternial

price movements

The key drivers behind the improvement in
overall performance were’

+ A strong year for ARW with Underlying
profit growth drniven by increased Nitrile
iatex volumes and unit margins in a Nitrile
latex market that continues to report
signficant demand growth

+ Robust resuits In ENA, adversely
impacted by both the weaker USD
reducing margins on products sold from
Europe in USD and falling raw material
prices in Q4. adversely impacting
customer buying behaviour

+ The bolt on acguisition of BASF
Pischelsdort {Austna) completed on
31 January 2018 and which was
successiully imtegrated intc the Group

+ The continuing weakness of sterling
which resulted in a positive translational
mpact on the Group's reported results

ARternative performance
measures

The Group has consistently used two
signdicant Allernative Performance
Measures {APMs’) since its adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) in 2005

+ Underlying performance, which excludes
Special ltems from IFRS profit measures,
and

+ EBITDA, which excludes Special tems,
amortisation and deprectation from IFRS
operating profit.

The Board's view Is that Underlying
performance provides additional clanty
for the Group’s investors and so 1t 15 the
pnmary focus of the Group's narrative
reporting Further information and the
reconciliation to the IFRS measures are
ncluded in notes 2, 5 and 6
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Income statement
Operating profit

The table helow hnages the 2017 and 2018 IFRS operating profit showing

+ the changes in profitability in existing businesses,

+ the mpact of the 2018 acquisition of BASF Pischelsdorf,

+ the impact of the weakness of sterling on translation, and

+ the eftect of the Specia! ltems

:

woday o1BeleNg

£5-0dI

Europe & Unallocatad
North Asia & Rest corporate
America of World expenses Total
£rm £m £m £m
2017 — IFRS 775 3t1.2 13 3) 954
Add: 2017 - Special ltems 39.6 38 0.1 436
2017 — Underlying performance 1171 351 13 2) 1390
2018 - Underlying business changes {9 4) (8.0)% 2.0 25.6% 16) {121% 20) (1.41%
2018 Underlying existing business
at 2017 exchange rates 1077 441 (14 8) 1370
2018 - Acquisition of BASF Pischelsdorf 2.6 - 26
2018 — Impact of 2018 exchange rates 08 1.6 - 25
2018 - Underiying performance
at 2018 exchange rates M2 5.0)% 457 30.2% {14 8) 12 1)% 1421 2 2%
{Deduct)/acd. 2018 - Special ltems 119 4) g2 32 (13.4}
2018 - IFRS 81.8 18 5% 549 76.0% (18 0) {35 3)% 1287 34 9%

The following should be noted

+ The reduction in ENA existing business operating profit of ©9 4m pnmarty reflects the adverse impact of both the weaker USD reducing
marging on products sold from Europe 1n USD {£5 3m} and falling raw rmaterial prices in Q4. resulting in weaker volumes as customers
delayed Q4 orders in a falling price environment.

+ The marked improvement in ARW existing business operating proht of £9 0m mainly refiects strang growth in Nitrile latex volumes

and unit marging, more than offsetting the adverse iImpact of the weaker USD reducing margins on products priced in Malaysia

N USD {£4 8m)

+ Underlying unallncated corporate expenses increased by £1.6m reflectung the annualsation of costs related to the strengthening of the

management team in the | ondon Head Office in 2017

+ The continuing weakness of stering dunng the year resulled in an increase in the Group's reported profit in sterling. Feor the European
businesses, the rate used for translating profit moved from £1 C1.1430 0 2017 to £1 £1.1284 in 2018, with a resulting uphft in the 2018
CNA oporating profit of £0 9m Tor the Malaysian businessos the Malaysian Ringgit moved from £1 MYRS 5580 in 2017 to
£1 MYR5.3661 with a resulting uphft in the ARW operaling profil of £1 6m

Special Items

2018 2017

£m £m

Restructuring and site closures {12.2) (11 6)

Sale of business 3.8 -

Sale of land 16.4 13

Acquisition costs {0.5) 23)

Amortisation of acquired intangibles {16.4) {310

Aborted bond costs (1.7} -
UK Guarantesd Minimum Pensicn equalisation (2.8}

{13.4) {13 6)
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Chief Financial Officer’s review continued

The following items of Income and expense have been reported as Special ltems

+ Restructunng and site closure relates to the natural rubber and polyester resins production ines in Kluang (Malaysial, which closed n
Q4 2018, and an increase 1IN the onerous lease and related provisions for the Ossett site due to a change In circumstance reiating to the
subletting of the site In 2017, 1t primarnily related to the rationalisation of the Ribécourt (France) site and the initial onerous lease provision
for the Ossett site

+ Sale of business relates to the disposal of the Leuna (Germany) site and the dispesal of 51% of cur sales entities In Dubal

+ Sale of land in 2018 relates to the Group's profit on disposal of the final tranche of Malaysian jand at Kluang The profit on sale of land in
2017 related to a dispesal of land In Bapten (UK)

+ Amortisation of acquired intangibles decreased significantly during 2018 due to the full amertisation durning the year of the Polymerl atex

customer relationstups acquired dunng 2011, The amortisation ncludes £1.4m in respect of intangbles relating to the acquisition of
BASF Pischelsdorf {Austria) In 2018

+ Ahead ot the Group refinancing during the year a process was underlaken to issue fixed rate unsecured serior notes Despiie a strong
response from investors the Group decided not to complete the transaction due to unfavourable market conditions The costs of this
process are not reflective of Undetrlyirg petfonmance,

+ Following a UK High Court ruling durning the year in relation to the equahsation of male and female Guaranteed Minimum Pensions
IGMPY a penston plan amendment 1s deemed to have cccurred The actuarat estimate of this rregular cost was £2.8m

Finance costs & profit before taxation

2018 2017
Underlying Special Underlying Special

performance Items IFRS  performance Items IFRS

£€m £m £m £m £m £m

Operating proft (including share of JV's} 1421 (13.4) 128.7 1390 (43.6) 954

Finance Costs (7.0} (1.4} {8.4) 90 - G0

Profit/floss) before taxation 1351 (14.8) 120.3 130.0 {43 6) 864
Increase/{decrease) in prefit/loss before tax % 3.9% 39.2%

Finance costs were tower than 2017 reflecting a number of factors the Group borrowing predominantly in Euro in the year compared with
multiple currencies in 2017, lower variable Euro interest rates in the first haif of the year, and a lower pensions interest charge as a result of
the reduced discount rate in refabon to the UK and Overseas defined benefit pension schemes. This was partly offset by the higher cost
fixed Euro interest rate swap in the second half of the year

As part of the refinancing in July 2018 the Group entered into swap arrangermnents to fix interest rates on the full value of the €440m
committed unsecured revolving credit faciity The fair value of the unhedged derivatives relates to the mark to market of the swap
arrangements at 31 December 2018 in excess of the current borrowings of the Group This has been taken through Special tems as t1s
not reflective of the Uinderlying performance,

Taxation
2018 2017
Underiying Special Underlying Special
performance Itams IFRS performance ltems IFRS
Taxation {charge)/credit £m {23.0) 6.0 (17.0) (247} 131 (11 6)
Effective tax rate % 17.0 40.5 1441 190 300 134

The IFRS effective tax rate 1s impacted by the tax credit on the Special ltems 1t s therefore helptul to consider the Underlying and Special
ltems affecting tax rates separately*

+ The effective tux rate on Underlying performance reduced in the year as a resull of changes in the geographic mix of profits, prior year
items and decreases in tax rates in certain jJunsdictions

+ The sffective tax rate for Special ltems 15 principally driven by the deferred tax credit on the amortisation of acquired intangibles and the
zero corporate tax rate on the proht on sale of Malaysian fand
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Non-controlling interests

2018 207
Underlying Special Underlying Special
performance Items IFRS performance Iterns. IFRS
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Non-controlling interests 0.5 3.0 3.5 .8 - 08

The Group continues to have a 70% holding in Revertex (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd and nts subsidianes This company and s subsiciaries are
now a refatively minor part of the Gioup and hence the non-contioling mterests mpact on the Undetlying performance 1s not signiiicant

The Special tems m 2018 reflects the non controlling interests share (3072 1n the Mataysian land sale and restruclunng costs assotiated
with the Kluang site, referred to in the Spectal ltems section above The land was owned by Kind Action Sdn Bhd, a 100% subsidiary of
Revertex (Malaysia} Sdn Bhd,

Earnings per share

F

yodai oi6ajenis

£5-0d1

2018 207
Underlying Special Underlying Special
performance Items IFRS performance Hams IFRS
Earnings per share (pence) 32.8 {3.4) 29.4 307 89 21.8
Growth %o 6.8 - 34.9

As set out in note 13, the average number of shares In1ssue remains similar to last year at 340 millon The changes in Underlying and
IFRS carmings por share shown in the table are therefore driven predominantly by the same factors that influence the change in profi
before taxation and taxation described above

Cash performance
The Group s pnimary focus 1S on manading net borrowings rather than on cash The following summarises the movement in net
borrowings and 1s 10 the format used by managemant,

2018 2017
£m £m
Underlying operating prafit {excluding jont ventures) 141.7 138.0
Movement in working capital {35.2) a5
Depreciation and amortisation {Underlying,; 38.9 372
Purchase of property, plant and equipment {75.7) 60.3)
Business cash flow 69.7 124 4
Interest paid {net) (4.5) (4 8)
Tax paid {23.0) (26 1)
IAS 19 Interest charge (3.2) 43
Pensicn funding in excess of IAS 19 interest charge (13.8) (12 5)
Share based payments variance to If RS2 charge (3.9) 03
Non-controlling interest and jont venture dividends (0.4} 1.5
Underlying operating cash flow 20.9 779
Cash impact of restructuring and ste closure {3.3) &0}
Cash impact of aborted bond costs (1.2}
Sale of property. plant and equipment 17.5 22
Purchase of business and acguisition costs {26.3) 66 2)
Sale of business 3.7 [as)
Dividends paid {42.5} 139 0
Foreign exchange and other movements (2.3) 8.6}
Movement in net borrowings (33.5) 30 2}

Net debt ncreased by £33 5m 2017 £30 2m) 0 the year, nsing from £180 5im at 31 December 2G17 to £214 0m at 31 December 2018
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Chief Financial Officer’s review continued

The rise in net debt reflects

+ An increased investment 1IN working capital partly refliecting higher raw matenal prices in the inal guarter of 2018 relative to the
comparative period and higher nventories as a result of reduced sales activity In the same period. Working capital remains at circa 10%
of sales on a twelve month roling basis

+ The capital expenditure in 2018 reflects the cash spend on the previously announced Nitrile latex capacity expansion m Pasi Gudang
{Malaysia), the made-to-order specialty acrylic nes in Worms (Germany), the increase in acrylic capacity In Roebuck {(USA).
debottlenecking of Marl (Germany) for foam production and capacity expansion of Sant'Albano {ltaly) Our spend on sustenance capital
expendrture 15 £24m compared with £20m in 2017

+ The tax paid amount of £23 Om represents 17 0% of Underlying profit before tax and 1s broadly in ine with the effective tax rate (2017
20.1%}. The reduction in tax paid 18 consistent with the change in gecgraphic mix of profits, with proportionately more profits generated
In Malaysta in 2018 relative to 2017

+ The amount shown as pension funding in excess of the IAS19 charge mainly 1eflects the UK defined benefit deficit recovery funding of
15 b {201, £14 /my), The nse in the deficd 1ecovery paynient In 2018 1eflects the schedule of contibutions agreed with the lrustees
In 2016 as a part of the 2015 triennial pension scheme valuation which was based on the forecast Increase n the pension payroll,
allowing for retiring employees

+ Sale of property, plant and equipment primarily relates to the Group’s Malaysian land sale proceeds in 2018, and the Hapton land sale
in 2017,

+ The outflow for purchase of business puncipally relates to the purchase of BASE Nischelsdor f (Austna) for £25.8m completed on
31 January 2018 The prior year outflow of £6G 2rm mainly relates to the acquistion of Speciality Additives (Belgum)

+ The sale of business proceeds of £3 7m mainly relates to the procesds from the disposal of 51% of the Dubai sales entities The prior
year proceeds of L7.6m 1s the amount received from the disposal of Synthomer Leuna {Germany)

+ Substantial amounts of the Group's borrowings have been mamtaned in Euros as a natural hedge against the net asset base in thig
currency With the devaluation of sterling referred to above, the translation at the year-end rates has resulted in an exchange loss
recognised 0 reserves and therefore a higher borrowings amount (offset by an increase in the Euro net asset base)

Financing and liquidity

The Group refinanced n July 2018 securing lower intetest margins and entering inte a new committed unsecured four year multicurrency
revolving credit facility of €440m expinng July 2022 (RCH with an option to request an extension to July 2023 At the same time we
secured an additional committed unsecured short term bank loan facility of €65m expiring i July 2019. The Group also entered inta
agreements to fix the Eunbor interest rate on €440m of borrowings for a perad of seven years expiring 2025, fixing the cosl of borrowing
at an hustorically low rate and insulating the Group from future increases in the Eunbor interest rate.

2018 2017

£m £m

Committed facilities 444.4 4188
Drawn at 31 December 292.0 2467
Facility headroom 152.4 W22

In addition to the facility headroom, the Group had cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2018 of £86 9m (2017' £89 6m) net of
overdrafts of T20 7m (2017, £24.2m)

2018 2017

£m £m

Cash and cash egquivalents 96.9 896

Current borrowings (including overdrafts) {70.1) (731

Non-current borrowings (240.8) (197 Q)

Net borrowings (214.0) {180 5)
The financial covenant for the new RCE s that net borrowings must be less than 3.25 times CBITDA

2018 2017

£m £m

Net borrowings 214.0 1805

EBITDA 181.0 176.2

Net borrowings/EBITDA 1.2 10

The significant facility and covenant headroom demonshiate the continued financial strength of the Group, which s well positoned to fund
future organic growth and bolt-on gacquisitions
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I he table beluw sels oul the total pension charge mcluded in the ncome stalement and the lotdl delined benett obigations incuded in
the balance sheet,

Charge o Post rebrement
income statement benefit obligations
2018 2017 2m8 2017
£m £m £m £m
UK 7.4 5.1 53.2 783
Overseas 71 7e 79.3 78.9
14.5 123 132.5 1872

The UK pension costs includes an irregular cost (included 1n Special ltems) for the equalisation to Guaranteed Mimnimum Pension {GMP)
of £2.8m

The reduction in UK detined benefit pension labilities of €25 1m primanly relates to an increase in tre discount rate frem 2 5% 1o 2 8%
(£16.9m) combined with updated membership data (£11 1m reduction) and offset by the GMF equalisaticn increase of £2 8m

Acquisition and disposal accounting

For the acquisition, the assets and liabilities have been included at farr value with the balance of consideration shown as goodwill KPMG
LLP were engaged to advise on the far value of the property. plant and equipment {PPE) Overall therr conclusion was that the total

fair value of the PPE should be increased by ¥0 6m KPMG LLP also performed a valuation of the intangibles, which mamniy comprised
of customer relationships Accorangly on acquisition, the Group recognised goodwill and acquired intangibles of £1 2m and £176m
respectively and the valuation s now final. These intangibles are beng amaortised over penods of H to 15 years

Stephen Bennett
Chief Financial Officer
4 March 2019
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Sustainability

Moving forward on

Sustainability

Tim Hughes
President — Corporate Development

Sustainability highlights

+ Group Sustainability
Committee established

+ Launch of new global Code of Conduct

+ Second best year for recordable mjury
rate on record — 80%+ improvement on
three year rolling basis

+ Best ever Process Safety Event rate
+ Strengthening of our employer brand

+ Launch of ‘We Care' initiative - linking
our employees t0 our communities

+ Move to align reporting to GRI
Standards and completion of
stakeholder assessment

Foreword

Synthomer is a specialist chemical
company and one of the world's leading
suppliers of agueous polymers We
produce innovative formulations to support
customers in a range of iIndustries from
construction and coatings to healthcare.

Synthomer Is buit on its reputation and
the trust and confidence of each of its
stakeholders — not only our shareholders
and employees, but also our suppliers,
customers and the wider communny
and environment In which we operate.
At Synthomer we hold the highest
standards and work together to protect
our values and build an ethical and
sustamable business

Synthomer recognises the signficance
and importance of being a responsible
company As a leading speciality chemical
company, we focus cn continucus
improvement to enhance the sustainabilty
of everything we do - from developing less
energy intensive water-based products to
helping customers meet more stnngent
regulattons, to attracting and retaining

the test talent in the market through our
employes brand

We tocus on sustainability through our
Group Sustainability Gormmittee using

six pillars - our strategy, governance and
comphance, people, sustainable value
chain, health and safety and environment
In 2018 we focused our sustainabiity
activities on broadening our sustamability
reach more widely across the Group using
Global Repeorting tnitiative (GRI) Standards
This has involved assessing stakeholder
expectations, bulding key performance
indicators aganst which we can be judged,
engaging our employees through our "We
Care' intiative and then commurnicating
our progress through our annuat
Sustainability Report

We strongly belleve our sustamabity
actvities build shareholder value and will
drive a positive contribution to our business
performance and values

Tim Hughes
President Corporate Development
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Non-financial
information statement

The Company has complied with the Non-Financial Reporting Directive
contained in sections 414CA and 414CB of the Companies Act 2006.

Pillar

Strategy

Governance
and compliance

Sustainable
value chain

Health and Safety
{Occupational and
Process safety)

Environment

Highlights and achievements

+ Sustainability Committee established to coordinate global
sustainability activities, reporting directly to the executive team

+ Completed programme of work to identify initial set of GRI

Standards matched 1o the six key pillars identified by the matenalhty assessment

+ Stakeholder engagement project completed to validate initial
matenality assessment

+ New interactive global Code of Conduct launched across the
Group, available in thirteen languages

+ New independent whistleblowing helpline established

+ New global 'SmartHR’ system roll-out completed
across the Group

+ Successful launch of Synthomer Talent Development Programme

+ Asia HR training and development programme recognised with
three Malaysian awards

+ Strengthened sustainability assessment within procurement
processes, implemented revised supplier audit methodology

+ Litex QuickShield technology awarded ‘Best Innovation in Textile
Chemustry’ at Future Textile Awards 2018 — new formula
eliminates need for formaldehyde and ammonia

+ Wellness programmes established across several countries

+ S8HE Engagement - global site management and SHE
management conferences

+ Completion of main phase of Process Hazard Revalidation exercise
+ Process safety event rate reduced

+ Development of new internal process safety training programme

+ No environmental reportable incidents — best year on record

+ 1.8% reduction in GHG (greenhouse gases) emissions per tonne
of production

F

Hodal abs1eng

245-041

Synthomer ple Annual Beport 2018

a5

S8IUBULIBADL)

| g61-Gp|  SlusLuelels (e1ouBUy Avedwol) || thL-E6 SlUoWSIRIs feraueUy dnoin || 26-85

Lo 1Y

091-4S1L




Sustainability continued

Progress against 2018
targets and objectives

Strategy

Complete materiality assessment review

Formalise data gathering and monitoring of relevant GRI disclosures
Align sustainability reporting against GRI 'Core’ Standards

Achieve and sustain 'Gold’ rating from EccoVadis

Governance and compliance
Launch updated Code of Conduct
Introduce externally hosted ethical whistleblowing helpling (phone/web)

People - employment conditions /
diversity and development

Implernent global HR information system

Deploy global, market aligned, role and compensation framework
Design and iaunch new executive leadership global people report
Develop the Synthomer diversity and inclusion plans

Launch an enhanced Synthomaer leadership development programme

Sustainable Value Chain

Revise supplier audit process to include sustainability requirements

Define sustainability criteria for product and technology development projects
Undertake intial assessment of active R&D projects against sustainability criteria
Complete five key supplier audits for each procurement function {at least one per region)
Complete desktop sustanability assessment of top ten key suppliers (in each region)

Health and safety
0.25 Recordable Case Rate {incidents per 100,000 working hours)
0.20 Process Safety Event Rate (incidents per 100,000 working hours)

Environment

The fust fow mefiics below are based on revised 2017 basehne

>30% site emissions calculated using market-based emissions factors
6% raduction in specific energy consumption {GJ/t production)

9% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions (t CO,e /t production)

6% reduction in water consumption {m, / t production)

7.5% reduction in waste to land {metric ton / metric ton production)

Target Year

2018

2018

2019 onward
by 2020

2018
2018

2018
2018
2018
2018
2018

2018
2018
2019
2021
2022

2018
2018

2018

end 2021
end 2021
end 2021
end 2021

Progress
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Sustainability activities

Strategy

Synthomer recognises the signiicance
and importance of being a responsible
company, taking into consideration the
complete life cycle of cur products and the
impact our operations have on people and
the environment

Synthomer considers issues that are
materiai te its business and seeks to

respond to them in a manner appropriate to

the interests of all ts stakeholders We are
committed to approaching our business
in an ethucal and environmentally sound
manner

Our work in this area has been highlighted
through the Group's inciusion in the
F1SE4Goed Index since 2004 The
FTSE4aGood Index 1s operated by FTSE
Russell and highlights the performance
of stock market hsted companies against
arange of environmental, social and
governance ¢ritena To be eligible for
inclusion in the index, companies must
demonstrate a high level of commitment
in areas such as cimate change.
environmental management ang

human nights

The Group's risk management processes
described earler in the Strategic report
include consideration of the petential
impact of corperate responsibiity 1Issues
on Synthomer's perfarmance. The
Group's investment decisions take nto
account appropriate evaluations of the
potential consequences for its employees,
customers, suppliers and the environment

The Group also recognises the impact

that M&A activities can have on its cverall
sustainabilty profile and petfonmance o
2018 Synthomer introduced changes to
its assessment approach to strengthen our
processes for evaluating these potential
impacis, nsk and oppartunities

2018 spw the acguisition of an SBR

latex production facility m Pischelsdort
(Austria) from BASE and its impact on our
environmental performance. alongside,
fulh year impact of the Specahity Additves
{Belgmm) plant putchased frorn Perstorp
in March 2017 1s discussed later in

this section

Materiality assessment
review and Global
Reporting Initiative

{GRI) alignment

A key commitment made i early 2018

was to begin ahgnment of our corporate
reporting to the international GRI Standards

During 2018, a detaied review of the GRI
reporting reguirements was made, gaps
were denthed and a plan to addiess

them was prepared and accomplished
Alongside this a project was undertaken to
tevelop further the materiality assessment
work described in the 2017 CSR Report
that identfied o first pass st of key
sustainability aspects for Synthomer and
relevant stakeholder groups

The imtial matenidity assessment was
reviewed to better identify the key
sustainability aspects for Synthomer and
relevant stakeholder groups and to align
with the pongipdes defimed by GRI

In order to collect the relevant stakeholder
groups' feedback in a more systematic
way, a survey tool was designed. Using
the survey, the seven main stakeholder
groups previously wenbfied were
guestioned to determine the importance
of the 22 sustanability topics sitting

In the six sustainabilty piliars selected
by the Company Approximately 400
stakeholders were surveyed worldwicie
representing all husiness areas

The survey resulted in eightegen topics
rated as very impottant and four topics
as impottant Al the tapics within the
environment, salety, and governance
and compliance areas were rated as
very important

More details will be provided in the
Sustainabiity Report at www.synthomer.com

:
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Sustainability continued

Plan for 2019 and beyond

During 2019, the Group will use the stakeholder engagement findings
to identify where further engagement or action is required. Internally
this will include more engagement with employees in the form of a
piict culture survey.

In addrtion, we will continue to look at opportunities for improving
the systems used for reporting and data gathering / analysis fo give
greater ¢onfidence and provide more transparency and clarty around

Governance
and compliance

Ensurnng and demonstrating a high
standard of effective and compliant
corporate governance 18 a key priorty
of the Group and expectation of our

the identified key maternal risk areas.

To ensure the safe management and use
of its products, Synthemer 1s committed

to shaning relevant health and safety
information throughout the value chain,

To achieve this, we work closely with

our suppliers and customers to fully
understand the envircnmental mpact of
our raw matenals, processes and products
on the overall product hfe cycle. We identify
potential improveément areas and focus
efforts on delivering those improvements
Growing sustainably 1s a challenge, but itis
one that we aré committed to taking on

The Group’s international operations fulfil
their responsibility 10 record, monitor and
make publicly availlable the potential impact
ot its activities In pursuing its corporate
strategy, Synthomer’s am is to adopt
busmness practices that are economically,
socially and environmentally sustainable,
and to promote these to its stakeholders

in order to strengthen relationships, share
knowledge and encourage best practice

In 2017, a review of sustainability
management and reporting mechanisms
was Undertaken, with a view to identitying
how to move the Company forward m
meeting both ts own and its stakeholders
expectations in this area This ted In

early 2018 to the establishment of a new
Sustanability Committee which meets at
least three times a year This 1s led by the
President — Corporate Development who
sits on, and reports back to, the executive
committee, with membership made up of
functicnal department heads representing
areas such as HR. B&D, procurement and
corporate governance, as well as senjor
members of the corporate SHE network
There I1s also achve engagerment with the
wider business across the Group

stakeholders Our governance structures
are covered im more detall on pages 62
o 66

Code of Conduct

2018 saw signilicant activity n thig arca
as Synthomer published its new Code
of Conduct, drawing together all its
key policies In ene easy to read and
interactive document.

A key commitment made last year was to
seek 1o align our sustainability reporting
to the internationally recognised Global
Reporting Initiative (GR1) Standards. Qur
2018 Sustainability Report {previcusly
GE&R Report) will be published early in Q2
2019 and will be aligned to meet the GRI
‘Core’ reporting level An overview of the
work under taken across the six identihed
pillars 1s presented here, with more
comprehensive data provided in the 2018
Sustainability Report

The Group also remains committed to both
the global chemical Industries’ Responsible
Care” (RC) inttiative and to the principles

of sustainable development (803 as set out
in the UK Chemical Industries Assooiation
{CIA) 8D guiding principles, to which we
have been a signatory since 2005

Our code

Our code reflects both how we work
together and with third parties and
exemplifies our beliefs and values, All
employees have besn issued with the
code, and itis publicly available on our
website at: www.synthomer.com/code-
of-conduct/

This commitment was re-asserted in 2017
when the Chief Executive Officer endorsed
the updated UK ClA Responsible Care*
Guiding Principles

1he policies are In place to ensure

our dally business is conducted in a
sustanable and responsible manner
Ihese policies play a key role In
maintaimng cur reputation with our
internal and external stakeholders They
also set out the standards to which we
hold ourselves, our employees and our
business partners

Our values are visible In all corporate
communications and are prominently
displayved at all Synthomer sites Around
the globe we have multiple ways in
which we communicate our values in an
engagng way and bring our values to life
ncluding mnduction processes, traning
nterventions, commurnicahons and
awards and recognition campaigns
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All the Group's employees are
encouraged to measure ther activities
aganst our long term goals and to work
towards achieving them. Managers in
particular are expected to use these goals
when getling targets for themselves, for
therr teams and for the staff who report

to them

Corruption and

anti-competitive behaviour
Synthomer 1s commitied to complying
with the laws and regulations of ail the
countries in which it operates {including
those covering carruption and antl-
competitive behavicur) This applies
whether Synthomer 1s acting directly in a
country through employees., or indirectly
through agents distributors or other
intermediaries Alongside the Code of
Gonduct roll-out. new guidance was
published on Bribery. Corruption and Tax
Evaswon and Competition Law. All relevant
employees are required to complete
onling training modules

Whistleblowing helpline

At Synthomer we always encourage
people to speak up about any concerns
they may have about unlawful cr
unethical behaviour.

2018 saw the launch of a third party
hosted helphne {available both online
and via telephone) for employees and
other stakeholders to report unlawiul or
unethical behaviour or concerns and 1o
raise queries regarding the apphcation ot
the Code of Conduct

Human rights

The Group 1s committed to operating
a culture that values meritecracy,
openness, farness and transparency
and encourages a safe and trusting
work environment

The new Ceode of Conduct reasserts our
commitment to diversity, human rights,
equal opportunities and respect in the
workplace. and includes inks to our most
recent Modern Slavery Act statement,
avallable here https //www synthomer
com/company/corporate responsibity/
group-polcies/

People

Diversity and human rights
Diversity 1s one of Synthomer's core
values, and we remain iocused on
ncreasing diversity within the Group We
continue to attract and retain empioyees
trom a wide vanety of natienal and cultural
backgrounds, and in the UK where we
have around 500 employees. we have
people from over 20 different countries
represented within our workforce The
rate at which we are attracting female
talent continues to Increase New recruits
to our European Graduate Scheme and
participants in our Synthomer Talent
Development Pregramme comprised
approximately an equal proportion female
and male employees

As part of national 'Girls and Boys Day
during 2018, children of employees in
Getmany came to our Matl office and
Chemical Park to expenence a workplace
N the chemical iIndustry We are proud

to support this initiative aimed at schoot
children aged between 10 and 15

The event included time spent In our
laboratonies and manufacturing facities

Attraction, retention and
employee development

We were pleased to appoint Holly A

Van Deursen 1o our Board of Directors in
2018, as a non executive director Holly
brings a wealth of chermical industry
experience having worked tor BP and
boardroom experience from vanous
execulive and non executive roles

Synthomer's Asian HR function was
formally recognised by a number of
exiernal agencies for the key initiatives
supporting continuous commitment to
the development of its human talent
Ihraughout the year, there were a range
of MR key imtiatives delivered and it was
good opportunity to externally benchmark
these against other industrigs in the
country This year, the HR Team has
participated in three external HR awards
which were orgamsed by the Miristry

of Human Resource. [IChemE and
MIHRM respectively

In 2018, we continued to offer a bonus
scheme that extends to all levels in our
arganmnsation not Just to senor leaders

Gwen our global focus on delivering and
sustaining world class levels of Safety,
Health and Environment {(SHE) all employees
have some elements of their bonus based
on safety performance measures which pay
out, If targets are met, irrespechve of Group
financial pertformance.

o support a more global approach to

HR. 2018 saw the launch of our SmartHR
systern, empowernng employees and
managers o work together more effectively

Leadership Development

In 2018 we relaunched and expanded

our European graduate scheme with
thirteen new recruits joning our 2018
cohort orientation event in October
Scheme participants have joined us In
several functions including manutacturing,
engireenng, inance. R&D procurement
and commercial,

This year also saw the launch of our new
Synthomer talent development programme
a twelve month structured development
programme aimed at providing existing
employees at an early stage of ther
management career with an accelerated
developrment expenignce that includes
workshops. wirtual learning events, 360
degree feedback and an cpportunity to
work with a mentor drawn from our senior
leadership team

Jennifer Peaks, as one of our talent
development programme members, won
the Prestigious National Chermical Industry
Association's {ClA) Young Ambassadar

of the Year Award in Jung and will lead

the CIA's Future Forum tor 12 months

from September 2018, playing a wital role

In representing the ideas., concerns and
aspiratons of young people n the chemical
industry

Male Female Total
Board 7 2 9
Senicr
management 43 4 47
Employees 2,301 606 2,907

]
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Sustainability continued

People continued

We Care about
our communities

Amongst the activities supporting our
communities in 2018 were:

+ Our Head Office charity auction
raised £20,000 for the Make a
Wish Foundation

+ Collections for several charties and
day care centres, including
hundreds of items collected in a
‘reverse Advent Calendar’ appeal in
Harlow and a ‘Wish Tree’ campaign
across our German sites supporting
local hospitals

+ Kuala Lumpur Office members
engaged in several fund-raising
activities to support the ‘Lend a
Hand' programme In Malaysia,
supporhng shekters for abandoned
or neglected children

‘We Care’

Synthomer engages with its empioyees
and CoOmmUMtiEs IN Various ways on sites
around the world In order to heighten
awareness, visibility and promotion of these
activities, the Group launched its 'We Care'
nitiative CSR/sustainability ambassadors
rolled out the campaign on several sres,
aimed at creating engagement, nspirng
opportunities and empowering Synthomer
employees who are passicnate about
making a difference 1o those around them to
reach out and champion work in this area

In 2019, ‘We Care' will be expanded

as a key part of our sustamabllity

identity externally as well as internally,
highlighting promotion not just of our
community engagement but our focus
on more sustamable and environmentally
fendly products.

Our commitment to science and
aducation

We continue to be active supporters of the
3CI (Society of Chemical Industry) with
Robin Harrison, Global Innovation Director,
on the Board of Trustees and sevaral of our
senior leaders active committee members

In 2019, we will again be a lead sponsor of
the Bright SCldea Challenge, having been

a sponsor of the launch of this initiative In
2018 This competition 1s aimed at university
students developing entrepreneural

skills. The competihion asks participants

to develop Innovative scientfic deas

and present them as part of a business
presentation to a panel of ndustry experts

We are active In supporting the SCI ‘'mid
careers workstream', a group of iIndustry
leaders looking at ways to develop the
careers of scientists mid-way through
ther caieers

Our CEC, Calum MaclLean, 1s a member
of the SCI's Chemustry Council, a group
comprising some of the most senior
leaders in the UK Chemical sector with a
focus on understanding and advancing the
strategic needs of the industry in the UK,

In 2018 we continued to support acadernic
study in the form of sponsorship of PhD and
Masters students in the UK and Malaysia

Cur business in Malaysia hosted 38
undergraduate industnal placements

10 2018 and cur R&D statf worked with
several Malaysian universities to contrnibute
to the development of therr syllabus and

n delivenng lectures, We supported
unversities, celieges and secondary
schoals across Malaysia by supplying latex
gloves for use by staff and students

Ags the polymer industry technica!
representative, we were apponted by
Malaysia Institute of Chemistry to jon

the JTC-IKM Working Committee under
instruction of the Malaysia Qualification
Agency, (MQA) to draft Malaysia chemustry
degrees program standards, which

will serve as a primary reference for all
unersities in Malaysia when they form their
syllabus tor chemistry degree programmes
The standard wilt be used as a mandatory
reference for the accreditation of chermistry
degree programmes by the MQA

Synthomer once again participated in the
Chemistry at Work showcase in the UK
This has now become an annual event In
the Essex focal section of the Royal Society
of Chemistry Outreach programme, with
members of R&D presenting on Synthormer
products and processes, and actively
promoting science, technoiogy, engneering
and mathematics (STEM) careers
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Sustainable
value chain

Foliowing our matenally assessment,
product safety has now been includsd
within the value chain pillar, reflecting ns
fit within the R&D and regulatory affairs
organisational structure in Synthomer

Supply chain engagement
Synthomer requires any indmidual or
antity acting on its behalf, whether as

a consultant. representative, agent or
distributor to know, understand and abide
by the laws and regulations applicable in
the country or countries in which they act
for Synthomer. The requirements are set
out In detait within the Business Policies in
our Code of Conduct descnibed earlier

Betore a vendor 1s on-boarded and
approved for purchase and use Synthomer
employs multiple assessment processes

A periodic review of key supphers s camed
out to assess performance of the suppher
aganst critarna covering technical support
comrmercial performance, reputation
ncluding REAChH. and local regulatory
comphance We also carry out perodic
supply chain risk reviews and continually
build and improve the raw matenals anc
vendor on boarding processes

and procedures

Following a review of our practices and
wlentiication ol areas ior mprovement o
relation to our CSR rating from EcoVadis, in
2018 we undertock an exercise to improve
how we assessed the performance of
suppliers with regard to sustainability, This
included changes to audit processes and
guestionnaires, and the initial roll out of a
suppler audit schedule as per the targets
and objectives descrnibed in our 2017 CSR
Report The 2018 Sustainability Repart
will provide more detalls on the status of
this wark

R&D and new product development
Synthomer pnides itselt on ts innovative
product development, and in 2018
successfully launched new formaldehyde
free SBR binders for textile {Litex AlkaShield
1543 and Litex QuickShield 1545), with

the new products being awarded 'Best
Inncvation 1n Textile Chemistry’ at the
Future Textile Awards 2018

In addition in 2018, a comprehensive

lIfe cycle analysis was undertaken on

our SyNovus  glove product, wiich
demonsitated hal wee delrer s goimie antly
lower environmental impact than previous
products, driven by lower energy use on
the glove dipping ne

Product safety

The majenty of Group products are water-
based emulsions that are not deemed to be
hazardous chemicals

However, for those that are hazardous,
Synthomer 1s committed to providing its
customers with comprehensive and legally
comphant safety data sheets in all the
markets we serve

Qur central regulatory aftairs department
also manages our ongoing REACHh
complance activities through our supply
chain and has been active in preparing for
the potential impact of Brexit on chemicals
registered within and transported to the UK
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Sustainability continued

Health and safety,
and environment

Management of Safety, Health and the
Environment s the most mature aspect
of the Group's sustanability activities and
remains a critical material aspect for both
internal and external stakeholders

In line with our SHE Policy, the Board, Chief
Executive Otficer and executive committee
are fully committed to improving SHE
pertormance and engaging and involving
employees at all levels in all locations

I our SHE programmes Effective SHE
leadership to deliver SHE performance

Key SHE programmes

Group’s Safety, Health and
Environment Management

System {(SHEMS) standards
and policies

Qroup SHE audits

The Group Acclident
and Incident Management
System [(AIMS)

SHE training,
communication
and support

Process Hazard
Assessment (PHA)

1s a primary duty and expectation of
management at all levels in the Group,
aligned to our three long term goals

1. To have no accidents or incidents,

2. To have no adverse impact on the
health of those who work in, or live near
our operations, nor on the heatlth of
those who use our products, and

3. To mimimise any envircnmental burden
created by our activities.

Key practices and programmes
The table below highlights some of the
SHE management practices and activihes
undertaken in 2018 and plarned for 2019,

Key measures, SHE performance indicators
and SHE audit results are reported to the
Board, the executive commirttee and to

the regional management meetings on a
monthly basis,

2018 SHE key actions

Complstion of revised Lock-Out Tag-Out
guidance; development of self-assessmant
questionnaires to assist internal

audtt process.

New cycle of auditing with continued
process safety focus; move to nsk based
frequency of auditing.

Effective use of lessons learnt and site
review of high potential ncidents to help
prioritise where to focus resource to
improve performance.

Development of modular in-house process
safety training tallored to our technologies
and processes.

Increased level of support vs audit

to achieve targeted improvements in
performance based on findings from last
audit cycle.

Warking with sites to develop a programme
of standardised SHE routines to back-up all
other major SHE initiatives.

Continuation of PHA revalidation process
across lower risk profile sites.

KPI tracking of significant actions

from 2017 PHAs as high priority SHE
improvement plan tems ~ >50% all high
priority actions completed.

Ervironmental work programmes are
focused on ensunng both legal comphance
and dnving continual Improvement as

part of our commitment to our matrix SO
14001 certification (all operating sites now
certified) and ISC 50001 certification in the
UK, Germany and Czech Republc

Embedding of SHE routines
Following the 2017 implementation of our
Permit to Work (FTW) and Management of
Change (MOCY) improvement programme
n 2017, 2018 saw increased focus on
tracking and learning from ‘Fundamental
Issues’ dentfied during monitoring and
the establishment of standardised monthly
and guarterly routines t¢ fermally monitor
progress at site level

2019 SHE key focus

Supporting sites in mesting our
standards through generation of
‘Statements of Essential Requirements'
- getting out in more detail what good
compliance looks like.

Continuing Self Assessment
Qusstionnaires audit activity and
ncreased networking / cross-site
auditing to share best practice.

Continuous improvernent including
reviews and audit mput.

Full roll-out of internal process safety
training, linked to bowtie and barrier
analysis of sites’ own identified
significant hazards.

Completion of high pricrity PHA actions.
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Alongside turther evelution of our web
based KPI dashboard, more structured
and regular reviews are allowing sites and
the Group to quickly identify performance
trends and potential areas of weakness, as
well as showing positive improvements as
the effects of scme of our actions - such as
‘Fundarmental Issues’ lessons learned. and
improved tranmg on specific nsk hazards, -
are realsed

Health and wellness

As part of cur health management
programme in Germany, we offered twelve-
week running coaching for begmners and
advanced runners. A total of 33 employees
signed up to take advantage of the
opportunity to start runming orimprove their
running training under the guidance of an
expert running coach

As part of our SHE Principles 'Look

After Yourself” and 'Look After tach

Other’ this year we promoted the ‘Be
Supported’ campaign, which aims to
support employees and therr famihies
facing déhculties by providing a confidential
helpling, and useful nformation via a
website In partnership with AXA PPP
Healthcare we aim to give every UK
employee access to infarmation, support
and counseling to help with any aspects of
dally work and home Iife that have become
challenging The service ncludes guidance
when experiencing a medical Issue as

well as practical impartial mformation

and support on everyday matters such

as dealing with debt, buying a house and
consumer nghts

We also continued 10 run health and
wellness sessions N Germany far our
shift based manufacturing staff on topics
selected by the employees beforehand,
including nutrition and meal design
during shift work, sleeping and relaxation
Sesswons included input from external
experts and practical learning

Black Book

Synthomer has always besn committed to
ensuring that we learn lessons from both
external and internal incidents.

In 2018 we introduced our 'Black Book’,

a collection of lessons learned from across
the Group highlighting 20 incidents and
significant near misses from the past

two decades, using the bowtie format to
highhght which barrters, that should have
been n ptace, were either missing

or failed.

All operating site managers were Issued
with copies and on the anniversary

of these incidents have been tasked

with revisiting the events and, where
applicable, the response that they made to
any onginal lessons learnt to validate that
the actions taken have been embedded.

These events will continue to be revisited
on an annual or bi-annual basis to ensure
we embed the learning and strengthen
corporate memory.

:
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Sustainability continued

Sustainability performance

The following performance data predominantly covers the health, safety
and envircnmental areas - progress against some of the new KPls for the
other pillars, ahgred with the GRI Standards, will be covered In the

Sustamnability Report.

Health and safety

Occupational safety

+ Recordable inury case rate IRCR)
of 0.23 per 100,000 hours worked

+ =3 day lost time injury rate of 0 14
per 100,000 hours worked

The Group's main lagging indicator of SHE
Injury performance 1s the recordable injury
rate for accidents involving more than first
aid treatment, 2018 regrettabily saw an
increase 0 the number of recordable injuries
up to sixtgen, from the record low of nine In
2017 The associated frequency rate of 0.23
per 100,000 hours worked was the second
best rate N the Company's history

Qur objective 1s 1o have no accidents or
Injures on our srtes, and analysis of the
injuries reported found a significant number
refated to ‘ine of tre’ ncidents involving
contractors In 2018, we will be looking

to improve our contractor management,
induction and permit systems, focussing
on permit acceptor traming, mcluding our
‘lne of fire’ and high hazard work guidance,
now expanded to nclude videos on hot
work and confined space entry work,

There were No reported cases of disease
attributed to occupational factors during
the year

Process safety

+ Best ICCA Process Safety Event rate
since tracking started of 014 per
100,000 hours

+ No incidents resulting N serious injury
or damage

Ensuring the safety of our operations s

of paramount mportance to the Group
Since 2015 we have recorded, rated and
tracked process safety events (PSE) using
a 4-ter scoring system where tier 1 and 2
incidents fler 1 being more severe) meet
the definmion for a ‘Hepotlable PSE hom
the International Council of Chemical
Associgtion's (ICCA)

There was a 23% improvement In the

PSE rate. with ten incidents reported
compared to thirteen in 2017 Ongoing
focus on Improving engineering standards
and addressing human factors issuas will
help us continue to dnve this rate lower
More information wil! be provided n our
Sustanability Report

Environment

2018 was a challenging year with regard to
meeting our environmental performance
targets, The figures reported below

reflect the new acquisition In Austna (from
February 2018) and the tull year mpact
[compared to ten months In 2017) of the
Specialities site 1 Belgium

Achieving the 2021 targets set last year
remains our objective, with continued focus
on the ‘Ter 1" sites contributing most 1o the
overall igures

As noted earlier, the Group has better
awareness and recognition of the impact
that M&A activities can have on its overal
sustainability profile and performance.

In 2018, 1t ntroduced changes to its
assessment approach to strengthen our
processes for evaluating these potential
impacts, nsk and opportunities

Several adiustments to the 2017 baselne
data have been made following internal
review and vetification — in partcular all
intensity figures have been revised following

a review of how the Czech plant’s production
sales volumes had been accounted for in the
cajcutations. This has led to an increase In the
intensity factor numbers for 2016 and 2017
Other changes are noted n the following
sections where relevant

Energy
+ Overall pnmary energy consumption
increased 3.9% to 5,560,467 G

+ Specific energy consumption
decreased 0 5% to 3.524 GJ
per tonne sales production

The increase in absolute consumption 1s
related to increased production volumes
on larger sites. high production of low
monomer conversion grades in Malaysia,
as well as the BASF Pischelsdorf
{Austnia) acguisthon,

Several projects that have bhoth energy
and emissicns improvement benefits

are in the pipeling that will mprove
performance, targeted on the six sites
with the largest energy and carbon
foctprint, but achievement in 2018 was
slightly behind target More information on
current and planned activities will be In the
Sustainability Report

Water withdrawal
+ Water withdrawal Increased 7 4%
10 6,159,664 m*

+ Specific water withdrawal rose 2 9%
to 3 904 m’ per tonne

in previous years Synthomer has reported
‘water usage' as metered water totals
excluding river water used for once through
cooling on several sites, and ‘water
consumption' as all metered water

To algn properly with GRI Standards
defintions moving forward, mottics on
‘water withdrawal’ will cover al' metered
usage {as per the previous "water
consumption” figure). and we will also look
to report water usage / consumption in our
sustainability report.

The absoclute increase in 2018 1s related to
both production increases on some largsr
sites in Asia, commissioning activiies and
in particular Increased reguirement for
cooling water {onice through) on one of
our German sites owing to high rnver water
temperatures There were also significant
reductions in water withdrawal on other
sites as a result of process optimisation
and reduced demands for cleaning

Vanance s expected year to year since the
majority of our products are water based
dispersions with some changes down to
product mix and volumes As with energy,
opporturtties to improve water efficiency
will be bult in to sites manufacturing
strategies and emaronmental targets on a
prioritised basis in order to bring us back
on track with the longer term targets
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Waste

+ Total waste generated increased 21%
10 34,190 tonnes and waste to landhll
necreased 49% to 8 018 tonnes

+ Specific wasle generahion rose 16% to
0.022 tornnes per tonne sales production
and specific waste to fandfil 429 to
0 005 tonnes per tonne

An expectation of increased one off waste
levels was highhghted i last year's C5R
Report, with significant one-off waste
guantities associated with major capital
projects in Malaysia and Germany, removal
of old waste matenals and asbestos

Part of the ncrease 1s associated with
production. where some srtes have

had qualty 1ssues that resufted in non
hazardous coagulum waste levels
increasing. Process improvermnent projects
and guality control work 1s focused on
reducing these figures, and we continug o
seek opportunitigs to divert waste streams
away from fandhli

Greenhouse gas emissions

The Group reports environmentai KPls

In the format recommeanded by the
Department of Environment, Food and
Rural Atfairs (DEFRA), with Annual Reports
containing data for each year since 2005
on a three year rcling basis

Reporting parameters

The 2016 financtal year reporting mcludes
all manufacturing operations, all office
locations co-located with manufactunng
and those listed as contact locations in
the Annual Report or on the Company’s
website 1t does not include some very
amall locations such as home offices
Ihese locations will have no matenal effect
on the Group's overall GHG emissions,
being estimated at considerably less than
0 1% of the Group total

Figure 1 Recordable injury Case Rates
(Injuries per 100,000 hours)

Figure 4 Total Waste Disposed To Land
L onnes waste per production tonne!

All known emissions from manufactuning
processes have been included Specifically
this covers direct energy usage and the
indirect energy costs of heating, cooling
and other site services where thase are
provided by a third party They include
estimates for the effects of the release

of volatle organic compounds (VOCs)

and refrigerant gases The only known
emissions which have not been included
are cirect emissions of CO, from on-ste
waste treatment faciliies that have not
currently been quanbfied, but which are not
beleved to have significant matenal impact
on the overall figures reported

The Group has no known Uses or

releases of perfluorocarbons or sulphur
hexatluonde All releases ol NO | are
associated with energy production and
are not sepatately quantimed The Group
continues to report Scope 1 & 2 emissions
No eshmate has been made of Scope

3 emissions owing to the complexity of
the company supply chan. The Group
continues to use emissions per production
tonne as its intensity ratio

Calculation methods

Data sources for emissions factors {CO )
are DEFRA (dataset with published in
June 2018) and the IEA {International
Energy Authority

All direct energy production from fossil fuels
has been aggregated on a Group-wide
basis and converted to CO e by using the
appropriate DEFRA emissions factors. No
allowance has been made for possible
country to country vanation in calonfic value
or GO emission factors for pnmary fuels

Figure 2 Total Net Primary Energy Usage
(Giga Joules per production tonne;

Figure 5 Global Warming Burden
[Tonnes CO oquivalont released per
productan torme] [Includes GO from
encray qeneraticn use)

Clectricity has been converted to CO e

on a country by country basis Emissions
factors from DEFRA were used for UK gnid
electricity and for overseas grid electricity
from the relevant IEA “World CO Emissions
from Fuel Combusticn” databases In
accordance with UK government guidance,
factors used for 2018 reporting are based
on 20186 validated data

Several sites within the Group purchase
certfied gieen’ electnicity Electnorty for
these locations has been given a2 CO e
emissions factor of zero in calculating
energy related emissions totals These
nclude the sites in the Netherlands, Marl
IGaermany) and all sites in the UK For this
year's reporting, we have also sought to
obtain market-based emissions factors
for electricity from supphers of standard
grid fuel mix tanffs This data s stidl under
review so was not avalable m time for
publcation of this report - however, we
remain confident that we can cbtain this
data for all cur European operations as

a mirmmurm

Synthomer’s site In Stalingtorough (UK)
takes most of its electriony from an exclusive
contract with an adjacent waste incinerator
operated by Newlincs This electncity is
certified as 'yreen’ by the UK government
As a mixture of waste 1s deemed both
renewable and non-renewable, 1 does not
have a zero emission factor For 2018, the
apphed emission factor for electnerty from
Newlncs 1s based around that determined
for the site’'s Climate Change Agreement
{CCA) reporting of arcund 0 50 kg CO e per
kWh The site 1s also provided with indirect
heating in the form of hot water

from Newlincs

Figure 3 Total Water Withdrawal
m per production tonne)

Figure 6 Recordable Process Safety
Event Rate
(Incicdents per 100 Q00 hours

)

Hodas 31Bajens
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Sustainability continued

vOCs have been aggregated on a Group
basis and converted to CO e using a factor
of eleven Thig figure has been used by UK
CIA member companies since 2005 and

1s at the upper end of the range for VOCs
Information on the release of refrigerant
gases has been collected for the past six
years Releases of each individual gas have
been aggregated each year to give a Group
release total and then converted to CO e
using the equivalence factors given by
DEFRA for each gas The emissions factors
applhcable to refngerant release n 2018

are as per those in 2016 and 2017 as no
changes were reported by DEFRA-Global
warming Potential (GWP) factors from the
IPCC 4th assessment report

Performance In 2018
+ Total CO_equivalent emissions increased
2 4% to 311,893 tonnes

+ Emussions per tonne sales production
decreased 1 8% to 0.198 tonnes per
tonne aganst the revised 2017 baseine

+ VOC emissions dropped 14% to
141 tonnes

+ Increase of 33% 1N reported refrigerant
losses to 2,355 tonnes / equivalent CO
losses rose to 7,627 tonnes

The absolute increase in emissions was
targely due to higher production and
therefors demand on our larger sites,

but this higher cutput also meant that
the intensity of our emissions N terms of
releases per tonne were reduced 15% of
the absolute increase related to emissions
from the plant in the Czech Repubhc

that uses brown coal and the Group

1S reviewing optiens relating ta the fuel
balance on this site.

The reduction n reported VOG emissions,
full realisation of some energy related
projects implemented during 2017 and
some smaller projects completed n 2018,
as well as the purchase of "green” gnd
electricity for all UK and Dutch sites, also
helped us make progress towards our 2021
target Whilst year on year we are currently
shghtly behind target, we are confident we
can achigve the 2021 goals.

Changes in the emissions factors in
different countries have a significant
impact over which the Company has no
contral For 2018, reporting the emissions
factors for several countries showed an
improvement reflecting work done at
national level to improve the renewables
propoertion of the grid supplies
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Energy and GHQ KPis
This table presents environmental KPIs for 2016-18, with a coverage and format m line with DEFRA's 2013 guidance, to comply with the
reporting required under the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Report of the Directors’ Report) Regulations 2013,
% change % change 3
2018 2017 2016 201620187 2017 - 2018° ..c';.‘
Energy consumption'”
GJ 5,560,467 5352562 5.279.491 5.3% 368% [
Gas 1,561,042 1459411 1375411 13 5% 7.0% g
Light ol 22,625 24,990 24,933 -9 2% “10.5% g
&
Heavy oil 5,533 4,651 4,452 24.3% 18 9% §
Steam (metered) 751,545 /56,890 792,785 -5.2% 07%
Electricity {primary basis) 2,633,115 2,523,661 2,551,197 3 2% 4.3%
GJ/tonne production 3.524 3 541 3.452 21% -0 5%
Ermissions to air?
Carbon dioxide (CQ,) equiv. from energy tonnes™*® 302,717 298,163 296,487 2.1% 15%
Tonnes CO., equivalent/tornne production 0.192 0197 0184 -1 0% 27% .
&
Sulphur dioxide (SOZ) (tonnes) 142.5 1568.3 140.6 14% -10 0% 'ﬁ
Kilos 8O /tonne production 0.0903 01047 00919 1.7% 137% s
Nitrogen oxides (NO ) tonnes* 129.97 12133 12.54 15 5% 71%
Kilos NOx/tornne production 0.0824 0.0803 00736 11 8% ? 6% a"?
Volatile crganic compounds (VOC) tonnes 141 164 184 -236% -14.3% ﬁ
Kilos VOG/tonne production 0.089 0.108 0121 26 0% -17.9% 8
[}
Refrigerant releases (HCFC and others) kilos 2,355 1,773 1,681 401% 32 9% [
;]
Tonnes CO eguivalent 7,627 4,485 5,930 28 6% 701% g
Kilos refrigerant/tonne production 0.0015 00012 0.0011 35.8% 27 3% 3
3
Total Scope 1 CO, equiv. emissions (tonnes) 147,527 138,285 130,505 13 0% 5 9% @
Total Scope 2 CO, equiv. emissions {tonnes) 164,365 165,170 173,840 -5.5% -0.5%
Total carbon dioxide (CO,) equiv. tonnes® 311,893 304,454 304,445 2 4% 2 4% 8
Tonnes CO, equivalent / tonne production 0.198 020 0199 -0 7% -18% :4:‘
Notes
1 Datarelates io sie usage of al fue's ext luding transport of goods to and from site and the moverment of these vehicles on site Internal transp.ort on site
1s included (2
7 Emisnions to dar have been caleulated from the usege of all Tuels exclading transport fuel They therefore, include both drect emizsions and ndrect emissions g
related to botiaht-in &'ectriaity steam, compressed air coaling water ate with the exception of transmission and distributen losses for electr city ithesa losses g
are N Scope 3 this repc s for Scope 18 2) =
3 CO equival n® emismons nelude contnbutions from CH L and N O assocated with cumbustion g
4 NOx emissions are predommantly those from combustion processes The CO- equivalent Global Warming Potential contrinution from these releases s already a
inciaded nthe CO lrom enery. by o e above X
A The fotel GO e igure i the 1ol ol the Ou egavaent fom gnergy 1 the VOG wortnbution {assumng av average factor of 11 kg GO e per kg VOO + the %
refrigerant contribution g
£ Percentage changes are calculated from the base data and may differ shghtly froms ¢ hanges calealated from the data n the tables bedanse of rounding 2
7 Minor changes o repocted eneqgy consumption {gast made following correct ons 10 reported conversion factors for twa sites @
B Tnresoe rentote d e A bt aorea-cd alten sdentiic aton oo anradihlionad release Sou e al e spotial ty plont i Bologiu noahore ghl arie e aw s cndd fnas one -
are Inc rerated This has alsa led to a correctonin the basel ne for Syntnamer s targets to 2021 5
I
@
b
8
3
g
3
]
g
By order of the Board
R Atkinson 2
Company Secretary =
4 March 2019 e
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Introduction to governance

Proactively focusing on corporate

governance agenda

Neil Johnson
Chairman

Dear Shareholders

I am pleased to report on our corporate
governance compliance for 2018 1n
what has been a busy year with much
accomplished by your Board and

tts Committaes,

This witl be our final year of reporting
agamnst complance with the 2016 UK
Corporate Governance Code and we
were fully compliant throughoit the year
cther than m respect of board balance
which was addressed by the appointment
of Holly A, Van Deursen In September
2018 Detalls of the wark of the Nomination
Commuittee In carrying out the search
process which led to the nomination

of Holly are set out in the Nomination
Committee report

Qur 2018 AGM resoluthons all receved
near or above 90% support as did our
June 2018 EGM resolution to increase the
Company's barrowang mi,

Corporate governance developments were
monitared closely dunng the year and a
suite of policies and practices approved
dunng 2018 are now being mplemented
This will ensure we will be well placed

to be fully comphant with the 2018 UK
Corporate Governance Code which
became eftective for us from 1 January
2019 The Company's culture and values
was a key governance focus for the Board
with the launch of a new Code of Conduct
and indepéndently hosted whistleblowing
helphne toward the end of the year which
the Board will assess and monitor an an
ongoing basis.

The Board 1s also focused on improving
diversity and a review of its succession plan
which 15 underway will take Into account
the need to develop a diverse pipeline as
well as assessing the skills and expenence
required for its future needs

The internal performance evaluation of the
Board and vs Comurutteas carned out at
the end of the year built on the externally
facirtated evaluation carned out in 2017
and drew out further ways to improve

our boardroorm processes winch we will
impiement in 2019 These improvements
will iIncrease the effectivenass of the Board
and the way 1t operates 50 that the non-
executve directors can concentrate on
those areas where they can make the
most impact

Laoking ahead the governance agenda
remains full and will iInclude the trennial
review of our remuneration palicy which we
will consult shareholders on in the autumn
ahead of sesking approval at the 2020 AGM.

Further details of the work of the Board and
its Committees in support of the Group
strategy dunng 2018 1s contained In the
following pages of the governance section,

Neil Johnson
Chairman
4 March 2019
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Compliance with the UK
Corporate Governance Code
The Beard considers that it has complied
throughout the inancial year ended

31 December 2018 with the provisions set
out in the 2016 UK Gorporate Governance
Code {the Code)", other than in respect

of Code Provision B 1 2 {board balance)
Further details on how this non-complance
was remedied during the year s contained
In the letter from the Chairman and the
Nominabion Committee report on pages 58
and 72 respechvely

Application of the Code
The main principles of the Code were
apphed as follows'

Leadership and effectveness

Operation of the board

The actvities of the Company are
controlled by the Board which, dunng
2018, compnsed two executve directors
and six non-executive directers until the
appointment of Holly A, Van Deursen in
September 2018 when the number of
non-executive directors increased to seven
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
Ctticer are clearly divided between Neil
Johnson who heads the Board in hig
capacity as non-executive Chairman and
Calum MacLean who has responsibility for
the running of the Company s business as
Chuet Executive Officer The non-executive
directors all have wide business and
boardroom experience ganed in a broad
range of business sectors, details of which
arg given on pages 60 and 61

The Board has reserved {o itself a schedule
of matters which inciudes setting long-term
objectivas for the Group and the strategies
to be employed in achieving them The
Board has delegated 0 the Chief Executive
Ofhicer responsibility tor the development
and preparation of the business plan and
the annual budget for recommendation to
the Board As the senior executive director,
the Chief Executive Officer 1s tesponsible
for all aspects of day-to-day operational
control of the Group and execution of the
Group strategy The Chiet Executive Officer
has establishect and charrs an Executive
Committee {whose other members are

the Chief Financial Cfficer, the Chief
Counsel and Company Secretary. and the
operational and functional presidents for the
Group) to assist um in the performance of
fug duties and which meets once a month

The Charrman has avalable to lum the
minutes of the Executive Committee and all
directors receive a monthly management
report compnsing business, inancia and
safety, health and environmental reviews
from the Chief Finaneial Otficer,

The Board has established Audit,
Nomination, Remuneration and Disclosure
Committees which are discussed cn

pagoe 65

MNote
Adullvers on of the Code Gan be found on the
Finanaal Reporting Counail s (FRC) website
wiww frc org uk

Governance snapshot
Board diversity - nationality

British
_ Malaysian ~ ~ "
American

N
.A.;_A._A.@

Board diversity - gender

1 Male R 4
2 Female R -

Board tenure

1 O-5years
2 5-10years
3 >10years

Hodel aiBejeng
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Board of Directors

Dr J J C Jansz

Independent non-executive director
Nationality. Dutch

Positicn and date of appointment: Independent
non-executive director since Apnl 2812, member of
the Audit and Remuneration Committeas

Key appointments: Just s founder and rmanaging
director of Expertise Beyond Borders BV, an
independent business and technology
rmanagement consultancy providing services o the
global chermical industry He s Chairman of Econic
Technologies Limited and a senior advisor at
Natriurn Capital Limited

Skills and experience: Just has over 30 years
chemical Industry experience at Shell, Basell and
LyondellBasell Until July 2010 Just was president,
Technology Business, and a member of the
management team of LyondellBasel, overseaing
process tachnology heensng, polyolefin catalyst=
and new ventures Just has extensive expenence i
the polyolefin industry and related value chans, n
commercialisng innovation and n monetsing 1P
Just has previous expenence as a non-executive
director n the US and as an advisor in Saudh Arabia

N A Johnson

Chairman

Nationality: Bntish

Paosition and date of appointment: Charman of
the Board and the Nomination and Disclosure
Committees Nell jomed the Board in 2011 and was
appointed Chairman in May 2012

Key appointments: Neil is Chairman of Matabihity
Operations Group plc retinng April 2019), Centaur
Medha pic and Electra Private Equity plc and the
sanior Independent non-executive director of the
Business Growth Fund

Skills and expenence, Nell held senior executive
posiicns at British Aeraspace and in the UK motor
manufactunng industry before becoming Chief
Executive of RAC Holdings from 1995 1899

Neil has considerable expenence as an
independent nan-executive director and public
company charrman gained in multiple sectors

and geographies

C A Johnstone

Independent non-executive director
Nationality: Bnihsh

Position and date of appointment; Independent
non-executive director since March 2015, Charr of
the Audit Committee, member of the Nomination
and Remuneration Committees

Key appointments: Caroline 1s Char of Reece
Group Limited, non executive director and Chair of
the Audit Committee of Shepherd Building Group
Limited and s a member of the governing council of
the University of Leeds She was apponted as a
non executive director of Sprax Sarco Engineering
ple with effect from 1 March 2019 She also
provides consulling services to a range of global
chemical and industnal organisations

Skills and experience: Caroline 1s a chartered
accountant and member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of Scotland She was a
partner in PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwG) untit
2008, having worked extensively with large global
arganisations on turnaround, culture change,
delivenng value from mergers and acquisitions and
cost optwmisation programmes  She sat on the
board ol the Assurance practice of PwC in the UK

€ G MacLean

Chief Executive Officer

Nationality: British

Position and data of appointmant: Chist Executive
Officer since January 2015, member of the
Disclosure Commitieg

Key appointments: Calum was appointed as a
non-executive director of Saudi Basic Industries
{SABIC) headquartered in Riyadh in October 2017
and of Claniant Limited. an assocoiated company of
SABIC, in October 2018

Skills and expetienca; Calurn was previously a
senior board executive of INEOS and was a founder
member of the business N 1998 At INEOS he was
executive charman ot INEOS Olehns and Polymers
Europe and charman of Styrolution. INEOS's jont
venture with BASF, and Petroineos Retining, INEOS's
joint venture with PetroChina  Calum had been Chief
Executive of 2 number of its prncipal business units
and actively nvalved in merger and acquisitions
strategy and implementation Pricr to INECS, he
spent six years at Inspec {International Speciahty
Chemicals), a publicly Iisted company on the London
Stock Exchange that was onginally formed through a
management buyout of BP Chermicals

Dato’ Lee Hau Hian
Non-executive director

Nationality: Malaysian

Position and date of appointment:
Non-executne directer since 2002, first joined the
board in 1893 and stood down in 2000 to become
an alternate director

Key appaintments: Hau Hianis a drector of Kuala
Lumpur Kepong Bhd and 1s the president of the
Perak Crinese Maternity Association He also
sarves as a director of Yayasan De La Salle

Skills and experience: Hau Hian 15 the managing
director of Batu Kawan Bhd, a listed Malaysian
Investments holding campany. wath interests in
plantations and chernicals manufactunng
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S G Bennett

Chilef Financilal Officer

Nationality: British

Position and date of appointment: Crusf
Frmancial Otficer since May 2015, member of

the Dicclosure Committes

Key appointments: No external appaintments
Skills and experience Stcphen was previously at
INE O35 where ke had been Ghaet binancial Oticor at
Potramcos BRefirang since 2006 In additors to this
rale, Stephion had acted as Ghict tinandial Offic or
of INFOS Upstream Lirmited, a start-up aill and gas
exploration business, and of INEQS Olefins and
Polymers South and INFOS Phenol He joined
Coopers & L ybrand n 18686 and 1s a yuahted
chartered accountant He was at Full Circle
Industries plc as company secretary

and group controller before moving to
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) in 1997

as a drectar in transaction services At PwG he
spenalsed in pubhe and private equity transactons
across a variety of sectors meluding chemicals

H A Van Deursen

Independant non-executive director
Natignality: Amencan

Position and date of appointment Independent
non exacutive director since September 2018
rrermber of lhe Audit and Remuneration
Corrmittees from 1 March 2019

Key appointments: Holly 13 a non-executive
director of Baemis Company, Capstene Turbing
Corparation and Actuard Corporation

Skills and experence: Untl 2005, Flally was Group
Vice President Petrochemicdls at BR? She has
worked in the global chermcal madustry for over
e s At hol e et preosilione g tiss MNorih
Arrensa Furepe and Asia In additeon, Holly has

1T pears Cxper Ol 0ods e O ndie i o

1 thes LSA

The Hon. A G Catto
Non-executive director

Natonality: British

Pesition and date of appointment:

Non executive director since 1981

Key appointments. Alex 1s managng director of
CarrnSea Investments Limted, 2 private investrment
company, and a non-executive director of several
early stage companies that have been backed by
CarnSesa His current other directorships include
Neptune Investment Management Limited

Skills and experience: Prnior 1o the estabhshment of
CarrnSea Alex was a director ot Morgan Grenfell &
Co and then | azard Brothers & Co Ltd

R Atkinson

Chief Counsel & Company
Secretary

Nationality. British

Position and date of appointment. Company
Secretary since 1998, Group Chief Counsel

Key appointments: No external appomntments
Skills and experience Hichard qualined as o
solicitor i 1988 practising as a corporale lawyer
before moving nto industry

B W D Connolly

Senior Independent Director
Nationality: British

Position and date of appuintrment. independent
non-executive director since January 2014, Chair of
the Remuneration Committee. member of the
Audit, Disclosure and Normination Committees
Senior Independent Director since Aprl 2015

Key appointments: Brendari 1s a non executive
directar of Victrex PLC and two private equity
backed companies, one of which he chars

Skilis and expenence: Brendan has over 30 years
expenence in the oif and gas industry Untl June
2013 Brendan was a semor executive at Intertek
Group ple and had previcusly been chief executive
officer of Moody International fwhich was acquired
by Intertekon 2011) Prior 1o Moody he was
man4aging drector of Atos Cngin UK, and spent
more than 25 years of s career waith Schiumberger
N senior international roles over three continerts
Brendan has previous experience as charman of the
remunieration commitise of a UK hsted company
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Corporate governance

Division of Responsibilities

Chairman

+ primarily responsible for the working and effectiveness of the Board

+ facilitating an effective contribution from the non executive directors and a constructive relationship wrth the
executive dirsctors

+ ensuring the balance of membership of the Board Is appropriate

+ ensunng that the Board 1s i full control of the Group's affars and has an effective dialogue with its shareholders

+ leadhng on all aspects of corporate governance

Chief Executive
Officer

+ senior executive responsible for operational management of the Group

+ development, preparation and iImplementation of the Group's strategy as approved by the Board

+ communication of the Group's culture and values

+ communicating the Group's financal performance to investors in conjunction with the Chief Financal Officer
+ keeping the Board fully informed of all maternial 1ssues

Senior Independent
Director

+ to be available to shareholders when concerns have not been resclved through normal channels
+ to lead the annual appraisal of the Charman

+ to develop a balanced understandmg of the issves and concerns of major shareholders

+ to provide a spunding board tor the Chairman

Non-executive
Directors

+ to bring an independeant and objective Judgement to bear on 1ssues of strategy, performance and resources of
the Group
+ to challenge constructively and scrutinise management performance

Board reserved
matters

+ setting of long term objectives and strategies tc be employed 1n achreving them including the approval
of annual budgets

+ policy setting for safety, health and environmental matters, business conduct, diversity and human rights,
recruitment and employment, rsk management and treasury

+ matenal decisions on capital raisng, financial commitments, capital expenditure, acquisitions and disposals
and the prosecution, defence and settlement of ihgation

+ approval of information contaned 1N communicatons to sharehoiders

+ the review and manitonng of performance

Board structure

Audit Committee

Board

Disclosure Committee Remuneration Committee Nomination Committee

Company Secretary

=+ provides advice and services to the Board and its Committees - supports the Chairman in ali governance matters

Chiet Financial
Officer

CEO
Executive
Comimittee
Company Secretary President - President - President - Industnal President — President -
& Chief Counsel Performance Functional Sclutions Specialities, M&A Corporate Qperations
Elastomers and Global HR Development
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Dunng 2018 the Board held nine meetings with an additional
half day dedicated to an annual strategy development review
The directors receive in advance full information on all matters
to be discussed at Board meetings as well as a detailed review
of perfiormance The non-executive directors met once without
the Chairman to appraise his performance The Board met once
without the executive directors to appraise therr performance

Board activity in 2018

In addition, arrangements are made each year 1or the Board to
visit up to two of the Group’s operational sites and meet local
management Ad hoc site visits are facilitated for indvidual non-
axacutive directars on request Duning 2018 the Board held one

of its meetings in Malaysia and 1n conjunction with that meeting
attended the opening ceremony for the latest phase of the Group's
Nitrile latex capacity expansion In Pasir Gudang Presentations

were given by local semor management on strategic issues relating
to the Group’s Asian businesses during the visit.

Innovation

Safety,
health and
environment

Investing in

organic growth

Internal control

Growth through

and nsk acguisition
managéement 3
Governance Financial
and stakeholder rformance
relations pe
i eadership
and people

Board activity in 2018 — Framework focused on strategy

vods) mBalens
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Safety, health and environment (SHE)
SHE performance and initiatives are
reviewed at every meeting supported by

a wntten report and presentation by the
President for Operations

Investing in organic growth
Matenal capital expenditure projects are
subject to Board review and approval
Durning the year investment in a new
mnovation centre for the Asian region
located In Johor Bahru, Malaysia, and
capacity expansion projects at sites in the
UK, France, and the USA were approved
Progress on the major capacity expansion
projects approved In 2016 at sites In
Malaysia and Germany were monitored
throughout the year

Growth through acquisition

The Bnal reviea of thie intearation

and synerqy achievement of the PAC
{Lispersions) acquisition which completed
N June 2016 was carned out Reports
were recelved un the integration of the
Specialty Additives and BAGSE Pischelsciort
acouisitions Several acquisition
opportunities were reviewed and the 'deal
1o¢' was considered at each rmeeting

Financial performance

Financial, operational performance

and strategic mtiatives are reviewed at
every meeting supported by reports and
presentations from the executive directors
and presidents, Detaled reviews of specific
business areas were provided by the
responsible president or functional head

in conunction with budget and strategy
discussions and capital expenditure project
reviews Proposals for the refinancing of
the Group's main borrowmng faciities were
reviewed and approved

Leadership and people

Succession planning processes and
progress were reviewed with support from
the Global HR Director Regular reports
were received from the Chief Executive
Othcer on planming for the introd Lclion

of the new global business structure

which was 'mplemented with eftect from

1 January 2019 |he recommendation of the
Nomination Committee for the appamtment
of an additional ndependent pon executive
director was approvecd

Governance and stakeholder relations
Routing reports on governance and
investor relations matters were given

at each meeting The progress and
implementation of UK legislative and
regulatory corporate governance reforms
dunng the course of the year werg
moritored and the Board's response was
develeped An internal evaluation of the
Board and its Committees was carried out,

Internal control and risk management
As well as receving regular reports from
the Audit Committee on the Company’'s
internal control and risk management
processes particular attention was paid to
Brexit contingency planning

Innovation

As o core pillar of business growth the
global innovation tunction and 1ts resources
together with the product development
pipeline was reviewed at the annual
strategy development mesting

Site visits

The Board wisitedd the Group s Narnle latex
plant at Pasy Gudang (Malaysia) A visit was
also made by some of the non executive
directors to the Group’s plants 0 ftaly
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Corporate governance continued

Board membership and balance

The Charman Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer and
Senior independent Director together with Chairs and members of
the Audit, Nomination, Remuneration and Disclosure Committees
are idenlived on pages 60 and 61 [he Board considers thal Holly A
vian Deursen, Carcline Johnstone, Just Jansz and Brendan Connolly
are independent in accordance with the provisions of the Code

The Board composition remained unchanged until the appointment
ot Holly A, Van Deursen on 21 September 2018 which addressed
the imbalance between the number of independent and non-
independent directors which had pertaned since 1 January 2018

Non-executive directors are appointed for ong-year terms All
dirgctors submit themselves for annual election at eacit Annual
General Meeting.

The table below sets out the number of meetings of the Board.,
Audtt, Remuneration, Nomination and Disclosure Committees
held dunng the year and the number of meetings attendad by
each director. Where a director 1s unable to attend a Board

or Committee meeting g or ner views on agenda lems are
canvassed in advance of the meeting and incorporated into the
discussions The non-executive direciors chsclose 1o the Board
therr other significant commitments,

Board Committees
Called at

Scheduled  shert notice Audnt  Remuneration Normination Disclosure
Number of meetings held 8 3 4 3 1 6
Number of meetings attendad
Stephen Bennett 676 3/3 NAA N/A N/A 6/6
Alex Catto 6/6 3/3 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Brendan Connolly 66 3/3 4/4 373 171 5/6
Holly A, Van Deursen 11 N/A N/A N/A N/A NAA
Just Jansz 6/6 3/3 4/4 3/3 N/A NAA
Netl Johnson G/6 33 N/A, N/A 1”1 &/6
Caroline Johnstone 6/6 3/3 474 3/3 11 N/A
Lea Hau Han 6/6 1/3° N/A N/A N/A N/A
Calum MaclLean 6/6 33 MN/A N/A N/A &6/6
*lwo Board meglogs were called at shortnotice te consider the forme ot he renhae © ng ot the Crgup s md b Eorrownd fac lties which Lee * du dn s unatsle

to join He was however fully briefed and provided with relevant supporting papers and dogumentations and his views on the matters discussed were oblamed n

advance of both meetings

Induction and training

Induction arrangements are in place in order to ensure

new directors receive a full formal and tallored induction on
appaintment Fallowing the appomtment of Haolly A Van Delrgen,
inducticn requiraments were discussed and agreed and
cammenced in Naovember 2018 with buefings from the Company's
lawyers and auditors on the UK regulatory regime for listed
companiés and governance and corporate reporting requirements
respectively Meetings were also arranged with members of the
Executive Commuttee and functional leaders to give an overview
of the Group’s operations markets and head office departments
Arrangements will be made with Holly in 2018 for selected

site visits  The Chairman reviews and agrees the training and
development needs of the directors and the skills and knowledge
oi the Board as a whole are updated by briefings provided by

the Company's internal resources and materials, workshops and
seminars offered by external advisers During 2018 briefings were
delvered to the Board on developments in corporate governance
repcrting and to the Remuneration Committee on governance and
best prachce it remuneration [ he Audit Committee was provided
with updates on governance and corporate reporting by PwC and
a UK pensions workshop was held by Lane Clark & Peacock LLP.

Performance evaluation

Foliowing the externally facitated evaluation of the performance
of the Board, its Committees and directors carned out in 2017 the
perfarmance evaluation carrned out in 2018 involved the following
internal processes:

+ the performance of the executive directors was reviewed agamst
their personal objectives for 2018 by the non-executive directors
and the Chalrman,

+ a meeting of the non executive directors {In the absence of the
Charrman) chaired by the Senior Independent Director was held
to evaluate the performance of the Chairman, taking into acceunt
the views of the executive directors,

+ the effectiveness of the Board and its Commtiees {Audit,
Nomination, Remuneration) was evaluated by way of arn internal
self-assegsment questionnare process, and

+ an assessment of the performance ot individual non executive
directors was carried out informally by the Charrman
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Board and Committee evaluation process
The effectiveness of the Board and its Committees was assessed
internally I 2018 Questionnares were developed and produced
by the Company Secretary in conjunction with the Chairrman

of the Board and the Chair of each of the Audit, Remuneration
and Nomination Committees 1he guestionnaire comprised

open guestions on the workings and effectiveness of the Board
and its Committees. All directors were requested to complete
guestionnaires relating to the Board and each of the Committees
In addrtion regular attendees from management at the Audit
Committee mestings were also requested to complete the
questionnarre relating to that Committee A report was prepared
by the Company Secretary for the Chairman of the Board and the
GCommittee Chanrs and the results of the evaluations were reviewed
and discussed at the Committee and Board meetings held In
February 2019 The outcome of that process 1s reviewed in the
Chairman’s letter on page 58

Board Committees

The Board has formally estalhshed Audit, Nommation.
Remuneration and Disclosure Committees, each with their own
terms of reference which set aut therr respective roles and the
authonty delegated to them by the Board Copies of the terms of
reference are avallable upon request from the Company Secretary
and can also be downloaded from the Company s website,

All nan-executive directors have a standing invitation to attend
Committee mectings unless they are notificd othorwise,

The Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committee reports are
set out at the end of this Corporate Governance report,

Relations with shareholders

Dialogue with instituhonal investors 1s conducted on a regular
basis by the Chief Fxecutive Officer. Chief Financial Officer and

the President - Corporate Development and meetings take place
following the announcement of half and full year results and at
other times according to circumstances In addition to half and full
year reporting. the Board has decided to continue with the practice
of providing intenm rmanagement statements notwithstanding that
it 18 no longer a regulatory requirement to do so

The Board has adopted a set of shareholder communication
principles in order to ensure that Board members devslop an
understanding of the views of the Group’'s major shareholders
These principles require the Charrman to be present with the
Chiet Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer at sufficient
shareholder presentations and meetings that he fully understands
the issues and concerns of major shareholders Alternatively the
Charrman i1s also avallable for meetings with major sharegholders at
their request.

Ihe Chief Executive Otticer reports on shareholder relations ot
each Board meeting Communications with shareholders relating
to corporate governance matters are conducted by the Charman
with the assistance of the Chairs of the Audit and Remuneration
Committees, Reports on all meetings between non-executive
directors and institutional shareholders and therr representative
hocies are given 1o the Board at the first opportunity following such
meetings, as s all correspondence with them

The Senior Independent Director 1s avalable to shareholders if they
have concerns and where contact through the normal channels of
the Chawrman or the Chief Fxecutive Officer has falled to resalve or
for which such contact 1 inapproprate

The Board seeks to encourage parhcipation of alf shareholders,
and in particular private investors, at the Company’'s Annual
General Meeting and endeavours to ensure all Board members
are 1n attendance In particular, the Chairs of the Audit, Nomination
and Remuneration Committees are availlable to answer questions

The Company makes use of its website www.synthomer.com to
communicate with ts shareholders and alsc publishes half and full
year results, Company announcements, share price and corporate
govarnance and other investor infarmation there

Informaticn on the Company's major shareholdings and share
capnal 1s included in the Report of the Directors on pages 89 to 91.

Accountability

An explanation of the cirectors responsibiities for preparning the
financial statements, ther report that the business 1s a going
concern, a viability statement, a responsibilty statement and their
statement as o disclosure of information to the auditor are set out
on pages 90 to 92 Statements by the auditor about its reporting
responsibiliies are set cut on pages 93 to 99

A report on the approach to internal control 1s set out on the
next page. The drrectors endeavour to make the Annual Report
and inancial statements as informatve and under standable

as possible.
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Corporate governance continued

Risk management and internal control

ihe Board of Directors has ultimate responsibility for the Group's
systemns of isk management and internal control and for reviewing
ther effectiveness and sets appropnate pohces {o ensure that

the Code requirements are met The systemns of nsk management
and internal control deployed within the Group are designed

to reduce the nNsks of falure to mest business objectives, but
these nsks cannot be eliminated The nsk management and
internal controf systems adopted can therefore only provide
reasonable, not absclute, assurance about meetmg such busmness
objectives or aganst material misstatement or loss The Group
nsk management framework s set out on pages 32 to 37 Risks
assocated with safety. heakth and the environment are, by ihe
nature of the Group’s business, always of the utmost concern

and the Sustanability report on pages 44 to 57 reviews the
Group's performance in this regard in 2018 The Board confirms
that a robust assessment of the principal risks facing the Group
has been carried out and that it has montored and reviewed the
effectiverass of the Group's nisk management and intermal controt
systems in 2018

The Group s infernal contrals aver the financiaf reporting and
consclidation processes are designed under the supervision of the
Chiet Francial Officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliabiity of financial reporting and the preparation and far
presentation of the Group s published financial statements for
external reporting purposes in accordance with IFRS

The processes which are used by the Board eriner directly or,
where approprate, through the Audit Committes to review the
effectivenass of the internal control and risk management systems
nretaton to the Imanciat reporing process and the process o
preparing conselidated accounts include the following

+ a review of the external and internal audit work plans,

+ considerahon of reports from management and external parties,
includiing the internal and external auditors, on the system of
migrmal financial controd and any matenal control weaknesses,

+ discussion with management of the actions taken on any
possible problem areas for the business thal are dentified
In additron. the Board,

+ recenves copies of the minutes from al Audit Committee
meetings,

+ recenves regular wrtten and oral reports from management
on all aspects at production, operations, iinancial and nisk
management matters

Safety, health and environmental matters
The mantenance of high standards of environmental (together with
health and safety) protection 1s central to the Group’s business

A separate staternent on satety, health and environmental [SHE)
matters has been a teature of the Apnual Report for a number of
years ands contained in the Sustamnability section of the Strategic
Report on pages 44 to 57

Code of Conduct

Dunng 2018 the Group's explanation and communication of its
standards for canducting business, people policies and corporate
citizenship responsibilities were reviewed leading to the launch

of & consolidated and updated Code of Conduct toward the

end of the year, The revised Code of Conduct was published in
thirteen languages in interactive onling and hard copy formats

and delivered to ail of the Group's employees by e-mail and/

or hard copy Code of Conduct “champions” were appointed

In gach country In which the Group operates to assist with the
launch at a local level In order to support the values contained in
the Code of Conduct and promote the Group’s open culture, an
externally hosted whistieblowing helpline, which can be accessed
by telephone and cnling, was put I place N conunction with the
launch of the Code of Conduct. The whistieblowing helphng offers
all Group employees and stakeholders an anonymous platform
{where legally able to do 50} avalable at all times to report uniawtul
or unsthical behaviour, workplace incidents or concerns and to
raise any quenes regarding the application of the Code of Conduct.
During 2019 workshops will be held across the Group to reinforce
the importance of applying the highest ethical standards set out in
the Code of Conduct

The Code of Canduct fwhich also contains details of how

to access the whistleblowing helphne) 1s avalable at

www synthomer com In accordance with the 2018 UK
Corporate Governance Code the Board will undertake a regular
review of the operation of the helpline, the reports arising from
It and the arrangememnts in place tor their investigation and any
follow up actions,

Further detals of the standards, policies, practices and
responsibiities contained in the Code and therr application are
contamed m the Sustainabilty section of the Strategic Report on
pages 48 and 49
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Audit Committee report

Caroline Johnstone
Audit Committee Chair

Audit Committee Membership
Since 1 January 2018

Number of
Appointment mestings
Fostion date attended
Caro'ine Johbnstone Chanr Apnl 2015 4.4
Irdependent non
Just Janaz oxecutive director May 2012 4.4
Scnior macpendent
Brenuan Cennolly ron-exsLut ve director Marc 12014 44
Ingepenaent non
Bolly A Van Deursen exeutiee drector 1 March 2018 ~a

Other attendees - by invitation

Company Secretary 1secretiry to the

Chugt Expruf oo Ot oy Comnutteot

Chiet Fingneral Ot e Groun perat snal Bevies Manager

Director of Group Finance Extcrral Auditors

Dear Shareholders
I am pleased to present the Audit Committee report for the year
ended 31 December 2018

As part of our core remit, the Commitiee has continued to focus on
our oversight of the Group's internal control and nsk management
processes and the development of ow finance. internal audtt

and other control functions. This is particularly important as we
realgn our group structure from a regional to a global focus and
as the rnisk environment continues to evolve, both n the UK and
overseas In 2018 senior management from the Eurcpe, Americas
and Asia reglons as well as Group procurement and trading, [T
and manufactuning met with us to present the risks identified in
ther business area using the Group's nsk management approach
together with mitigating controls to manage the risks We also
asked for regular updates to the Board on particular aspects from
the developing procurement and tracing function

Alongside our formal meetings, members of the Committee visited
our facility in Pasir Gudang {Malaysia) with the rest of the Board
and had the opportunity to meet both statt and customers of the
Asia busness Members of the Committee also separately visited
olr Filage and Sant Albano sites in ltaly as part of an ongoing
programme of engagement wath the business  These vists enable
us to meet vath a wide range of employees to hear directly how the

business is developing and any 1ssues faced by aur pgople. We
are also pleased to hear how all levels of the business are involved
n understanding and managing our busingss nsks Feedback on
these wisits 1s provided to the Audit Committee and Board and we
ask management to consider or addrass maiters raised dunng our
wisits In 2019, Group management wili reflect on the suppotl given
by Group procurement to some of our smaller sites as a result of
feedback received

During the year, the Group introduced a new Code of Conduct
across all gecgraphies and launched a new externat Code of
Conduct and Ethics {whistleblowing) helphne (which 1s outlined in
more detall on page 66) and the Committee had oversight of this
work The new arrangements were rolled out in December 2018
and the Board will monitor the impliementation and use of the Code
ot Conduct and helpling during 2019

In 2018, the Committee will focus on the Group's internal control
and nsk management processes as well as reviewing our recent
acquisttions and capital investments, with a focus on payback
from these investments We will also have a general review of our
key accounting controls acress the business and site reporting.
particularly around costs,

We set out further detalls of our work in the following pages

On 1 March 2019, we added to the Committee and weicomed our
new Independent non executive director, Holly A, Van Deursen,
who brings significant ndustry expenence.

I am happy to answer any questions the sharehclders may have at
any time and lock forward to meeting those who attend the AGM

Caroline Johnstone
Audit Committee Chair
4 March 2018
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Audit committee report continued

Committee membership and meetings In order to address our remit effectively, | believe it 1s important
The Committee is made up of myself (Chair), Brendan Connolly to have those wrth the technical or business knowledge n our
and Just Jansz — our expernence 1s set out on pages 60 and meetings and | am pleased that the Chief Executive Officer and

61 In March 2019, Holly A Van Deursen joined the Committee the Chief Financial Officer both attend our Committee meetings as
I have recent and relevant financidl experience lor the purposes well as other senior members of the Group finance team and the
of Provision G 31 of the UK Corporate Governance Code as a Group Gperational Review Manager (who leads the Internal Audr
Chartered Accountant, my roles charng other Audit Committees functior), PwC, led by audit partner Matthew Mullins, also attend
and my previous position as a partner at PwC Together, the our meetings, Other senior managers have regularly attended
Committee members have a wide range ot financial, operational Committee mestings 1n 2018, at our request Other members of the
and commercial expernence across the chemicals and engineering Board have a stancing invitation to attend meetings unless notfied
sectors and the Board has agreed that the Comrmmttes has otherwise and we regularly have the full board in attendance,

experence relevant to the sectors we operate in

Activities during the year
The Committee met formally four times during 2018 with the following principal activities

Feb Apr Aug Nov
Financial reporting
Full year results preliminary announcement and Annual Report v
Half year results and interm announcement '4
Significant accounting Judgements and estirmnates ' 4
Gong concern and wiability statements v 7
Fair, balanced and understandable statement 4
FRC updates and guidance 4
Alternative Performance Measures s
Update on new accounting standards v v ' v
Internal controls and risk management
Update and specific areas of nisk review® ' 4 4 v
Formal review — internal contrels & rigk assessment processes '
External audit
Assessment of external audror’s independence, objectivity and effectiveness v
Reapporntment of external auditor v
Management representation letter v '
Non-audit fees and services policy v 4

External audit plan ra

Internal audit

Reviewing internal audit reports, progress to plan, actions implementation s v ' '
Assessment of nternal audit effectiveness v v
Internal annual audit programme discussion and approval v v
Other
Interest rate risk review and refinancing v
Update on mplementation of GOPR 'd v '
Review of mandatory traming across the Group v '
Revision of the Code of Conduct and whistieblowing helpline v '
lax strategy review and approval '
Report on whistleblowing, bribery & fraud prevention v v v v
Review and update on the funding arrangements of the Group's pensions "teach-in'
and update on global pension arrangements v v
Review of trangfer pricing arrangements across the Group 4
Audit Commuttee workplan, report and terms of reference update v v
Audit Committes evaluation and actions arising 'd

Sper bt wpgs of rew mamaneraent 10ne A duong e gear medec

Working capital

Business continu ty planning

Capital expendiure roviews,

IT, ncluding manufactunng control systems
Procuremant

the Group 1einant iy proposals were also pnesented at fulh Boart meetings
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The Committee also meets on a regular basis with PwC and

with the Group Operational Review Manager separately without
management present The Committee meets privately as required
to discuss our views on matters such as how we see the company
culture developing and forthcoming agendas

In adaition. outside of the formal meetings. | meet regularly on

a one to one hasis with the Chief Fxecinive Othoer, the Chief
Financial Oificer, olher senior members of the Group inance team
and PwC to develop the Committee's programme of work as well
as review progress In addressing actions agreed by

the Committee

I alse focus on ensuning that we have sufficient tme to address kaey
1Issues In Committee meetings

As set out in my intreductory comments, members of the
Committee visted Pasir Gudang (Malaysia) and also the
manufactuning sites in lkaly durng the year as part of an
ongoing programme of engagement with the business

The role and responsibilities

of the Audit Committee

The Committee has a detalled remit focused on the integnty of cur
financial reporting, internal controls and nsk management, with
oversight of both external and internal audit

The full terms of reference. reviewed and updated dunng the year.
are avallaile on the Company's wehsite www synthomer com

Addressing our remit

Significant areas of judgement and estimate

As part of our menitenng of the integnity of the financial statements,
the Committee assesses whether sutable accounting policies have
been adopted and considers particular areas where management
tas had to exercise judgement or make estimates The main areas
which we reviewed during the year ended 31 December 2018,
together with a summary of our work, are set out below,

+ Taxation
With opelations across aighteen countries, significant judgemernt
has to be exercised by management, with advice from approprate
tax advisors, to artve at tax provisions, given that the final tax
outcome 18 uncertan and may not be known for several years
The Group Head of Tax presented to the Commitiee the basis for
calculating the effective tax rate ncluding whether any local tax
audits were ongoing. and the rationale and judgement for each of
the provisions  The Commiliee retlected on the provisions ir 1he
hght of our Group 1ax strategy and also reflected on the work done
by the externat auditor who alsoc reviewed the jJudgements that had
been made, using tax specialists as approprate, and provided the
Committee with their assessment of the appropriateness of
management judgements The Committee concurred with
managemeant’s view.

+ Pensions
The Group operates a number of defined beneft schemes
{particularly in the UK and Germany) which have significant
habites as outined in note 26 1o the Group inancial statements
Although the UK schemes were closed to future accrual durng
2008, they are still sensitive to changes m actuarial assumphons
The Group uses apprupnately gualfied external actuanal advisers
10 help establish the actuanal assumptons used in the valuaton of
the Group's pension latilibies Dunng ther audi. the external
auditor evaluated the assumptions and methodologes used by
the Group's actuarial advisers and management and assessed
whether the assurmptions made were appropiate and not
materally cifferent from external benchmarks for sirnilar types of
schemes The external auditors rieported to ug that they were

sabishied with the assumptions used ana with the way that the
schemes had been accounted for The Committee reviewed the
agsurmptions and methodolegy used by management, including
camparisons to those used by other companies and concurred
with therr conclusions.

+ Purchase of business’
I he accounting for the acquisition of the BASF Pischelsdorf SBR
business [Austra) is shown in the note 31 to the accounts For
the acquisiion, the assets and liabitties have been included at
fair value with the balance of consideration shown as goodwill
KPMG LLP were engaged to adwvise on the fair value of the
property, plant and egupment {FPE) Overall, therr conclugion
was that the total fair value of the FPE was marginally fugher than
the carrying vatue, mamly in relation to Land and Buildings
KPMG LLP also performed a valuation of the intangibles, of
which the only ene of significant value was the customer
relationshups The external auditors reviewed the work
undertaken by KPMG LLP The Committee reviewed the
methodology used by KPMG LLP along with therr conclusions
and discussed them with the external auditer The Commitiee
concurred with management’'s view on the farr value of the
acquired business.

During the year. we had regular updates on the likely impact of new
accounting standards. Several new accounting standards were
adopted in the year

+ I RS 9 (Financial Instruments) had no materal Impact on our results,

+ IFRS15 (Revenue from Contracts with Customers) -
management undertock a compiete review of revenue
recognition in 2017, wath a detaled questionnaire sent to all sites
and concluded that no maternal changes were required to how
the Group accounts for revenue, and

+ IFRS 16 (L eases) wil be adopted by the Group on 1 January
2019 using the modiied retrospective Implementation method
which was deemed the most approprate and the recguired
disclosure 15 corntamer in the notes to the inancial statements

Fair, balanced and understandable
The work undertaken by management {and reviewed by the
Committee) to support the Beard's statement included

+ gstablishing a working group of key indviduals, who are
approptiately qualfied within the Group to oversee the drafting
of the Annual Report;

+ the Chief bxecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer conlitimimg
that, in thew opinion, the drafting of the Annual Report was 'far,
balanced and understandabie’,

+ where appropriate. reguasting that certain key contnbutors 1o
sections of the Annual Report {for example, presidents and chief
financial officers of business units) sign & declaration confinming
the accuracy of the information provided,

+ arranging for Deloitte LLP, the Company’s remuneration
consultants. to review the Directors’ Remuneration Report and
having our design agency, Lummnous, proofread drafts of the
whole Annual Report,

+ an audit trall was completed by the Director of Group Fmance for
matenat data underpinning non-financial information n the
Annual Report,

+ circulating drafts of the Annual Report to PwC the Committee
and the Board for review; and

+ cliscussing matenal disclosure items at a meeting of the
Committee held in | ebruary 2019

Ihe Committee discussed the Tan, balanced and understandable’
statement at a meeting n February 2019 10 the ght of the above
and, having daone so, recommended that the Board provide 1t in
the form set out on page 92

Hodes #Baensg
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Audit committee report continued

Going concern

The process conducted by management was reviewed by
the Committee to support the Board's statement - the
process included

+ Reviewing the Group's available sources of funding and, n
particutar, testing the covenant and assessing the avalable
headroom using a range of sensitiviies

+ Reviewing the short, medium and long-term cash flow forecasts
In various severe but plausibie scenanos

+ Assessing the tevel of avallable facilities, which are considered
nacessary to support the Group's ability to trade and deliver
future growth.

+ Assessing the Group’'s current and forecast activities, including any
long-term contracts and order books, and thase factors considered
hkely 1o affect iis fulure perforrmance and financial powbon,

The Committee discussed the going concern statement at a
meeting In February 2019 and, having done so, recommended that
the Board provide it in the form set out on page 91

Viability statement

The Board has chosen to consider the prospects of the Group
over a five year penod ending 31 December 2023, consistent with
the frve yoar Stratcgic Plan of the Group, as they consider it 1o be
a period over which the Group actively focuses on its long term
product development and capital expenditure investments

The Committee’s robust assessment of the principal nsks facing
the Group inciuded a review ol the potential impact ot severe but
plausible scenarios that could threaten the viability of the Group
and the potential mitgations that management believes would be
avalable. These scenanos mncluded tradng volatity, increased
competition, disruption as a result of Brexit, delays in capacity
improvermnent, falure of new products and the temporary loss of a
manufacturng site, They also included significant foreign currency
exchange rate and interast rate movements, which are deemed to
be outside the control of the Group The Committee discussed the
viabuity statement at a meeting in February 2019 and, having done
so, recommended that the Board prowvide it in the form set out on
page 37

External audit
At its meetings mn November 2018 and February 2019, the
Committee ciscussed the 2018 audit process:

Outcome/action 1aken

November 2018

by the Gommittee

PwiZ s audit pian

Challenged and agreed by
the Comrmttee

PwC's audit nsk assessment (discussed
with key tunclion and group managers)

Discussed with Pwl (including
t o approan oo adentificd rnishst

Matenaty level for the audit

Agreed with Pw(;

&t a eimiar tevel W0 2077, atot Yeviewnyg
lora! materiality 1ocel statutory ace outs
required dand site visite by PwC yroup tean

PwC's resources

Reviewed and discussed with PwC,
m particular the expenence of PwG
audit partners in wur key torntories

Audit fee and terms af engagement

Reviewed, challenged and
approved by the Committea

Fenruary 2019

C ot abion of PG s aunit prlan

Fw o cont med no malenal
Lhanges made to agreed plan

ot fncinage sagrbic ang L sues and oyhar
ALLOLNTNG (LdgEIments

Duegg-mon ath (23 C and manaaemen

Management representation letioer

Reviewsd and approved by the Committae

MPwC s independence dnd obyoctraty and
quality control procedures

Indepe nde e and olne b, confomed
qualily contron procedures reviewsd

The Char of the Committee was in regular discussion with PwC's
lead audt partner to discuss the progress of the audit. Ahead of
and fellowing the canciusion of the February 2019 meeting, the
Committee met PwC without management being present no
significant 1ssues were raised

Systems of risk management and internal
controls effectiveness

Each year, the Board is reguired to conduct a review ot the
effectiveness of the Group’s systems of nsk management and
internal control The Board's statement about this review 1s set
out on page 66 At a meeting in February 2019, the Committee
reviewed management’s assessment ot the key elements ot these
systems and confirmed ther overall effectiveness. [n forming s
conclusion, the Commuttee reflected on matters such as

+ The internal audit programme completed during 2018 and the
progress In implementing actions ansing therefrom

+ Our own programme of nisk reviews and discussions with senior
managers across the Group throughout the year

+ Assurance {Commuittee papers, Board and Committee
presentations and discussions) that management contmued to
review the Group's key financial controls to ensure that they
supported the Group’s continued growth,

+ The key controls guestionnaire, which 1s completed and signed
by each operating unit across the Group on a quarierly basis

+ Half yearly representations from financial and commercial
management in the business to the Chief Financial Officer.

Whistleblowing

At each Committee meeting dunng the year, the Committee was
provided details of the issues reéported durnng thé pericd and how
management had investigated them, together with any update
on ongoing INvestigations No matenat 1ssues were reported
duning the year. As discussed above, a new Code of Conduct
and a new external (whistlieblowing} helpling was implemented in
Dacember 2018

Internal audit

The Group Operational Review Manager (who leads the internal
audit funchion] was appointed in 2016 We have a dedicated and
focused in-house internal avdit function, which draws on specialist
resources as required At each meeting, the Committee reviewed
progress against the internal audit annual plan and explored areas
identified for action. The Committee alsc reviewed completed
audn reports, Tocusmg on recurnng themes, which rmight require
group actions, and areas where there was divergence from self
assessments prepared

To assess the eftectivenass of Internai audit the Committee
reflected on

+ Internal audit reports during the year

+ Feedahack from operational and fnance functions on the auality
of the internal aucrt reports and activities Iin the form of a
queastionnaire, which was circulated to key managers

+ Comphance with appropriate internal audit professtonal
standards

+ Implementabion of internal audt recommendations

70
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Responses to the guestionnaire Included positive feedback around
planning and qualty of internal audit and there was a request

to engage local language rescurces to make the audits more
efficient In the coming year, the function will focus on conciuding
the audit reperting process and ensuring implementation of
recommendations on a imely basis, On the basis of cur review, the
Committee concluded that the function was operating effectively
although we continue to review the resources reqguired for the
developing Group

The mternal audit ptan for 2018 was reviewed at our measting in
November 2018 and includss auditing areas which account for more
than 85% of operating profit as well as certain key central tunctions
such as capital expenditure approval processes and complance
Speciahsts will be Included N a number of audits as appropnate

External audit relationship

Auditor objectivity and independence and

non-audit services provided by the auditor

With effect from 1 Jarnuary 2018, the Committee adopted a revised
policy on the provision of non—audit services by the externat
auditor We have mote clearly defined the very hmited non-audit
services which can be provided by the external auditcrs Services
can only be prowided f approved by the Committes and subyject to
a cap of 70% of the average of audit fees for the preceding three
years — with discretion to exceed this until January 2020 The
polcy 18 1IN compliance with the FRC Ethical Standard for Auditors
effective from Apnl 2017 and a full copy of our policy on the
provision of non-audit services by the external auditor 1s availlable
on the Gompany website www.synthomer com

Details of audit and non audit fees paid to the auditor in 2018 are
set aut In note 8 on page 117 Non-audit fees principally relate

to reporting accounting work cn the atorted bond offering and
to the intenm review at the half year, The Committee concluded
that PwC s independance and objectivity was not compromised
by providing these services and that, as a result of its knowledge
of the Group and its financial statements, it was in the Group's
Interests to engage PwC to do so

As part of tho 2018 audit PwC contrmed that it was independont
within the meaning of applicable regulatory and professional
requirements Taking this into account and having consiciered
the steps taken by PwC to preserve its independence and the
approach to non-audit services set out above the Commitiee
concluded that PwC continues to demonstrate appropriate
ndependence and objectivity

Effectiveness of the external audit

During the year the Committee evaluated the performance and
effectveness of the external audrtors, PwC and Matthew Mullins,
our audit partner Feedback was cbtaned from people across
the business who were involved with the exiernal audit and the
Commiltee reflecled on the eflectiveness of Malthew Mulling and
team members, both in Committee meetings and in discussions
with the Audit Committee Chaur

The Commitiee assessed the robustness of the audit, the
qualty of delivery of the audit against the agreed plan and the
competence with which the auditors handled key accounting
estimates and judgements

We also reviewed the FRC's report highlighting their conclusions
from a review of a selection ot PwG audits

Having considered all of these factors the Committee concluded
that the external auditors were effective

Re-appointment of the auditor

PwC was re-appointed external auditor in 2016, following a

full retender process, having been the Group's auditors since
2012 Having assessed the effectivenass of the external audit
referred to above and the ndependence of PwC, the Committes
recommeands the re-appoirtment of PwC at the 2019 Annual
General Mesting

Statement of compliance

Ihe Commultee confirms that duning the year ended 31 Decermnber
2018, the Company complied with the applicable provisions

of the Competition and Markets Authonty's Statutory Aucdit
Services for Large Companies Markat Investigation {(Mandatory
Use of Competitive Tender Processes and Audit Committee
Responsibilities) Order 2014,

Committee evaluation

In 2018, we undertock a thorough internal evaluation of the
Committeg's performance using a guestionnaire process, with

nput from regular attendees as well as the Committee members

We covered all aspects of the Cormnmittee’s agenda and approach.
including compaosition, remit and culture of the Committee Ihe
feedback was positive about our progress In overseeing and
challenging the systemns of nsk management and supportive of
continung to develop this in 2019 Lke most businesses, we contnue
to consider the appropriate level of Internal audit resource and this will
be closely monrtored as we continue to grow and develop

uodal nBeieng
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Nomination Committee report

Neil Johnson
Nomination Committee
Chair

Nomination Committee
Since 1 January 2018

Number of
Appointment  meetings
Position date attended
Ner Johnsorn Char May 2012 "

Senior ndependent

Brendan Connolty nan-executive director Marc 2014 1
Independent non
Carcing Johnstone executve director Apnl 2015 1

Role
The Committee's rermnit includes responsibility for:

+ The regular review of the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge. experience and diversity) of
the Board and the making of recommendations with regard to
any changes,

+ leading the process for Board appomntments and nominating
candidates for non-executive positions, and

+ consicdering succession planmng for directors and senior
executives and reviewing the succeassion plans put forward for
ensuring the executive leadership needs of the Company are met

Activities in 2018

The Nomunation Committes beld ane formal meehng dunng 2018 as
well as meetings in cormbination with other formal meetings of the
Board wherg 1t was appropriate to do so. In addion. a number of
informal meetings and telephone calls plus several interviews took
nlace 1N connection with the nomination process referred tc below

The Committee reviewed progress agamst the 2018 managemeant
succession action plan presented to the Board at the start of the
year and intiated a review of the Board succession plan which

will be completed during 2019. Following Jinya Chen’s retirement
from the Board at the end of 2017 the Committee commenced a
search for a replacement independent non-executive director. The
Comruttee led the pracess for nominating Holly A. Van Deursen as
an Independent non-executive director which involved a thorough
review of a range of candidates put forward by an independent
recruitment consultancy, Egon Zehnder (with which the Company
has no other cannection). The consultancy conducted an extensive
search exercise and were briefed on the Board's policy on
diversity The Board's approval of the Committee’s nomination of
Holly A. Van Deursen addressed outcomes from previcus Board
evaluaton processes regarding the Board composition and was
also in accordance with the Board's diversity pohcy

Diversity

The Beoard adopted s current policy on diversity in 2614 in
recogntion of the importance of diversity in strengthening
decision making and competitiveness, This policy seeks to
ensure that diversity in ts broadest sense 13 taken into account in
the process of making appointments on ment against ohiective
selection criteria, Gender and ethnicity are acknowledged as
signibcant eleiments of diversity and the Committee 1s nundtul

of the recommendaticns of the Hampton Alexander, Parker and
McGregor Smith Reviews but has not recommended to the Board
the setting of quotas for female or other representation at this time

A copy of the diversity policy 1s avallable at www synthomer.com
Further detadls on the Company's approach to, and reporiing on,
diversity are contained within the Strategic report

Neil Johnson
Chair
4 March 2019
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Directors’ Remuneration report

Brendan Connolly
Remuneration Committee
Chair

Remuneration Committee membership
Since 1 January 2018

Number of
Appointmant  maetings
Position date attended
Brer dar Connolly Chair March 2014 3 3

independent nor -

Just Jansz exacutive director Ma, 2012 343
ndependent non
Caromne Johnstone executve drectar April 20°5 33

Independoent non

Holly A Vva Dearsen executng dircetor 1 March 201G NoA

Other atfendres

Chiet Expmut e OHficee Company Secretary

President Global HE Delotig | LP

Group HR Directer

Variable pay outcomes:

uodal aibejens

2018
Pian KPI Range Performance Achieved
Bonus Underlying T
PET £1235mto £140m T135 bm 1 5% ﬁm')
SHIERIR 0 20 or teas 023 000 ~
SHE PSER 020 crless Qg 500
Strategic Includes M&A actwvity Metin full 100%
goals the desolapment of o
nsk maragement 2
processes and controls H
and strengthering E
of organmsationdg! g
capabiitos [
Total (Pe of maximum opportuni®y) T& 5%,
LTIP EPS Growth 24 5pto 28 Gp 37 8p 40 0%
Relative TSR Median to Upper auartic Beotwoen 372 0%
median
and upper
guartile
Strategic 15% to 20vc 2185 10 0% o
- New @
proauct o
sales (by "
WOIUTIE)
Strateg ¢ T3 fmio M3 4m T30 2m 4% —
MEA
il ative
unoerlying FET
Toral (=0 ot maximurr oppertintyg 86 2%,

Dear Shareholders

| would like to thank our shareholders for therr continued support
In 2018, specifically for the Remuneraton Report where 97+~
approval was given at the 2018 AGM Our existing policy was
ornginally approved at the 2017 AGM and s still current, and no
changes have been proposed or made duning this reporting

penod We will present a new policy for approval at the 2020 AGM,

which means that we will consult with our shareholders during
2019 on our proposed policy

Remuneration outcomes in 2018

Base salaries: Salary levels for the Chief Executive Officer

and Chiof Financial Officer weie last reviewed with effect from

1 January 2016, and were frozen at that level for a three year
penod From 1 Jancary 2019 the Chief Exccutve Officor's salary
was Increased by 3.0%, 10 Ine with the average pay ncrease
for the Group s UK employee population The Chief Financial
Ofhicer’s salary was increased by 4 8% hom 1 January 2019
following careful consideration by the Remuneration Commitiee
This adjustment has been made to rellecl a combinabion of
parformance in the role since his appointment in May 2015

and the increasing size and complexity of the business,

Bonus plan: 76 5% of maxmum opportunity achieved

The bonus plan consists of three parts Financial (80% on
Undertying PBT). SHE {10%), and Strategic Personal Goals {10%)}

+ Financial, 61 5% achieved Underlying PBT of £135 5m (PY
£1211m) was achieved against an on target goal of £130m with
adjustments related to currency and M&A activity, We saw strong
organic growth from the Asia and Rest of the World segment
which more than compensated for headwinds in Europe and
North Amenica

+ SHE. 5% achieved This goal s spht equally between Reportable

Injury Rate (RIR} and Process Safety Event Rate (PSER) The

journey towards a 'best in class’ culture continues in SHE and

though we understood that the 2017 result was exceptional. we
challenged Management to continue the downward long-term
trend 1n safety incidents, which they have done despite not
hutting the RIR target but achieving the PSER geal

Personal Strategic goals' 10% achieved Both the Chiet

Fxecitive Officer and Chict Financial Cificer have delivered

excellent perforrmance aganst ther specfic personal goals in

2018, leading to sigrricant progress in a number of key strategie

areas These include

+

delivery of strengthened risk management processes
and controls

contnued drive in the M&A area, with scund scrutiny and
discipline shown in the selection and rejection of opportunities,
as well ag the acquisiion processes undertaken

the strengthening of Synthomer s people structure

the design and implementation of ¢ new global organisational
siructure focused on customers and markets

Synthomer plc Annusl Roport 20°8
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Directors’ Remuneration report continued

LTIP: 86 2% achieved

The plan consists of EPS growth {40%). Relative 1SR (409%) and
Strategic goals (20%)

+ EPS growth. 40% achieved The 21.5p EPS base from 2015 has
grown substantially dunng the tast three years and the outcome
of 32 8p w above the maxwnum target of 28 6p

+ Relative TSR 32% achieved The Group performance against
the FTSFE 250 [excluding nvestment and finanaial sarvices)
landed at just below the Upper Quartile.

+ Strategic goals 14.2% achieved New Products as a % of Group
sales (by volume) was 21%, over the 20% maximum. excluding
turnover attributable to acquisitions made subsequent to the
setting of the performance conamon where there 15 no scope for
new product developrment The cumulative PBT (over 3 years) from
M&A was £39.2m, and therefore fell shart of the maximum,

When stepping back and reviewing the bonus and LTIP cutcomes
versus the overall performance of the Group, the Committee
constdered whether the outcomes were aligned to the ‘look and
feel’ of what we have observed during the year and felt that they
wete an accurate reflection of the overalt performance.

Chairman’s Fee: The Charman's fee was reviewed for the
first ime in two years. Based on the continued mcrease in the
complexity of the business and tme commuitment 1 the role,
as well as external market positioning for eguivalent roles, a fee
increase from £170,000 p a. to £180,0C0 p a was agreed with
effect from 1 January 2019

Activities during the year

The introduction of the 2018 Governance Code and new corporate
governance reporting requirements has been discussed and
appropriate training has been given to the Committee and wider
Board, with the Gomrmittes's terms of reference updated to reflect
the changes. Below 1s a brief list of the discussions held and
decisions taken in 2018 during the Committee's three meetings

Activity of the Committee n 2018

Approval of participants in LTIP

Approval of KPl components of the LTIP

Approval of bonus plan outcomes for 2018

Approval of LTIP outcomes for 2018

Approval of salary ncreases for executive directors
Approval of salary increases for senior management
Review of remuneration structure for the wider Group
Review and approval of Gender Pay Gap data

Evaluation of Committee performance

Review of EC styrene investigation

Training In corporate governance and reporting developments
Review of market practices and trends

Review and approval of Charman’s fee

Rewview and updating of terms of reference

Review and gap analysis on guidance from Proxy agencies
Review and gap analysis on new governance regime
Discussion on ‘employee voice' to take to the Board

Discussion of post - employment shareholding and pension
payments under the new Code

Review of training and development within the Group

Interaction with remuneration consultants on various topics

Alignment to Group strategy

In ing with the prior year, the strong Iink and alignment between
the remuneration structure and the Group strategy of innovation,
exceflence and growth is a key focus for the Comimittee

Innovation: using R&D and process engineenng to deliver

new and improved products in the medium and long term to
successiully compete In the speciality chermical sector s reflected
in the LTIP where the management and all the LTIP participants are
challenged to deliver a percentage of voiume from new products
over a five year penod.

Excellence: safety, health and environmental performance is
cntical for nsk management and being able to deliver a safe and
emvironmentally controlled workptace, avoiding potential physical
and reputatonal damages. Measures for both personal and process
safety are caplured in the bonus plans of the Chief Executive Officer,
the Chief Financial Otficer and the wider organisation Excellence
also includes operational processes, efficiency, cost management,
utiisation, product qualty and an array of other measures which are
all captured through objectives for the key operational executives
and those drectly involved in managing the plants

Qrowth: crganic year on year growth, M&A and internal capital
investment rieman imporiant strategie Inatives to drve financial
growth, increase capacity and a wider speciality product base
1o achieve increased market share The bonus plan and the LTIP
through PBT, EPS, TSR and specrfic expansion objectives are
aligned and weighted heavly towards driving a healthy growth
Due to the large amount of investment in projects in 2017 and
2018, we have added a ROIC measure to the LTIP seeking
quantiied returns on specific projects

UK Corporate Governance Code

and other regulatory changes

As noted above, the Committee 1s ¢closely monitonng
developments in the corporate governance and regulatory
envircnment, including areas such as post-employment
shareholding reguirements and executive pension alignment

We will present a new policy for approval at the 2020 AGM, and
will consult with cur shareholders on all aspects of our proposed
remuneration pohcy dunng 2019

Following the 2018 announcement of the regulations around the
methodology to be used In respect of CEO to employee pay ratio
disclosures, the Group 1s working on collating the appropriate data
needed to meet the new requirements, and will comply with the full
regulations in our 2018 Annual Report.

Remuneration Report

The Directors Remuneration report will not reguire & tinding vote

for the policy at the 2019 Annual Generai Meeting, however the

Annual Report on Remuneration, will, as N previous years, be .
subyect to an advisory vote

I would like to thank the Committee for their work, debate and
Imput during the year and look forward to interacting with our
stakeholders during the policy renewal process in 2019

Brendan Connolly
Chair
4 March 2019
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At a glance
2018 outcomes’

+ Base salares were increased for the Chuef Executive Oflicer and Chief Fnancial Ofticer by 3 0% and 4 8% respechively hom 1 Janudry
2019 Satary levels had been frozen from 1 January 2016 for a three year perod

+ Annual bonus plan - 76 5% of maximum opgortunity achieved

+ 2016 LTIP award vested at 86 2% of maximum opportunity

Directors’ remuneration - policy principles
The key principles for executive directors’ remuneration at Synthomer are as follows

+ Sufficient to attract and retan executive directors of the ability and expertise necessary 1o achieve the strategic goals of the Company.

+ Incentivise executive directors by rewarding perfermance and driving the right behaviours,

+ Align executive director reward with the expenence of shareholders

In setting executive directors’ remuneration, the Committee takes account of pay and conditions throughout the Group The Committee
also considers corporate governance requirements and best practice in terms of remuneration structures and the process of setting

executive remuneration

The Commuttee reviews performance targets regularly to ensure that they do net encourage or motivate inappropnate nisk taking
Furthermore, the Committee, when necessary. will take into account any environmental, social and governance (ESG) events and the
Audit Commuttee's reviews of the etfectiveness of internal controls and risk management when assessing performance

The following diagram provides an overview of the key elements of reward for executive directors and the performance measures used

Key elements of reward

yoda oibsieng
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Base
salary

Pension Annual
& benefits bonus
At least T0%
Profit before tax
Up to 30%

Strategic and operational
measures, ncluding personal
ohjectives

2019 awards:
B80% Profit before tax
10% SHE
10% Individual strategic
and operational goals

Directors’ remuneration - policy summary
Set cutin the table below 15 a surnmary of our Directors” Remunaration Policy ("the Policy ') as it apples to execulive drectors

Performance
Share Plan

At least 80%
Hased on financial measures

Up to 20%
Strategic measures

2019 awards:
40% Relative TSR
40% EPS growth

20% Strategic measures

The Policy was put forward, and received shareholder approval at the Company's 2007 AGM in accordance with section 4394 of the
Companies Act 2006, [The Pohcy has been eftective fiom 27 Apnl 2017 and s avalable in ful at www synthomer com
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Directors’ Remuneration report continued

Policy table

Element Purpese and ink to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity Performarce measures

Base salary Supports the recruitment  Salary levels are generally There 15 no overall maximum None, althcugh individual
and retention of reviewed annually by the for salary opportunrty or and Company pertormance
executive directors, Committee. Increases Salary Increases are lactors taken intoc account

. will normally be in-hne with the  when considering salar
Reatflects the ndwidual's  When reviewing salary o Yoo g 4
ncreases awarded to other mncreases

skills, experence, levels the Committee ermpioyees wihim the Grou
performance and role takes into account: Py P

within the Company Larger ncreases may
be made under certan
circumstances, including. but

not mited to

+ the individual’s skills,
experience and
performance,

+ the size and scope of the

. + an increase in the scope
ncdmidual’s responsioilities. P

and/or responsibility of the
+ pay and conditions individual’s role,

|
elsewhere in ths Group. + the development of the

+ pay at companies of Incividual within the role;

similar size, and
+ alignment to market levels,

+ the complexty and and
international scope of

the Group + corparate events such

4s a significarnl acgquisilion
or Group restructunng
which impacts the scope
of the role

Far 2019, executive director
salaries are as follows®

+ G G Maclean £551,565
(increase of 3.0% on 2018
salary of £535,5600)

+ 8 G Bennett' £350.600
(iIncrease of 4 8% on 2018
salary of £334 560)

The executive directors had
previously had ther salanes
frozen at 2016 levels
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Elerment

Purpese and ink to strategy

Opearation

Maximum opportunity Performance measures

Benefits

Provided to support
the retention and
recruitment ot
execuive directors

Benefits to executive
directors may include
private health insurance,

lite insurance and a fully
expensed car or car
allowance From time to ime
the Committee may review
the benefits provided The
Committee may remaove
bencfits that cxcoutive
directors receve or ntroduce
other benefits 1if it considors
it 13 approprate to do so.
Any other benefits will be
proporhonate with the
current benafils provided

Where exacutive directors
are required to relocate or
complete an international
assignment, the Committee
may offer additional benefits
or vary benefits according to
local practice.

Executive directors may
narticipate N any all-
employee share schemes or
other benett arrangements
on the same basis as other
employees.

There 1s no overall maximum  None
for benefits, as the cost

of nsurance benefits may

vary from year 1o year

depending on the indvidual
circumstances and the leve!

of any relocation benefits,
allowances and expenses

will depend on the specific
circumstances

uodal aifejeng
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Pension

Prowvide a competitive
level of retirermeant
bernefits to support
both retention and
recrutmant of executive
drectors

Executive directors are
eligible to participate m the
Group personal pension
clan

Executive directors may
receive payments as a cash
allowance which they may
use erther in conjunction
with that plan and/or to
enable them to make

their own arrangements

Maximum of 25% of base Nong
salary

Allowances for current
executive directors are

C G Mact ean 25% of aalary

3 3G Rennett 204 of salary

Synthomer plc Annual Beport (&
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Directors’ Remuneration report continued

Elarment

Purpose and hink to strategy

Operation

Maximum opporiunity

Performance measures

Annual bonus Incentrvises the delivery
of financial, strategic and
operational objectives
selected to support
our business strategy

within the year

Performance targets will

be determined by the
Committee at the beginning
of the annual performance
period

The Committee will assess
performance against these
targets following the end of
the performance pericd

The Committee may adjust
awards upward or downward
o 1eflect the overall
performance of the
Company or the indmidual

The Committee may

recduce or defer the level of
payment of an award to take
imto account exceptional
business circumstances

A proportion of any bonus
earned 15 deferred for two
years For current executive
directors this is

+ C G MaclLean 20% of
any bonus

+ S G Bennett 13% of
any bonus

The Committee may claw
back awards up to three
years after payment if the
Group's accounts have
been matenally misstated,
there has been an error

In the calculation of any
performance conditions
which results in gver
payment or If there are
circumstances giving rise to
material reputational damage
to the Group

The maximum opporturity is
up to 125% of saiary.

Opportunties for current
executive directors are

+ C G MaclLean- 125%
of salary

+ S G Bennett. 115%
of salary

At least V0% of awards are
subject to Underlying profit
before tax {or other relevant
financial measure) targets,

Up to 30% cof awards are
sublect to strategic and
operational measures, including
personal objectives

For 2019 awards, periormance
measures will be 80%
Underlying profit before

tax, 0% SHE obectives,

10% personal strategic and
operational obyectives

The award for threshold
perfarmance 1s normally
0% of maximum,
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Element Purposs and link to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity Perfarmance measures
2011 Incentivises executive The vesting of awards s Under the plan rules + At least 80% based on
Performance directors to dehver conditional on the Group s approved by shareholders, financal measures This may

Share Plan sustained performance  performance agamst
and sustainable returns  long term targets over a

Approved by tor shareholders over the performance perniod of at

shareholders longer term least three years
at the 2011 g : Y
EGM The Comimittee may reduce

or defer the lavel of vesting
of an award where an event
has occurred, sugh as a
material SHE incidant

The Committee may Claw
back awards up to three
years after vesting if the
Group's accounts have
been materally misstated,
there has been an error

in the calculation of any
performance conditions
which results in overpayment
or {for awards from 2017
onwards) If there are
crreumstances giving rise
to matenal reputationat
damage to the Group.

Vested awards relating to
grants made from 2017
onwards are subject to a
hoiding penod post vesting
of an additional two years

the value of shares awarded
to an indmdual In respect
of any one year may not
normally exceed 150%

of salary

Annual awards to current
executive directors are

+ G G MacLean 150%
of salary

+ 5 G Bennett 120%
of salary

Under the plan rules
approved by shareholders
there 1s the ability to
make additional awards in
exceptional circumstances

Additional awards may

be made in the case of a
transformative Group event
Any such awards would

be subject to additional
shareholding guidelines

or holding perods to

be determined by the
Committes

Any additicnal award would
be subject to the overall plan
Iimit of 300% of satary

include TSR, EPS, Return on
Invested Capual (ROIC) or
any ather measure
considered appropriate by
the Committee Any change
to the financial measures
used would be subject to
pnor shareholder
consultation

+ Up to 20% based cn
performance measures
Inked to the delivery of the
business strategy

+ No single measure wil
constitute more than 50%
of an annual award

For 2019 awards., performance
measures will be 40% Relative
TSR 40% EPS and 20%
strategic measures. including
ROIC

A maximum ot 25% of
each element will vest for
threshold performance

The Committee may amend the
final vesting level under the 15R
element if it does not consider it
to be reflective of the underlying
parformance
of the Group

Any addtional awards made
in exceptional circumstances
will be subject to pertormance
conditions and vesting
schedules as determined

by the Commuttee at the time
af award.

poda) 216a1eng
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Shareholding The Company cperates shareholding guidefines for executive directors to strengthen the alignment between the interests
guidelines of the execuhve directors and the shareholdets The Chief Executive Ottcer and the Chief Financial Officer ate requined to
bulld interests in shares of at least 200% and 150% of salary respectively

All vested awards under the 2011 Performance Share Plan (net of tax if applicable) must be retained by executive
directors unbl this requirement 1s met If the requirement 1s not met within three years of appontment, the executive
directors would be required to defer 50% of any bonus to buy shares untl the guidelines are met

Provigions to withhold or recover sums paid under incentives are as detarled in the table above No other elements of remuneration are

subject to recovery provisions
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Directors’ Remuneration report continued

Hlustrations of application of remuneration policy

The following charts ilustrate the different elements of the executive directors’ remuneration uncler three different performarnce scenarnos:
‘Minimurn, ‘Target’ and ‘Maximum’ The assumptions used are provided below the charts The illustrations are based on annual bonus
awards for 2019 and Performance Share Plan awards o be made in 2013,

€ QG Maclean S G Bennett
Componant Minimum Target Maximum
Fixed Base salary Base salary for 2019
Pension Value of cash supplement for 2019
Benefits Taxahle value of annual benefrts provided in 2018
Vanable Annual bonus 0% of maximum B0% of maximum C G MacLean 125% of salary
S G Bennett 115% of salary
2011 Performance 0% vesting 25% vesting C G MaclLean 150% of salary
Share Plan’ S G Bennett 120% of salary
Note

1 The value for the Performance Share Plan is based on the face value of annual PSP awards undar the Policy and base salaries for 2019 The calculation excludes
share price growth or divdends during the performance penod
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Annual Report on Remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2018
Operation of the executive director Remuneration Policy for 2019
The currenl Policy has been in lorce since 2/ Apnl 201+, The specilic remuneration anangen ents tor 2019 are desciibed below

Base salary

Fallowing two years of ng increase being given. and accordingly salarnes remaining at 2016 ievels through to the end
of 2018, Increases wete awarded with effect hom 1 January 2014 ol 3 0% [or the Chicf Executive Othicer and 4.85¢
for the Chiet hinancial Officer giving 2018 salanes das lollows

+ C G MaclLean, £551,565
+ 5 G Bennett {350,600

The Chief Executive Officer’s salary was increased by 3 07 in tne with the average pay increase for the Group's UK
employee population. The Chiel Financial Officer s salary was increased by 4 8%, following caretul ¢ cnsideration
by the Comrmutiee. This adjustment has been made to reflect a combination of performance in the role since
appontment in May 2015 and the increasing size and complexity of the business

uadai oibsieng
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Pension and
benefits

No changes Executives receive a cash allowance m lieu of pension contnbutions, a fully expensed car or car
allowance and private health insurance

2018 cash allowances in lieu of pension contnbutions.

+ C G Maclean: 25% of salary
+ 5 G Bennett, 20% of salary

Annual bonus

For 2019 performance under the annual bonus will be measured on the following basis

+ 80% subjecl to performance against Underlying profit before tax targets

+ 10% subject to performance measures against key SHE targets

+ 10% subject to performance against indwidual strategic and operational goals

+ Targets and obiectives for 2019 are, by therr inancial and comrmercial nature, considered by the Board
to be unsuitable for disclosure in advance However, the Committee will provide information on targets
and objectives retrospectively

2019 maximum award opportunity

+ C G Maclean 125% of salary
+ 8 G Bennett 115% of salary

SIUBUIOADD
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Performance For awards to be made in 2019, performance will be measured on tne same basis as for awards made in 2018
share plan as follows
+ 400 based on relative TSR petformance versus FTSE 250 (oxcluding investment trusts and financial
SEIVICES COmMpanies),
— 25% of this element will vest for mechan performance,
100% vesting for upper quartile performance
- Vesting on & straight-ine basis between these points
+ 40% based on Underlying EPS growth:
- 25% of this element will vest for EPS growth of 4.5% per annum
- 100% vesting for EPS growth of 10% per annum
- Vesting on a straight-line basis between these points
- Thus target range was set following congideration of the lang-term strategy and the outlook for the markets in
which we operate
+ 20% based on performance agamnst three egually weighted measures directly inked to the delivery of the
business strategy
-~ Proportion of Group Sales (by volumes) from new products together with products covered by patents and
patent applications derssed from new produc s launched in the five years to the end of the pe-formance penod
- Incentivising greater Nnovation through new prociuct development
Cumulative Underlying prohl belore tax growth n respect of ac guisthons m ine with the strateg ¢ plan as
approved by the Board - incentivising the delivery of profitable growth
- ROIG generated from the most signific ant growtn projects being commssioned-to be commissioned n 2018/2018
measured m the third year of the performance perod - incentivising the delrery of profitable organi growth
- For each of these measures, 25% wikk vest for threshold performance
- The targets for these measures, and the level of performance achieved will be disclosed followinyg the end of the
nerformance peniod
2019 maximum award opportunity
+ C G Maclean 150%, of salary
+ 5 0 Bennett 120% of salary
Sharehotding The Chaef [ oxecutree Ofieen and the Chef Tinaneal Officeer arc requied to budaorerostsan ~hares of -« jeast 200 .
guidelines and 150%, of salary respectvely The Committee will keep the level under review
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Directors’ Remuneration report continued

The following information 1s audited

Single figure of remuneration for executive directors

Base Annual Long-term
salary Benefits’ bonus incentives® Pension Total
Year € £ € £ € L
Executive directors
C G MaclLean 2018 535,500 13,200 512,072 728.581 133,875 1,823,228
2017  535.500 13,200 668,375 1,163,614 133,875 2.515,664
S G Bermett 2018 334,660 22,730 294,329 364,148 66,912 1,082,680

2017 334,560 22,397 384,744 343,887 66512 1,152,600

Notes

1 Thus s *retotal taxable vdl .e of benelits recened by earh execir e duector dun~a the year The table below nrovdes getais 21 the man companent of the releva -t
nenefir= pato 1o execitive directors

2 For 2018 the values reldte to awards granted under the 2011 PSP and made in 2016 and which vest in April 2019 Further nformation about the level of vesting 1s
provided in this report

Car
expenses/benefit Others Total
£ £ £
C G Maclean 13,200 - 13,200
S G Bennett 21.549 1,181 22730

Additional information for single figure remuneration

Base salary

Base salares far the Chief Exgcutive Otficer and the Chief Financial Gificer were last reviewed with effect from 1 danuaty 2016 and were
frozen at that levei for a three year period.

lMrom 1 January 2019 salanes were increased as set out bolow The Chiof Lxecutive Officer's salary was increased by 3.0% n ine with
the average pay increase for the Group'’s UK employee population The Chief Financial Officer's salary was increased by 4.8% following
careful consideration by the Committee. This adjustment has been made to reflect a cormbination of petformance in the role since
appointment it May 2015 and the increasing size and complexity of the business

Exscutive directors 2018 base salary 2018 bage salary % change
C G MacLean £535,500 £551,565 30%
S G Bennett £334,560 £350,600 4 8%

Annual bonus

2018 award

For 2018 the Company operated a cash bonus plan for the executive direclors related to the achrevement of Underlying profit before lax
targets, SHE targets and indwidual strategic and operational goals,

The achievement of the Linderlying profit hefore tax target represented up to 80°% of the maximum honus opportunity achiavable of 125%
and 115% of annual basic salary for C G Maclean and S G Bennett, respectively

The SHE targets were given a 10% weighting of the maximum achievable with the balance of 10% relating to individual strategic and
operational goals

Cverall bonuses for the year ended 31 December 2018

Maximum bonus as a Total bonus as a Total bonus
Executive directors % of salary % of maximum £
C G MaclLean 125 6.5 512,072
S G Bennett 15 765 284,329
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Further information of the three elements of the bonus are as follows

1. Underlying profit before tax {80%)

The Underlying profit hefore tax targets set and aclievement are set oul below,
5
0

Threshold Target Maximum Achieved? ".-u"
Level of award (% of element) 0% 60% 100% 76 8%
Undeilying profit before tax! 2123 5m £130 0m £143 0m £1355m

Naotes

1 Targe's are set by retercnce to the Board approved internal budget for the Group and measured on a constant currency biasis
2 Ferthe purpcses o caleulatng achwes ed Linde [vng pront beto e tax acustorents we 8 maas tor cunency anag the contribution flom the acansition of BASE

Fuschalsoat fAnstnal was oedurten f0~ 200 R « nderlv ng croft before tax

2. SHE [10%)

Targets with an aggregate weighting of 10% related to improvements in recordable injury and process safety.

JTUBUIIAOE)

26-89

Recaordable inury Process safety

(measured as injury  (measured as process

rate) safety event rate)

Target 0.20 or less 0.20 or less
Level of award % for a rate 0% for a rate
greatar than 0 20 greater than 0 20

5% for arate 5% for a rate

less than 0.20 less than O 20

Rate achieved 023 014
Award outcorme 0% 5%

lurther detaits of the definition and measurerment of the recordable injury rate and the process safety incwient rate are grven on page 54,

3. Individual strategic and operational goals (10%)

Individual goals and achievements against them considered by the Remuneration Committee with an aggregate weighting

of 10% included

Chief Executive Cfiicar Chigf Financial Officer

Target 1 Development and embedding of sk management 1 Development and embedding of risk management
processes and controls. processes and controls.
2. ldentihcation and where gppopniate execution ol 2. Fnsure compliance wilh Base Brosion and Profit Shifting
acquisihion opportunties {BEPS) tax legislation
3. Strengthening of leadership and organisationat 3. Management of investor relationshing
capability,

Level of award Up to 10% Up to 10%

Performance 1. Strengthened risk management processes 1 Strengthened risk management processes impiemented

against targets implemented by CEQ and CFO with improved and more by CEO and CFO with improved and more frequent

freguent reviews of risk toplcs reviews of risk topics
2 Focused and disciplined selechon review
and as appropriate, rgjection or execution of

2. Sponsar of project to implement transactionally the
existing European operational model in line with BEPS

acquisttion epportunities 3 Strengthened nvestor relationship programme
3 Implementation of new glebal structure supported rolled oot
by external appomntment to leadership team

Award outcorme 10% 10%

The maximum opportunity was awarded.
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Directors’ Remuneration report continued

2011 Performance Share Plan
The awards made on 8 April 2016 for C G MacLean and for S G Bennett under the 2011 PSP were subject 1o relative shareholder
return performance condition, an absclute eamings per share performance condition and a strategic measures condition as follows

Relative total shareholder return condihon EPS condmon

Company relative TSR performance  EPS for the 2018 financial  Percentage of award that vests  Performance achieved
agamst the FTSE 250 Index (excluding year

investment trusts and financial s¢rvices

companies) over 3 year period ended

31 December 2018

Upper quartile 28.8 pence or more 40% EPS of 32.8 pence gives full
Between mediian and upper quartle  Between 24.5 pence and  On a straight-ine basis between  vesting for that candrion

28 B pence 10% and 40% TS8R perfarrance at the 32nd
percentile gives vesting of 32%
for that conditior,

Median 24.5 pence 10%
Below median Less than 24 5 pence 0%

A further 20% of the award was subject to two equally weighted strategic measures

+ Parcentage of Group sales (by volume} in the 2018 financial year derved from new products launched in the five years ended
31 December 2018.

New product percentaga” Percentage of award that vests Percentage achieved

< 15% 0% 21% gwes vesting of 10% of award.
15% - 20% 2.5% - 10%

> 20% 10%

Note

Excluding volume attnbutaple to acqaisitions made subseguent to the settling of the performansce conditron where there 15 no scape for new produst developmeant

+ Cumulative Underlying PBT added through acquisitions for the three years ended 31 December 2018

Cumulative PBT added through acquisitions Parcentage of award that vests Percentage achieved
< £317m 0%

£3! hon give tin
£31 7m - £63.4m 2.5% - 10% 9 2 milion gives vesting

of 4 2% of the award

> £63.4m 10%

In aggregate 86.2% of the 2018 award vested

The 2018 award will vest for C G Macl.ean and 5 G Bennett in Apnl 2019 as follows:

Nc of shares
inonginagl No ofshares No of shares

award that lapse that vest
C G MacLean 182,416 25173 157,243
S G Bennett 1,173 12,582 78,591
2018 award
The awards made on 8 March 2018 to C G Maciean and S G Bennett were as follows.
Percentage
vesting at  Performance
Number of threshold period
Scheme Basis of award shares Face value performance #nd date
C G MaclLean 2011 PSP - nil-cost options 150% of saiary 164,479  £803,250 25% 31/12/2020
S G Bennett 2011 PSP - nil-cost options 120% of salary 82,208 401472 26% 31/12/2020

The face value of the awards was caloulated using a shate price of 488 36 pence per share the average share price on the five dealing
days prior to the date of grant
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The awards made on 8 March 2018 under the PSF are subject to the following performance condiicns

Relative total shareholder return condition EPS condition

Company relative TSR performance agamst the FTSE 250 E'S for the 2020 financial year Percentage of award that will vest
Index {exciuding investrment trusts and financial

services companies) over three year period ending

31 December 2020

Upper quartie 40 3 pence or more 40%

Between medan and upper quartle Between 35 0 pence and 40 3 pence  On a straight-line basis
between 10% and 40%

Median 35 0 pence 10%

Below median L ess than 35 0 pence 0%

A further 20% of the award is subject to strategic measures as referred to on page 78, the targets for which will be disclosed following the
end of the performance period

Pension entitlements
Both executive directors receive a cash allowance in leu of pension contributions No additional benefit 1s «eceivable in the event ot a
drector retinng early

Cash aliowance

uodai 21Ba8jeNS
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(% salary)
C G MagLean 25
S G Bennett 20
Single figure of remuneration for non-executive directors Commites
membership Commitiee
Non-executive directors Base fee fee chair fee Total
N A Johnson 2018 170,000 - - 170,000
2017 170,000 - - 170,000
The Hon A G Catto 2018 40,000 - - 40,000
2017 40,000 - - 40,000
BW D Connolly! 2018 45,000 10,000 5,000 60,000
2017 45,000 10,000 5,000 60,000
Or J Jansz 2018 40,000 10,000 - 50,000
2017 40,000 10,000 - 50,000
C A Johnstone 2018 40,000 10,000 5,000 55,000
2017 40,000 10,000 5,000 55,000
Dato Lee Hau Hian 2018 40,000 - - 40,000
2017 40,000 - - 40,000
H A Van Deursen’ 2018 11,000 - - 11,000
2017 - - - -
Notes
1 Base fee ncludes an emount of ©5 006 per annam for role a8 Senict (ndependeant Director

2  Apociited o the Soard o0 21 Seprer-ber 20°8

Ihe fees to be paid n 2019 to the Charman and the non-executive directors were reviewed in Novermber 2018 and January 2019
respectively and as a result
+ the Chairman s fee was increased from £170,000 p a to £180.000 p a with effect from 1 January 2019,

+ the comnuttee membership fee for the independant non executive directors was ncreased fiom £10,000 p a 1o £15.000 p a with effect
from 1 January 2019

+ the base fee for the non independent non-executive directorns was ncreased from £40.000 10 £41,200 p a with effect from 1 January 2019
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Directors’ Remuneration report continued

Directors’ shareholding and share interests {number of shares/options)

Totat
Vested unfettered
unexercised Interests n Unvested
Interests I petformance shares and  performarice Share interests
Company related vested related options Share in shares at
shares ophions optons optians exercised ownership 31 December
31 December 31 Decemnber 31 December 31 Decsmber dunng requirements 2018
Drectors 2018 2018 2018 2018" 2018 (% of salary) 2 (% of salary)
C G Maclean 365,356 - 365,356 508,539 223152 200% 244%
3 G Bennett 93,548 - 93,548 254,172 165.949 150% 100%
The Hon. A GG Catto 1,492,382
6,697,500
B W D Connaily 2,200
Dato’ Lee Hau Hian 44,763
Dr JJ C.lansz 10,000
N A Johnson 100,000

C A Johnstone

H A van Deursen

Notes
Non seneficial interest

1 Urwested periormance relaled options compnse the awards made under tne 2011 PSP 10 2018, 2017 and 2018 Detals of ine performance condivons ailaching 1o
the 2018 awards dre set out on page 84 2017 awards are set oul below, all 2018 awards are set out on page 85

72 Unnl this requirement 15 met no sates of shares that vest under long term incentive plans are permitted other than to satsfy tax habuities that arise on the exercise
of share awards under such plans In addition, (f the requirement 18 nat met within three years of the date of appointment as a director 50% of any annual bonus s
normally deferred into shares The Committee considers that unfettered unexercised vested nil cost awards are economically equivalent to shares and as such that
they should count (on a net of tax basis) toward compliance with the share ownershup guidelines As a result of the 2018 remuneration cutcomes 8 G Bennatt s
expected to meet tug share ownership requirement dur ng 2019

The performance conditons attaching to the PSP awards granted in 2017 are as follows,

Relative total shareholder return condition

EPS condition

Company relative TSR performance aganst the
FTSE 250 Index (excluding investrment trusts and
financial services companies) over three year
period ending 31 December 2019

FPS for the 2019 financial year

Percentage of award that vests

Upper quartile

37.7 pence or more

40%

Between mechan and vpper guartle

Between 32.3 pence and 377 pence

On a straight-ime basis
between 10% and 40%

Median

32 3 pence

10%

Below medan

Less than 32.3 pence

0%

A further 20% of the award is subject 1o strategic measures as reterred to on page 79, the targets for which will be disclosed following the

end of the performance pencd

Payments to past directors
No payments were made to past directors

Payments for loss of office

No paymenis for Inss office were made during the yeatr
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The following information s unaudited

Performance graph and table
The graph and the table below allow comparisan of the total shareholder return of the Company and the Chief Executive Officer
remuneration outcomes over the last ten years

The graph above compares the total shareholder return performance of the Company with that of the FTSE 250 {excluding investment
and financial services companies) which 1s considerad to be the most appropriate index against which to make a comparnison.
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2009 2610 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2018 2017 2018
CEO total single tigure
of remuneration (€000} 786 1484 3.934 1,487 a23 as7 1,246 1,218 2,516 1,923
Bonus (% of raximum awarged) 100 100 100 27 o] 573 a6 7 100 100 76.5
LTIP (9% of maxmum vesting) ol 100 100 100 50 0 n/a n/a 8963 86.2

Tre Chief Executive Officer totat single igure of remuneration ncludes salary, benefits and pension centnibutions paid in the year together
with bonuses and long term incentive awards which vested based on pertormance in the year

Percentage change in remuneration of director undertaking the role of chief executive compared with UK
Group employees

The table below sels oul the increase in total remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer and that of the employees of the Group’s man
UK trading subsichary Total employee pay 15 based on the total salary, benefits and bonuses for employees of that company comprsing
some 370 employees The directors consider that this employee pepulation 1s the most relevant for companson purposes taking into
account geographical location and remuneration structure,

Salary Taxable benefits Annual bonus

% ncrease % ncrease/(decrease) % decrease

C G MaclLean 0 0 (23 5)
Total employee pay. benefits and bonuscs 43 23 111.0)

Relative importance of spend on pay
The table below shows the relative importance of the Group's all employee remuneration expeanse compared with returns to shareholders
by way of dividends

2018 2017
£m £m % change
Dividends 42.5 391 874%
Total employee remuneration 1231 1163 5 8%

Dividends are the chvidends paid in the year Total employment remuneration is the conseldated salary cost for all Group employees

2018 2017
Emoluments” £000 £000
The total amounts for direciors’ remuneration and other benefits were
Emoluments 2,138 2,415
MNete
[ enoluments are rec oo gad on s prG ra g Basis b tas benord ey s e Dire elors
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Directors’ Remuneration report continued

External appointments

Executive directors are permitted to accept external appointments with the prior approval of the Board provided that there 1s no
adverse impact to therr role and duties to the Company Any fees arsing from such appointments may be retained by the executive
directors where the appointment 1s unrelated to the Group's business SG Bennett does not currently hold any external appointments
CG MaclLean was appointed as a non-executive director of Saudi Basic Industries (SABIC) headguartered in Riyadh in October 2017
and receives a board membership fee of US$157.500 per annum and a committee fee of SAR 250,000 per annum Mr MacLean

was apponted as a non executive director of Clanant Ltd on 16 October 2018 following his mormnation by SABIC under the terms of
the governance agreement between Clanant and SABIC and receives a fee of CHF 280,000 per annum in aggregate for board and
committes roles, in relation to Clanant Lirmited

Remuneration Committee
Remuneratton Committee membership since 1 January 2018

Brendan Connolly Chair
Just Jansz

Caroline Johnstene
Holly A Van Deursen Appointed 1 March 2019

Attendance at Committee meetings 15 set out on page 64

Key duties of the Committee

During 2018 the Committee was responsible for determining, n agreement with the Board, the Company's policy on execlitive
remuneration and the specific remuneration for the Charman and each of the executive drectors, iIncluding pension nghts, within the
terms of the agreed policy The Committeg was also responsible for reviewing the remuneration of senior executives throughout the
Group. Following the coming into force of the 2018 Governance Code with effect from 1 January 2019 the Committee has agreed the
expansion of its remit with the Board to include:

+ Formal responsibilty for all senior management remuneration; and
+ The review of remuneration elsewhere in the Group

Advisers

The Chief Executive Officer, Company Secretary, President - Global HR and Group HR Director are invited to attend Committee meelings
to contribute to the Committee In its deliberations However, no individual 1s involved in discussions, or 1s part of any decisions, relating to
their own remuneration

The Committee receved independent advice from Deiloitte LLP (Deloitte) who were appointed as the Committee’s Independent
remuneration advisers in April 2013

During the vear. Delotte provided adwice on governance and market trends and other remunerabon matiers that matenally assisied the
Committee The fees paid to Deloitte in respect of this work were charged on a time and expenses basis and totalled £8,900 for advice in
2018 Delotte alse provided tax scrvices to part of the Group in the year, The Committec was satisficd that this did not compromise the
Independence of the advice receved.

Deloitte 1$ a founding member of the Remuneration Consuitants Group, and adheres to its code of conduct Delortte was appointed
directly by the Committee and the Commuttee 1s satished that the advice receved was objective and ndependent

Statement of voting at genera) meeting
The table below sets out the results of the votes on the Directors’ remuneration at the 2018 AGM

Votes for votes agalnst Votes withheld
Member Number % of vote Number % of vote Number
2017 Annual Report on Remuneration 258,404,499 a7 8,304,976 3 108.980

By order of the Board

R Atkinson
Company Secretary
4 March 2019
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Report of the Directors

The Directors submit ther Annual Beport and the auditea consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 The
Report of the Directors compnises pages 89 to 91 and the following sections of the Annual Report which are incorporated by reference

wodas 0)Bejens
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Hem Location in Annual Report
Staterment of Directors’ responsibilities Page 82
Financial nstruments and financral nsk managemerit Financial Statements - note 23
Prasent membership of the Board Pages G0 to 61
Corporate Governance Report Pages 62 to 66
Strategic Report (ncluding principal activities and principal nsks

and uncertainties and Viability Statement) Pages 2 to 57
Directors’ Remuneration Report FPages 7310 88
Share capital Financial Statements - note 28
Sustainability Report Pages 44 to 57

Results and dividends

The profit attnbutable to shareholder s for the year was "99 8m The intenm dividend of 4 0 pence per share was paid on 6 November
2018 Tre Durectors recommend a final ordinary dividend of 21 pence per share payable on 5 July 2019 to those shareholders registered
at the close of busmess on 7 June 2018 A dvidend reinvestment plan s avallable to shareholders and this alternative will continue 1o be
offered until further notice

Acquisitions and Disposals

On 1 January 2018 the Group sold Synthomer Leuna GmbH, and on 28 June 2018 the Group disposed of 51% of its sales entihes In
Dubar On 31 January 2018 the Group completed the purchase of the BASE Pischelsdort SBR business and assets Further details of
these transactions are contained in notes 32 and 31 respectively to the consalidated financal statements.,

Directors
Al the Directors will retire and will be seeking election or re election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting

None of the Directors seeking re-election has a service contract other than C G MaclLean and S G Bennett who each have a service
contract which contains a twelve month notice period

Director indemnity provisions

Under the Company's Articles of Association the Directors of the Company have the benefit of a qualifying third-party indemmty
provision which provides that they shall be mdemnified by the Company against certain liabiities as permitted by Sections 232 and 234 of
the Compaties Acl 2006 and against costs incurred by therm m relation 1o any bability for which they are mdemnified, The Company has
purchased and mamlains mswrance agamst directors’ and olicers labilbies inelaton w the Company,

Share capital and control
Dunng 2018 no shares were 1ssued or repurchased A total of 160,756 shares were purchased on the open market on behalf of the
sharehclders who elected to participate m the dividend reinvestmeant plan

The nghts and obligations attaching to the Company's ordinary shares, being the only class ¢f 1Issued share capital as well as the powers
of the Company's directors, are set out In the Company's Articles of Association copies of which can be obtained from Companies
House or can be downloaded from the Company’'s website here are no restrictions on the voting nghts attaching to the Company’s
ordinary shares or cn the transfer of securities in the Company No person holds securnties in the Company carrying special nghts with
regard to the control of the Company The Company i1s not aware of any agreements between holders of secunitias that may result in
testrictons on the transfer of securities or on voting nghts, Unless expressly specified to the contrary in the Articles of Assooiation ot the
Company, the Company’s Articles of Association may be amended by special resolution of the Company’'s shareholders

Other thar n relalion to ds borrowings which unless certain condiions gre satished, bHecorme repayable on g takeover, the Company 1s
nol party to any sgnific ant agreerments that would take effecd, aller or termimate upon o change of control following < lakeover Dicd The
Company does net have agreements with any director or employee that would provicle compensation for loss of office or employment
resulting from a takeaver

All of the Company's share schemes contain provisions telating 1o a change of control Cutstanding options and awards would narmally
vest and become exercisable on a change of cantrol. subject to the satisfacthion of any performance conditions at that tme
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Report of the Directors continued

Major shareholdings

Cther than the shareholdings disclosed as Directors’ interasts in the Directors remuneration report as at 15 February 2019, the Company
had been nobiied under Section & of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the UK Listing Authonty of the following sigrficant
heoldings of voting nights in s ordinary shares

Qrcdhnary shares  Percentage of ordinary

{number) shares in 1ssue Nature of helding
Kuala Lumpur Kepong Berhad Group 56,879,401 19.68 Cirect interest
Menan Global Investors (UK) Limited 25,006,134 7.38 Indirect interast
Standard Life Aberdeen plc 19,659,714 578 Indirect interest
Kames Caprtal Plg 13,403,772 394 Direct and indirect interest

Employment policies and employee involvement

The Group gives every consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons Employees who become disabled are
given every opportunity to continue employment under normal terms and conditions with appropriate training. career development and
promotion wherever possible. The Group seeks to achieve eqgual opportunities in employment through recrutment and trasming palicies

The Group encourages employee involvement in its affarrs and makes use of an intranet system to promote such involverment and to aid
communication with employees. Regional management conferences are held annually to bring senior management together to share
ideas and develop policy, values and behaviours Dialogue takes place regularly with employees to make them aware of the financial and
economic factors affecting the performance of the Group Performance related bonus schemes are in operation throughout the Group

Authority to purchase own shares

Tha Company has a general authonty, which expres at the conclusion of the 2018 Annual General Meeting, 10 make market purchases
of not more than 33,988,076 of the Company’s ordinary shares in accordance with the terms of the special resolution passed at the 2018
Annual General Meeting A resolutron will be tabled at the 2019 Annual General Meeting to renew this authority.

Political donations
No polical donations were made in the year

UK pension funds

The Trustees have reviewed the independent investment management of the assets of the Company pension schemes in the UK and
assured themselves of the secunty and controls in place. In particular, it 1s the Trustees’ policy not to invest in Synthomer plc shares nor
lend money to the Company.

Subsidiaries

All the Group's subsidiaries, joint ventures and related undertakings are listed on page 154 to 156

Statement as to disclosure of information to auditor

Each Director of the Company confims that, so far as he ot she 1s aware, there s ne relevant audit intormation of which the Gompany's
auditor ts unaware and that he or she has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself
or herself aware of any relevant audit nformation and to establish that the Cormpany's auditor 1s aware of that information For these
purpeses, relevant audit nformaticn means intarmation needed by the Company’s auditor In connection with preparing ther report on
pages 93 to 89,

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006
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Going concern

The directors have acknowledged the latest guidance on going concern and in reaching therr conclusions have taken into account
factors which include the refinancing in July 2018 of the Group's maih botrowing lacililes compnsing a comnitted unsecwed four yea
revolving credit facity of €440 million After making enguires and taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading performance.
the direclots are satistied that atl the Ume of approving the findnicial stalements 1t 1s appropnale to adopt the gong coneern basis
prepaning the inancial slaterments of both the Gioup and the Company

Cautionary statement

The purpose of this report 1s to provide Infarmation to the members of the Company It contains certam forward-locking statements
with respect to the operations, petformance and financial condition of the Group By ther nature, these statements invoive unces tainty
since future events and circurnstances can cause results and developments to differ matenially from those anticipated The forward-
looking statements reflect knowledge and mformaticn available at the date of preparation of this report and the Company undettakes no
obligation 1o update these forward looking statements Nothing n this report should be construed as a profil forecast

Independent auditors
A resolution to appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Company’s auditor will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting

Annual General Meeting
The Annual Gereral Meeting will be heki at the offices of Canaccord Genuty Limited, 88 Wood Street, London EC2V /QR
con 25 Apnl 2019 at 10 00am

By order of the Board
R Atkinson

Company Secretary
4 March 2019
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements
The directors ate responsible for preparng the Annual Report and the financial staterments in accordance with apphcabie law and regulation

Company faw reguires Ine dneclors 1o prepare inancial statements lor each financial year, Under that kaw the dieclots have prepdared

the Group iinancial statetnents in accordance with Intetnational Financilal Reporting Standacds (FRSs) as adonted by the Butopean

Urion and Conpary inancial slatements n accordance with Uniled Kingdorn Generally Accepted Accounting Practice {Unied Kingdom

Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework, and applicable faw) Under company law the directors

must not approve the financial statements unless they are sabisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affans of the Group ,
and Gompany and of the proht or joss of the Group and Company for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are

required to

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

+ state whether apphcable IFRSs as adopted by the European Umion have been followed for the Group financial statements and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101, have been followed for the Company inancial statements, subyect to any
matenal departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements,

+ make judgements and accounting estimates that are reascnable and prudent; and

+ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis uniess it is inapproprate to presume that the Group and Company wilf
continue In business

The dwectors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularihies

The diectors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and Company s
transactions and ¢hsclose with reasenable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Gompany and enable them to
ensure that the financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regaids the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

The drrectors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website, Legislation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparabon and dissermination ol hnancial statemments may difler from tegislation in other unsdictions

Directors’ confirmations
The directors consider that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whote, 1s far, balanced and understandable and provides the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group and Company’s position and performance, busmess modsl and strategy.

Each of the directors, whose names and functions are isted in the Report of the Directors confirm that, to the best of then knowledge

+ the Company financial statements, which have baen prepated in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice {United Kingdom Accounting Standards, compnising FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework, and applicable law), give a true
and fax view of the assels, habibies, financal posiion and protit of the Company,

+ the Group fnancial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, give a true
and farr view of the assets, habiities, financial position and proft of the Group; and

+ the Report of the Directors includes a fair review of the development and performance of the busmess and the position of the Group
and Company, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that 1t faces.

By order of the Board

€ G MaclLean S G Bennett
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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Group financial statements

independent auditors’ report
to the members of Synthomer plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
I oUr opInIon

+ Synthomer pie s group financial staterments and company financial statements (the "financial statements ) gve a true and fair view of
the state of the group s and of the compary’s affans as at 31 Deacember 2018 and of the group s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended;

+ the group financial statements have boen properly proparcd in accordance with International Nnancial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union,

+ lhe company financial statements have been propaerly prepatod in accordanco with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards. comprising FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law), and

+ the financial statements have been prepated in accordance with the requirements of the Compdnies Act 2006 and, as regards the group
hnancial statements Arlicle 4 of the IAS Reguilation,

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise the consclidated and company balance
shest as at 31 December 2018, the consclidated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive iIncome, the
consolidated cash flow statement, and the consclidated and company statements of changes in equity for the year then ended, and the
notes to the financial staternents, which include a description of the significant accounting policies

QOur opinion 1s consistent with our reporting to the Audit Cornmittee,

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Internationa!l Standards on Audrting (UK) {"ISAs {UK)") and applicable iaw Qur responsibilities
under ISAs {UK) are further described in the Audiors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of cur report We
beligve that the audit evidence we have obtained 1s sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion

Independence

We remained independent of the group In accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements
n the UK. which inciudes the FRC's Ethweal Standard. as applicable to lsted public interest entiies, and we have fulfilled cur other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements

To the best of our knowledge and belef, we declare that non audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided to
the group or the company

Other than those disciosed in note 8 to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit services to the group or the company in the
penad from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018,
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Group financial statements

Independent auditors’ report continued
to the members of Synthomer plc

Our audit approach
Overview

+ Overall group matenahty £6.75 nulion (2017 ©6 5 millon), based on 576 of underlying profit before taxation,
+ Overall company materiahty- £5 5 million (2017 £5 0 milhion), based on 2% of total assets

+ Audit procedures provide coverage of 86% of revenue, 87% of operating profit and 90% of underlying
aperating profit

+ Audit scope covers nine countries, performing procedures over 14 entities

+ Financially signdicant components in the UK, Germany and Malaysia

+ Valuation of Defined Benefit Pension Schemes,
+ Accounting for the acquisition of Pischelsdort
+ Prowisions for Uncertan Tax Positions

The scope of our audit

As part of designuing ow audit, we determined matenalty and assessed the risks of matenal misstatement in the financial statements In
particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective jJudgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates that
involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncartaun

Capabilty of the audit in detecting trregulartes, including fraud

Based on our understanding of the group/industry, we identified that the principal isks of non compliance with laws and regulations related
o breaches of environmental, health and safety and compliance regulations, and we considered the extent to which non-comphance mignt
have a matenial effect on the financial staterments We aiso consiclered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financrai
statements such as the Companies Act 2006, the | wiing Rules, Pensions legisiaton, Uk iax legisiation, UK envronmentat reguilations and
the EU regstration, evaluation, authorisation and restriction of chemicals regulations and equivalent local laws and regulations applicable to
significant component 1eams. We avaluated management s mcentives and cpportunities for fraudulent marnipulation of the financral
statements (ncluding the nisk of overnde of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related t¢ posting nappropriate journal
entries 1o ncrease revenue of reduce expenditure, and management has in accounting estimates The group engagement team shared this
risk assessment with the component avditors referred to 1n the scoping section of our repart beiow, so that they could Include approprate
audit procedures 1 response 10 such nsks n ther work Audit procedures performed by the group engagement team ands/or component
auditers included

+ Discussions with management and infernal audit, including consideration of known or suspected iNstances of non compliance with laws
and regulaticn and fraud,

+ Evaluation of management's controls designed to prevent and detect irregulanties:

+ Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in then significant accounting estimales, In particular in relation to
uncertam tax provisions and accounting for the acquisition of Pischeisdorf (see related key audit matters below),

+ Identifying and testing Journal entries, IN particular any Journal entnies posted with unusual agcount combinations or posted by
SEMNOT Management

There are inberent imitations in the audit procedures descnbed above and the further removed non-comphance with laws and regulations
15 from the events and transactions teflected in the financial statements the less Iikely we would become aware ot it Also the nisk of not
detecting a matenal rmwsstatement due to fraud 1s igher than the nsk of not detecting one resulting from enor. as fraud may mvolve
deliberate concealment by. for example. forgery ar intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.

We did not denty any key audit matters relatng to itregulariies, including fraud As in all of our audrs we also addressed the rnisk of
management overnde of mternal controls, mcludimg teshng jouwnals and evaluating whether there was ewidence of as by the directors that
represented a risk of matenai misstatement due to fraud
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are these matters that, in the auditors professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial

staterments of the current penod and nclude the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud)

identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on. the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit, _

and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we make on the resuhls of our proceadures thereon, a3

were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion therecn, and we do not provide 'ﬂ

a separate opinion on these matters This 1s not a complete list of all nsks identified by our audn

Key audit matter How cur audrt addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of Defined Benefit Pension Schemes We obtained external actuaral reports of the UK and German g

As set out In Note 26 on page 133 the Group has significant schemes which set out the calculations and assumptions £

defined benefit pension schemes. These pnmarly represent the underpinning the year end pension scheme valuation We read these ?.’:

Yule Catto Group retirement benefits scheme in the UK and an reports and were satisfied that the scope of therr work was such that ®

unfunded scheme in Germany, which account for £53.2 mllion we could use this work o provide evidence for the purpose of cur

and £69 1 milion, respectively. of the net pension deficit of £132 5 audit We assessed the competency and cbjectivity of the external

milion recorded on the Group balance sheet at the year end We  actuanes commussioned by the Group to perform the year end

tocused on the pension llabilities 1in particular, as the amounts calculations by considerning ther techrucal experhse and

reflected in the financial statements for defined benefits schemes  independence fram the Group We identfied no concerns ovear ther

are sensitive to relatively small changes in a few key assumptions  competency or ochjectivity We used our own specialst actuanal

such as the inflation rate, mortakity tables and most notably. the knowledge to evaluate all the key assumptions used n each of the two @

discount rate appled The Group uses third party actuanes to schemes by comparing these assumptions to our expectations for z

calculate the amounts tc reflect in the financial statements in similar schemes as at the year end We found management's »

respect of these schemes and 1t 1s accordingly important for us to  assumptions to be within an acceptable range. —

assess the work they perform and their competency to undertake

the work in order to conclude on the results of therr work %’

Accounting for the acquisiion of Pischelsdort We evaluated the process used by management to identfy and 5

On 31 January 2018 the Group completed the acquisition value the assets and labihties acquired We assessed the assets §

of the BASFE Pischelsdorf Styrene Butadiene Rubber business and habilities acquired and the fair value adjustments appled 2

{Pischelsdorf) for consideration of £25 8 million, as described In The far value adjustments were constdered appropnate, §

note 31 &

We considered the Directors’ process tor identitying the intangiblie ‘3’

IFRS 3 "Business Combinations” {"IFRS 3') reguires that all assets  assets acquired, considering the rationale for the acquisition and the i

and liabilities acquired in the business combmnation are recorded nature of the Pischelsdorf business Using our valuation specialists, we ®

at tar values on acguistion Judgement 1s required insdentfying assessed the valuation methodology used by the Directors in valuing ©

and valuing all the assets and llabilites acquired, in particular the wdentified agsets We evaluated the forecasts and data used and ]

intangible assets which are recognised on acquisition. the key assumptions made E

Intangible asssts totaling £17 6 million were identified relating to We were satisfied that the farr values of the intangible assets were p—

custamer relationships, a icensing agreement and a beneficial supportable, and that the assumptions used In valuing the assets o

lease The key Judgements were in determining an appropriate were within an acceptable range g

methodology to value these assets and appropriate assumptions, g

including forecast revenue and profit, discount rate and rates of =

obsolescence to determine therr farr values E

Provisions for Uncertain Tax Positions We used our tax specialsts to assess the level of provisions held E—-i

The Group has a wide gecgraphic footpnnt and 1s subject to a agamst varous tax exposures and to consider the appropnateness of 2

range of tax laws 10 a number of driferent tax unsdictions, In any provisions, In our assessment we had regard to the nature of the g

determining the amount to record at the year-end for tax latiities ndvidual exposures, including therr ongm, and any developments in g

there 1s an element of judgement as to what amounts will the year to assess the rationale for their continued validity at the i

utimately be payable for assessed tax exposures As set outin current year end As part of this work we inspected correspondeance B

Note 10 at 21 December 2018, the Group has recarded current with tax authorities and the Group s tax advisors We challenged the N

tax labilities totaling £38 3 million A significant element of this judgements made by assessing individual provisions against our &

fax labiity relates to uncertain tax positions We focused on this expectations of potential exposures, having regard to the facts of

area due tu the size of the amounts involved and level of gach case No sigrnificant 1ssues arose from this work 1o stggest that [—

Judgement needed to determine the estimated provisions the judgements made and amounts recorded were Indppropriate Q
=2
[l

We determined that there were no key audit matters applicable to the company to communicate in our report %
2
E
b
g
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Group financial statements

Independent auditors’ report continued
to the members of Synthomer plc

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audi to ensure that we perfarmed encugh work 1o be able 1o give an opnion on the financial siatements as a
whole, taking into account the structure of the group and the company, the accounting processes and controls, and the ndustry In which
they operate.

As set out on the Inside front cover the Group reports its results as two segments: ‘Europe and North America’ and "Asia and the Rest of
the World', The Group tinancial statements are a consohdation of reporting units, being holding companies, Intermediate holding companies
and operating companies, across 21 countries Three countries, being the UK, Germany and Malaysia. account for the majority for the
Group's results. We accordingly focused our work on three of the reporting units in these countnes, which were subject to audits of therr
complste tinancial information In addition. te Increase our coverage of the Group’s revenues and underlying profit before tax we performed
audit procedures at an additional 11 reporting units located in the UK, Italy, Beigum, Germany, Malaysiz, America, Finland, Austna and the
Czech Republic These components accounted for 86% of the Group's revenue, 87% of the Group’s cperating profit and 90% of the
Group's underlying operating profit,

Where work was performed by component auditors, we determined the level of iInvolvement we naeded to have n the audit work at those
reporting units to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the
Group financ:al statements s a whole. The key reporting units In the UK, Germany and Malaysia were visited by senor members of the
Group team during the audn

Materialty

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materality We set certain quantitative thresholds for matenalty These, together
with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, tming and extent of our audit procedures on
the individual financial statement ine tems and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements. both indwidually and in aggregate
on the financial statements as a whole

Based on our professional jJudgement, we determined materiaty for the financial statements as a whole as follows.

Group financiai statements Company financial statements

Overall matenality £6.75 million (2017 £6.5 mullion). £5 5 milion (2017 £5 0 million).

How we determined it 5% of underlying profit before taxation, 2% of total assets.

Rationale for benchmark applied We believe that underlying profit before tax,  We believe that total assets 1s the primary
being profit before tax adjusted for special measure used by the shareholders in
items, 1s the principal metric aganst which assessing the performance of the company,
the Group's financial performance is and 1s a generally accepted benchmark This
measured In the Chairman's and CEQ's has been capped at a level below that of the
staternants within the Annual Report group materialty

For each component in the scope of our group audit. we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall group materalty The range of
matenality allocated across components was between £450,000 and £5 5 millon. Certain components were audited to a local statutory
audit matenalty that was also less than our overall group materiality.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above £337,000 (Group audif)
(2017: £325,000) and £337,000 {Company audit) (2017 £325,000) as well as misstaternents below those amounts that, in our view,
warranted reporting for qualtative reasons

86
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Going concern
In accordance with 1ISAs {UK) we report as follows

Reporting cbligation Qutcome

Wa are reguired to report if we have anything material to add or draw  We have nothing matenial to add or to draw attention to

attention to in respect of the directors’ statement in the financial

staternents about whether the directors considered it appropriate to As not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this

adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparnng the statement 1s not a guarantee as to the Group’s and Company's ability

fingncial statements and the directors’ identification of any material to continue as a going concern, For exampla, the terms on which the

uncertamties to the group’s and the company’s ability to continue as  Uritedt Kingdom may withdraw from the European Union, which 1s

a going concern over a penad of at least twelve menths from the currently due to occur on 28 March 2019, are not clear, and it 1s

date of approval of the financial statements difficult to evaluate all of the potential mplications on the Group's and
Company's trade, customers, supphbers and the widler economy,

We are required to report If the directors’ statement relating to Going  We have nothing to report
Concern in accordance with Listing Rule @ 8.6R(3) 1s matenally
inconsistent with our knowledge obtaned in the auait.

Reporting on other information

The ather information comprises all of the information n the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon The directors are responsible for the other information Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, accordmgly, we do not express an audt opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report,

any form of assurance thereon

In connection with our audt of the financial statements. our responsibilty 1s to read the cther infermation and, in doing so. consider whether
the other information 1s matenally inconsistent with the tinancial statements or our knowledge obtained m the audit, or otherwise appeéars o
be matenaly misstated |If we identfy an apparent matenai inconsistency or matertal misstaterment, we are required to perform procedures
to conclude whether there 1s a matenal misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information If,
based on the work we have performad. we conclude that therg 1s a matsnal migstaterment of this other information, we are required to report
that fact We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors' Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies Act
2006 have been included

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2008 {CAO0B), ISAs
{UK) and the Listing Rules of the Financial Cenduct Authonty (FCA) reguire us also to report certain opinions and matters as described
below (required by 1SAs {UK) unless otherwise stated).
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Group financial statementis

Independent auditors' report continued
to the members of Synthomer pic

Strategic Report and Directors' Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors” Report
for the year ended 31 December 2018 1s consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable
lega! requirements (CAODB)

In ight of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and thelr environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did
not Wentify any matenal misstatements in the Strategie Report and Directors’ Report (CAQS)

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the group and of the principal risks that would threaten the solvency or iquidity of the group
We have nothing material to add or draw attention to regarding

+ The drrectors confitmation on page 70 of the Annual Report that thoy have camed out a robust assessment of the principal nisks tacing
the group, Including those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or hquidity

+ The disclesures in the Annual Report that describe those risks and explan how they are being managed or mitigated

+ The directors’ explanation on page 37 of the Annual Report as to how they have assessed the prospects of the group, over what period
they have done so and why they consider that period o be appropnate. and ther statemenit as to whether they have a reasonable
expectation that the group will be able to continue In cperation and meet 1ts labilities as they fall due over the pernod of their assessment,
inclucing any retated disclosures drawing atlenbon 1o any ngcessdry qualiflcalions or assunptions.

We have nothing to report having performed a review of the directors’ statement that they have carried out a robust assessment of the
principal nsks facing the group and statement in relation to the longer term viability of the group, Our review was substantally less In scope
than an audit and only consisted of making inguires and considenng the directors’ process supporting therr statements; checking that the
statements are in algnment with the relevant provisions ot the UK Corporate Governance Code {the "Code™; and considering whether the
statements are consistent with the knowiedge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the course
of the audit. (Listing Rules)

Other Code Provisions
We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibiity to report when:

+ The statement given by the directors, on page 92, that they consider the Annual Repart taken as a whole to be farr, balanced and
understandable. and provides the informahon necessary for the members to assess the group’s and company's positton and
performance, business model and strategy 15 matenally inconsistent with our knowledge of the group and company obtaned in the
course of performing our audit

+ The sechion of the Annual Report on page 69 describing the work of the Audit Commuttee does not appropriately address matters
communicated by us to the Audit Committee

+ The directors’ statement relating to the company’s compliance with the Code does not properly disclose a departure from a relevant
provision of the Code specified, under the Listing Rules, for review by the auditors,

Directors' Rermuneration
In our opinion. the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006 (CA0E)

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Respongibilities of the directors for the financial staterments

As explained more fully 1 the Staterment of Directors’ Responsibilities, the directors are responsiple for the preparation of the financial
statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and farr view. The directors are also
responsible for such internal control as they determine 1s necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
matenal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the company's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern bass of accounting unless
the directors aither intend 1o hquidate the group or the company or 1o cease operations, of nave no realistic alternative hut to do so
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Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Cur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from matenal misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to 1ssug an auditors' report that includes our opinion Reasonable assurance 1S a high level of assurance,
but 15 not a guarantee that an audit conducted In accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a matenal misstatement when it exists.
Misstaternents can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or In the aggregate. they could reasonably be
expected to nfluence the ecanomic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements

A further description of our responsibiities for the audit of the financial statements 1s located on the FRC s website at
www frc org uk/auditorsresponsibilities  This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report. including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 18 of the Companies Act 2008 and far no other purpose We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our
prior consent in writing

Other required reporting
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are reguired to report to you If, In our opinion

+ we have not recewved all the information and expianahons we require tor our audit, or

+ adequate accounting records have nct been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been recerved from
branches naot visited by us; or

+ cortain disclosures of directors remuneration speciicd by law arc not madie, or

+ the company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Hemuncration Beport to be audited are notin agrecment with the
accounting records and returns

We have no exceptions to repert arising from this responsibility

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the audit commitiee, we were appointed by the directors on 12 July 2012 to audit the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012 and subseguent financial penods  The penod of total uninterrupted engagement 15 7 years, covering
the years ended 31 December 2012 to 31 December 2018

Matthew Mullins (Senior S$tatutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

4 March 2019
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Group financial statements

Consoiidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
Underlying Spocial Underkying Special
performance tems IFRS performance tems FRS
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue 1,618.9 - 1,618.9 1,480.2 - 1.480.2
Company and subsidiaries before Special ltems 141.7 - 141.7 138.0 - 1380
Restruciunng and site closure 3 - {12.2) (12.2) - (116 11 8)
Sale of business 3 - 3.8 3.8 - -
Sale of land 3 - 16.4 16.4 13 13
Acquisttion costs 3 - (0.5) {0.5) - 2.3) 23
Amgertisation of acquired ntangbles 3 - {(16.4) {16.4) - 31.0) {31 0)
Aborted bond costs 3 - (1.7} 1.7) - - -
UK Guaranteed Minimurm Pension equalisation 3 - (2.8) (2.8) - - -
Company and subsidiaries 141.7 {13.4) 128.3 1380 (43 6) 94 4
Share of joint ventures 19 0.4 - 0.4 10 - 10
Operating profit/(loss) 7 1421 {13.4) 128.7 1390 (43.6) 95 4
Interest payabtle g {4.9) - (4.9} 5.7} - (5.7)
Interest recewvable 9 1.1 - 11 1.0 - 10
Fair value of unhedged interest derivatives 3 - (1.4) (1.4) - - -
(3.8) (1.4) 5.2) 4.7 4.7
IAS 19 interest charge g {3.2) - (3.2) 43 - 4.3)
Finance costs (7.0) {1.4) (8.4) 19.0) - {9.0)
Profit/(loss) before taxation 135.1 (14.8} 120.3 130.0 436 86.4
Taxation 10 (23.0) 6.0 {17.0} 24 7) 13.1 (11 6)
Profit/(loss) for the year 1124 {8.8) 103.3 105 3 (30.5) 74.8
Profit attnbutable to non-controlling Interests 0.5 3.0 3.5 o8 08
Profit/{loss) attributable to equity holders of the parent 111.6 {11.8) 99.8 104.5 {30 5) 74.0
121 (8.8) 103.3 1063 30 95) 748
Earnings/{loss) per share
- Basic 13 32.8p (3.4}p 29.4p 30.7p 8 Sip 21.8p
- Diluted 13 32.7p (3.5)p 29.2p 30 5p 8.9)p 216p
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2018
2018 2017
Equity Non- Equity Non-
holders of  controlling holders of controking
the parent Intorests Total the parent nterests Total
Nete £m £m £m £m £m £m
Profit for the year 99.8 as 103.3 740 0.8 74.8
Actuanal gains 26 15.5 - 15.5 236 - 236
lax relating to components of ather comprehensve Income 10 (2.3) - {2.3) 23 23
Total itemns that will not be raclassified to profit or loss 13.2 - 13.2 259 - 259
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 16.9 0.8 17.7 g2 - g2
kxchange differences recycled on sale of business (0.4) - {0.4) - -
Fair value of hedged intergst denvatives (3.9) - (3.9} - -
tosses on a hedge of a net nvestment taken to equity {3.2) - {3.2) (7 8) - 7 8
Total items that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss 9.4 0.8 10.2 1.4 - 14
Other comprehensive income for the year 22.6 0.8 23.4 273 - 27.3
Total comprehensive income for the year 122.4 4.3 126.7 1013 0.8 1021
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Hedging
Capital and Non-
Share Share redemption translation Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve samings Total iMerests squity
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1.January 2018 34.0 230.5 0.9 (3.0) 125.5 387.9 18.3 406.2
Profit for the year - - - - 99.8 99.8 3.5 103.3
Actuanal gains 26 - - - - 15.5 15.5 - 15.5
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations - - - 16.9 - 16.9 0.8 17.7
Exchange differences recycled on
sale of business - - - (0.4) - {0.4) - {0.4)
Fair value of hedged interest
derivatives - - - {3.9) - {3.9) - {3.9)
Loss on a hedge of a net
nvestment taken to equity - - - {3.2) - (3.2) - {3.2)
lax relating to components of
other comprehensive INcome 10 - - - - (2.3) (2.3) - {2.3)
Total comprehensive
income for the year - - - 924 113.0 122.4 4.3 126.7
Liadends paid to shareholders 12 - - - - {42.5) (42.5) - {42.5)
Dividends paid to
non-controling interests - - - - - - {1.5) (1.5)
Share-based payments - - - - {3.9) (3.9) - (3.9)
At 31 December 2018 34.0 230.5 0.9 6.4 192.1 463.9 211 485.0
Hedging
Captal and Non-
Share Share redemption transiation Retaned controling Total
capnal premium reserve TESEIVE earnings Total Interests equrty
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2017 340 2305 oR¢] 4.4) 652 3262 180 344.2
Profit for the year - - - - 74,0 740 08 748
Actuanal gains 26 - - 236 236 - 2386
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations - g2 92 - 92
Loss on a hedgs of a net
nvastment taken to equity - - (7 8) {7.8) - (7 8)
Tax relating to components of
other comprehensive Income 10 - - - 2.3 2.3 - 2.3
Total comprehensive
income for the year - 14 999 101.3 08 102 1
Cvidends paid to shareholders 12 - - - {391} 139 1) {39 1)
Mhvidends paid to
non cantroling nterests - - - 0.5} 0 5)
Share-based payments - - - - 10.5) {05 - 0 5)
At 31 December 2017 340 2305 0.9 (3 Q) 1255 387.9 183 406 2
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Group financial statements

Consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 December 2018

2018 2017

Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill 15 336.5 3291
Acquired mtangiie assets 18 69.1 o6 2
Other intangible assets 17 5.1 19
Property, plant and equipment 18 370.0 32241
Deferred tax assets 11 23.4 23.3
Investment in joint ventures 19 8.6 75
Total non-current assets B812,7 750.1
Current assets
Inventories 20 141.9 1251
Trade and other recevables 21 2329 2291
Cash and cash equivalents 22 96.9 886
Total current assets 471.7 443.8
Assets classified as held for sale 24 - 68
Total assets 1,284.4 1.200.7
Current liabilities
Borrowings 22 (70.1) {73 1)
Trade and cther payables 25 (263.2) 2793
Current tax habiity 10 {38.3) {40 2)
Provisions for other labiities and charges 27 (9.4) 2 4)
Dervatives at fair value 23 (5.3) -
Total current liabilities (386.3) (395.09)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 22 {240.8) (197 O)
Trade and cther payables 25 (0.7} 23
Deferrad tax hability 11 (34.3) 135 4)
Post retiremsnt beneht cbligations 26 {132.5) (157.2)
Provisions for other liabiities and charges 27 (4.8) (7 6)
Total non-current liabilities {413.1) {329.5)
Net assets 485.0 406.2
Equity
Called up share capital 28 34.0 340
Share prermiurnm 230.5 230.5
Capnal redemption reserve 0.9 09
Hedgng and translation reserve 6.4 30
Retained earnings 192.1 1255
Equity attributable to equity hoiders of the parent 463.9 3879
Non-controlling interests 211 18.3
Total equity 485.0 406.2

Ihe financial statements on pages 100 10 144 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 4 March 2019 They are
signed on its behalf by,

C G MacLean S G Bennett
Director Director
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Consoclidated cash flow statement %
for the year ended 31 December 2018 :S
2018 2017
Note £m £m £m m
Operating
Cash generated from operations 29 124.9 162 6 b
Interest received 1.1 10 g
Interest paid {5.8) 58} | —
Net interast paid {4.5) 48 re—
UK corporation tax paid - - o
Overseas corporate tax paid {23.0) 126 1) g
Total tax paid (23.0) 26 1) -
Net cash inflow from operating activities 97.4 1317 ®
Investing
Dwidends received from joint ventures 19 1.1 20
Purchase of property. plant and equipment {75.7) B0 3)
Sale of property, plant and equipment 17.5 22
Net capital expenditure (58.2) B8N §
Purchase of business 31 (25.8) 64 1) ~
Froceeds from sale of business 32 3.7 7.6 ———
Net cash outflow from investing activities (79.2) {112.6) )
o
Financing ‘-c_’-.
Ordinary dividends paid 12 (42.5) 139 1) g
Dividends paid to non-controling interests {1.5) {0 5) E
Settlement of eguity-settled share-based payments {5.4) 131} ;:
Repayment of borrowings 30 {63.5) {102 0) §
Proceeds of borrowings 30 103.9 1363 E
Net cash outflow from financing activites (2.0} 8 4)
L -1
w
Increase in cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts during the year 9.2 107 E
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at 1 January 30 65.4 520 e
O
Cash {outflows)/inflows 5
Cash and cash squivalents 30 56 @8 5 E
Bank overdrafts 30 3.6 392 F
9.2 107 g
Foraign exchange and other movements 30 1.6 2.7 2
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at 31 December 30 76.2 65 4 g
&
Reconciliation of net cash flow from operating activities to movement in net borrowings g
2018 2017
Note £m £m p—
MNet cash inflow from operating activities 97.4 1317 Q
Add back dividends receved from joint venturaes 19 1.1 20 §
Less net capital expenditure {58.2} 58 11 ;"
Less. net purchase of business {22.1) (56 O} §.
18.2 191 E
Crohinary diadends pad 12 {42.5) (39 1}
Diviciends paid to non cantroling interests {1.5) {0 5)
Settlement of equity settledt shave based payments (5.4) {31}
Foreign exchange and other movements 30 {2.3) (5 6} &
Increase in net borrowings 30 {33.5) {30 2} ;
a8
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2018

1 General information
Synthomer pic 1s a public imited company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act The address of the
reqistered office is given on page 180 The Company s iisted on the London Stock Exchange

The consolidated hinancial statements are prepared In pounds sterling tfunchonal currency of the parent company) Foreign operations are
included in accordance with the policies set out In note 2

New and amended standards adopted by the Group
The Group has appled the following standards and amendments for the first time for the annual reporting penod commencing 1 January 2018

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS g replaced IAS 39 Finanoial Instruments Recegnition and Measurement, 1t addresses the classification, measurement and
de-recognition of financial assets and financial labiities, introduces new rules for hedge accounting and a new mparment model for
financial assets This standard 1s mandatory for financial years commenaing on or after 1 January 2018

The adoption of IFRS 9 did not have a material impact on the amounts recognised in the current peried or the pnor period and it 15 not
expected to signficantly impact future periods. The Group has chasen to continue to apply the hedge accounting reguirements of IAS 39
as permitted by the standard

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The IASE 1ssued a2 new standard for the recognition of revenue which i¢ mandatory for financial years commencing on or after 1 January
2018 This replaced IAS 18 which covered contracts for goods and services and IAS 11 which covered construction contracts, The new
standard 1s based on the principle that revenue 1s recognised when perfermance obligations are met and control of goods or services
transfers to a customer The standard applies a five step approach to the timing of revenue recognition

The adoption of IFRS 15 did not have a matenal impact on the amounts recognised in the current period or the prior partod and it 1s not
expeacted te significantly impact future penods

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been pubhshed that are not mandatory for the 31 December 2018 reporting
period and have not been early adopted by the Group The Group's assessment of the mpact of these new standards and interpretations s
set out below

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 was issued Iin January 2016 For lessees, It will result in almost all leases being recognised on the balance shest, as the distinction
between operating and tinance leases 1s removed Under the new standard, an asset (the nght-to-use the leased item) and a financial
liability to pay rentals are recogmsed. The only exceptions are short term and low value leases. This standard 18 mandatory tor financial
years commencing on or after 1 Janvary 2019,

The standard wili prmarily affect the accounting for the Group's cperating leases, and the Group has undertaken a review to identiy all
leases in each entity As at the reporting date, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of £30.4m (ses note 34).

Work has now been camed out to determme the financial impact on adoption of this accounting standard as at 1 January 2019 Using the
modified retrospective method of adoption the Group expects to recognise nght-of use assets and corresponding lease labilties of
approximately £43m The approximate impact will be an increase to EBITDA of £7m, an increase to deprecration of £6m and an mcrease to
Interest payable to give a nilimpact on profrt before taxation in the year ending 31 Dacember 2019

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to bave a matenal impact on the entity in the current or
future reporting penods and on foreseeable future transactions

2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards {(IFRS) as adopted by the
European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU). IFRS Interpretations Gommittes and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies
reporting under IFRS The financial statements have been prepared on the histoncal cost basis, except for the revaluation of financial
nstruments at fair value through the Income Staternent. As discussed in the Report of the Directors on page 91, the financial staterments
have been prepared on a gaing concern basis The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below and have been consistently
apphed to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated,

Basis of consolidation

The consoldated financial statemants incorporate the financial statemenits of the Company and entities controlied by the Company

{its subsidianies) made up to 31 December sach year Control s achieved where the Company 15 exposed, or has nghts, to vanable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee
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The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of duning the year are included in the consolidated inceme statement from the effective
date of acauisition or up to the etfective date of disposal, as appropriate Where necessary. adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidianes to bring the accounting policies used into ine with those used by the Group

Ihe results of joint ventures are acaounted for using equity accounting.

Non-controling interests i the net assets of consoiidated subsidianes are identified separately from the Group's equity therein
Non controling interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the onginai business combination (see below) and the
non controfing interest’s share of changes in equity since the date of combination.

All intra-group transactions, balances, ncome and expenses are eliminated on consoldation,

Goodwill

Goodwill arsing on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest i the farr value of the identifiable
assets and labihes of a subsichary, associate or joint venture at the date of acquisition Goodwill 1s recognised as an asset and reviewed for
impanrment at least annually Any imparment 1s recognised immediately in the consoldated income statement and 13 not subsequently reversed.

Should the far value of the identiflable assets exceed the cost of acguistion, a "Bargain purchase’, the excess 1s credited to the incoms
statement immediately on acguisition

For the purpose of mparment testing goodwill 1s allocated to each of the Group's cash generating units expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination Cash generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually. or more
frequently when there 1s an indication that the unit may be impared If the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit 1s less than the
carrying amount ¢f the unt, the imparrment loss 1s allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwll allocated to the unit and
then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset In the unit

Should the fair value of the Wentifiable assets exceed the cost of acquisition, the excess s credited to the income statement immediately
on acquisthon

On disposal of a subsidiary, associate or joint venture, the atiributable amount of goodwill s Included 1N the determination of the profit or
loss on disposal

Goodwill ansing on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS has been retained at the previous UK GAAR amounts subject to being
tested for Imparrment at that date Goodwill written off to reserves under UK GAAP prior to 1998 has not been reinstated and s not included
in deterrining any subsequent profit or loss on disposal

Business combinations

Acquisihons of subsidianes and businesses are accounted for using the acguisition method  The consideration for each acquistion 1s
measured at the aggregate of the far values (at the date of completion) of assets given, habiliies incurred or assumed, and equity mstruments
1ssued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquired entity Acquisition related costs are recognised in the profit or loss as incurred

The dentfiable assets, labiities and contingent labilities of the acquired entity that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 (2008)
are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that

+ deferred tax assets or labilibes are recognised and measured in accordance with 1AS 12 Income Taxes,

+ habylities or asses elaled 1o employee henelil arangenents are recogrsed and measured accordane ¢ with 1AS 189 Limployee Benehls
and

+ assets (or disposal groups) that are classthed as held for sale n aceordance with IF1IS8 5 Non-Current Assets Held tor Sale and
thscontinued Operations are measured in agcordance with that standard

If the initial accounting for a business combination 15 INncomplete by the end of the reporting pericd in which the combimation ocours, the
Group reports provisional amaounts for the items for which the accounting 1s ncomplete Those provistonal amounts are adjusted during
the measurement period (see below), or additional assets or llabiities are recognised, to reflect new information obtaned about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known would have affected the amounts as of that date

The measurement perod is the penod from the date of acaquisition to the date the Group obtains complete miormation about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisthion date and s sutyject to g maximurm of ong year

if the business combination 1s achieved in stages, the acguisition date carrying vealue of the acqguirer s previousty held investment s
re measured to fair value at the acousmion date, any gains or losses from such re measurement are recognised inthe ncome statement
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Group financial statements

MNotes to the consclidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

2 Significant accounting policies continued

Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired through acquisition are measured at therr far value and are amorbised on a straight ine basis over their estimated
useful ives, on the following bases

Customer relationships - between 5 and 15 years
Other intangibles - up to 10 years

Assets with an indefimte Iife are not suyect to amortisation
Where necessary the tair value at acquisition and estimated usetul ives for these intangible assets are based on Independent vatuation reports

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets that are nat acquired through a business combination are witially measured at cost and amortised an a straight ine
bagis over ther estimated useful ives of between 3 and 5 years

An imternally generated intangible asset ansing from the Group's product development 15 recogrised oniy if all of the following conditions in
|AS 38 are met

+ an assel 1 created that can be separately iIdentified {such as software and new processes),

+ 1118 technically feasibie to complete the asset;

+ management intends to complete the development;

+ there is an ability to use or sell the asset once development has been completed,

+ 1t 15 probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits,

+ adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development are avallable, and
+ the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably

Where no internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure IS recognised as an expense in the pered in
which it 1s incurred

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment 15 stated at cost, nat of accumulated depreciation and any provision for imparment Cost comprises ongmal
purchase price and the costs attnbutabile to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use, including, where appropriata,
capitalised inance costs Except tor freehold land, which is not depreciated, the cost of property, plant and equipment 1s depreciated on a
straight-ine basts over its expected useful life as follows

Freehold buldings — 50 years
Leasehold land and buddings - the lesser of 50 years and the penod of the lease
Plant and equipment - between 3 and 10 years

Agsets in the course of construction are not depreciated until the assets are ready for ther intended use.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its plant, property and eguipment and intangible assets to determine
whether there Is any indication that those assets have suffered an imparment loss, It any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset 1s estimated in order to determine the extent of the iImparrment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are
independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs

The recoverable amount Is the higher of farr value less casts to sell and value in use In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to therr present value using a pre tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
monegy and the nisks specrfic to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted

If the recoverablte amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) 1s estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset {or cash generating unit) 1s reduced to 1ts recoverable amount An impairment loss 1s recognised In the income statement

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) 18 Increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no imparrment loss been recognised in prior vears A reversal of an impairment loss is recogmised immediately in the
Income statement
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Joint ventures

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method Under the eguity method of accounting, interests in joint ventures are initiaily
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisittion profits or losses and movements In other
comprehensive iIncome

yodas 2ie1eng

3
Leases g
Leases in which a significant portion of the nsks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Group as the lessee are classiied as I
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any mcentives receved from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a
straight ine basis over the period of the lease o
2
Inventories E:
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost compnses direct matenals and. where applicable, direct labour §
costs and those overheads that have been incurred n bringing the nventonies 1o therr present location and condition. Cost 13 calculated
using the weighted average method Net realisable value represents the estimated seling price less all estimated costs of completion and
costs to be incurred in marketing, seling and distribution Provision 1s made for obsolete, slow-moving or defective tems where appropriate
Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial labilihes are recognised on the Group's balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument,
8
Loans and receivables o
Trade recevables ]
Trade recevables are amounts due from customers for goods sold In the ordinary course of business They are generally short term in
nature and are therefore classified as current assets and therr tair value recognised at the consideration due !he carryving value of trads (]
recevables are considered to be the same as therr far values. due to ther short-term nature Appropriate allowances for estimated 2
rrecoverable amaounts are recognised in the ncome statement based on expected losses v-,
All trade receivables that are factored by third parties are done so on a non-recourse basis. At the pont of factoring. the Group forfeits the -
nght to future cash flows from these recewvables and those amounts are derecognised The cost of factoring recevables 1s recognised as a 3
finance cost in the period In which the recewable 15 factored
Amortised bank borrowings
Interest-bearnng bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds recewved net of direct 1Issue costs Finance charges, ncluding
prermiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct 1ssue costs are accounted for on an accruals basis to the income statement L
using the effective interest method and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the -
penod in which they arise -
Trade payables
Trade payables are generally short term in nature and are therefore classified as current labilties They are recognised nihally at therr far 9
value and subseguently measured at amortised cost using the effective mterast rate method. 1he carrying value of trade payables are 3,33
considered to be the same as therr far values, due to therr short-term nature 3
]
Impairment of financial assets 3
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of ts inancal assets to determine whether there s any indication that %
those assets have suffered an impairment loss If any such indication exsts, the recoverable amount of the asset 1s estimated in order to :':,;
detorrming the extent of the mpairment loss (f any} 2
g
Finance costs N
Finance costs of debt are recogmsed in the ncome staterment over the term of such instruments at an effective interest rate on the carrying I&
amount Finance costs that are directly attributable to the construction of property, plant and equipment are capitaiised as part of the cost g
of those assets in accordance with I1AS 23
e
z
3
]
3
]
_ﬂ'
g
———
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

2 Significant accounting policies continued

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity s functional currencgy are
recorded at the rates of exchange prevalling on the dates of the transactions. At each batance sheet date, monetary assets and hatulities
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date, Non monetary assets and
labities carned at fair valug that are denorminated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevalling at the date when the far value
was determined Non-monetary items that are measured In terms of historical cost In a foreign currency are not retranslated.

In order to hedge its exposure to certain foreign exchange risks, the Group enters into forward contracts (see below for detalls of the
Group's accounting policies in respect of such dervative ftinancial instruments)

On consclidation, the assets and habilities of the Group's overseas operations are translated at exchange rates prevaiing on the balance
sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the relevant average exchange rates for the perniod Exchange differences arising.
ifany, are classified as equity and transferred to the Group’'s transtation reserve. Such translation differences are recognised In the ncome
statement In the pernod 1N which the operation 1s disposed of

Goodwill and farr value adjustments ansing on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and labities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate The Group elected to treat goodwill and farr value adjustments arising on acauisitions before the date of
transihon to IFRS as sterling-denominated assets and habiities

Derivative financial instruments
The use of financial dervatives 1s governed by the Group's policies approved by the Board of Directors, which provide written principles on
the use of financial denvatives, as set cut In note 23

The Group enters into a vanety of derivative financial Instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate nisk,
Including foreign exchangé forward contracts. interest rate swaps and foreign currency options

Dervatives are initially recognised at far value at the date a derivative contract 1s entered into and are subsequently remeasured 1o their

far value at each balance sheet date A denvative with a positive farr value 1s recognised as a financial asset whereas a dervative with a
negative far value 1s recognised as a financial lability The resulting gan or loss 1s recognised in the income statement immediately unless
the denvative 15 designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in the mcome statement
depends on the nature of the hedge relationship The Group designates certan derivatives as either hedges of highly probable forecast
transactions or hedges of foreign currency nsk of firm commitments {cash flow hedges), or hedges of net investments In foreign operations,

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain hedging instruments, which include derivatives, embedded dervatives and non-dervatives in respect of
foreign currency risk as farr value hedges, cash flow hedges or hedges of net mvestments in foreign operations

Fair value hedges

Changes in the fair value of dervatives that are designated and gualfy as far value hedges are recorded In the income statement, together
with any changes i the far value of the hedged assets or habilities that are attributable to the hedged risk The Group only applies fair value
hedge accounting for foreign currency exposure asscciated with the underlying hedged tem The gam or foss relating to the ineffective
portion 1s also recogrised N the Income statement

Cash flow hedges

At the inception of the hedge relationship the entty documents the relattonship between the hedging instrument and the hedged iterm, along
with its sk management objectives and ts strategy for undertaking vanious hedge transactions. I'urthermore, at the inception of the hedge
and on an ongoing basis, the Group documeants whether the hedging nstrument that 1s used In a hedaing relationship is ighly eftective in
offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item

The effective partion of changes in the farr value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are deferred in equrty
The gain or loss relating {0 the ineffective portion 1s recognised iImmediately in the income statement

Amounts deferred i equity are recycled in the iIncome statement in the periods when the hedged item is recognised In protit or loss, n the
same line of the Income statement as the recognised hedged tem However, when the forecast transacton that 1s hedged results in the
recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-tinancial hability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferrad from equity
and included in the inihial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or non-financial hability

Hedge accounting I1s discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or Is sold, terminated,
or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting Any cumulative gain or loss deferred In equity at that time remains in equity and s
recogrised when the forecast transaction s ultimatsly recognised in profit or loss When a forecast transactian is no longer expected to
occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity 1s recognised immediately in profrt or loss
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Hedges of net investments in foreign operations

Hedges of net investments i foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument
relating to the sffective portion of the hedge 15 recognised n equity 1n the foreign currency translation reserve The gain or logs relating 1o the
neffective portion 18 recogmsed immeadiately In the Income statement,

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at cail with banks which become fully hquid within three months or less and
other short term highly iguid investments with ongimal maturities of three moenths or less,

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deterred tax

The tax currently payable i1s based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement
because It excludes items of Income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible The Group's lability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the balance sheet date.

Detferred tax 1s the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and habilities n the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and s accounted for using the balance sheet
hability method Deferred tax liabihties are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it 1 probable that taxable profits will be avallable against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised

Deferred tax lhabilties are recogrnised for taxable tempaorary differences ansing on investments in subsidianes and associates, and interests
injomt ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversai of the temporary diference and it 1s probable that the temporary
difference wil not reverse In the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets 1s reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 18 no longer probable
that suffictent taxable profits will be avalable to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax 1s calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the penod when the labihity 1s settled or the asset 1s realised
Deferred tax 1s charged or credited in the income statement, except when 1t relates to items charged or credited directiy to equity. in which
case the deferred tax 1s also dealt with in equity

Deferred income tax assets and habities are offset when there 1s a legally enforceable nght to offset current tax assets against current tax
habilities and when the deferred iIncome tax assets and labilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there 1s an mtention to settle the balances on a net basis

Retirement benefit costs

Current and past service ¢osts in respect of the Group's defined benefit pension schemes are charged to the consolidated income
statement Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged to the income statement as they fall due Actuanal
gains on the defined benetit schemes are recognised in full In each period in which they occur They are recognised outside of the
congolidated mcome statement and are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive Income

The hability recognised m the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans 1s the present value of the defined benefit obligation
at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets The defined benefit obligation 1s calculated annually using the projected
unit credit method  The present value of the definad benefit obligation 1s determined by discounting the estimated future cash cutflows
using interest rates of high quality corporate bonds that are dencminated in the currency 1in which the benefits will be paid. and that have
terms to maturity approxmating to the terms of the refated pension obligation

The UK defined benefit scherme s funded, with the assets of the scheme held separately from those of the Group, in separate trustee-
administered funds For the German schemes, the assets are Included within the assets of the respective companies, as permitted under
local laws  |he assets of the other overseas schemes are held separately from those of the Group
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

2 Significant accounting policies continued

Provisions

Provisions for restructuring costs are recognised when the Group has a detalled formal plan for the restructunng that has been
communicated to affected parties

Hevenue recognition
Revenue 1s measured at the fair value of the consideration received or recewvable and represents amounts recevable for goods provided in
the normal course of business net of discounts, VAT and other sales related taxes.

Revenue Is recognised under the provisions of IFRS 15 when performance obligations are met and control of the goods passes to
the customer

Share-based payments
The Group has applied the reguirements of IFRS 2 Share-based Payments

The Group issues equity-settled share based payments 1o certain employees Eguity settled share-based payments are measured at
fair vadue at the date of grant. The farr value determined at the grant date of the eguity-settled share-based payments 1s expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting penod The Group will on occasion, at its own discretion, settle the share based payments in cash
rather than equity

Definitions
Operating profit
Operating profit represents profit from continuing activities before financing costs and taxation

EBITDA
EBITDA 15 calculated as operating profit before depreciation amaortisation and Special Hems (as defined below}

Special ltems
The following are disclosed separately as Special tems in order to provide a clearer Indication of the Group's underlying perfarmance:

+ Re-structuring and site closure costs,

+ Sale of a business or sigrificant asset,

+ Acquisihon costs,

+ Amortisation of acquired intangible assats,

+ Imparrment of non-current assets,

+ Fair value adjustment - mark to market adjustments in respect of cross currency and interest rate dervatives used for hedging purposes
where |IAS 38 hedge accounting 1s not applied,

+ items of income and expense that are considered matenal, erther by their size and/or nature;

+ Tax impact of above tems, and

+ Settlement ot prior period tax 1Issues

These Special fems are either iregular and therefore including them in the assessment of a segment's performance would lgad to a
distortion of trends or are technical adjustments which ensure the Group's financial statements arg In complance with IFRS but do not
reflect the operatng performance of the segment in the year

Underlying performance
Undertying performance represents the statutory performance of the Group under IFRS, excluding Special ltems.

Net cash/(borrowings)

Net cash/{borrowings) represents cash and cash eguivalents less short and long term borrowings, as adjusted for the effect of related
dervative Instruments, irrespective of whether they qualify for hedge accounting, non-recourse factorning arrangements and the inctusion of
financial assets

Critical accounting judgements and estimates

The following provides information on those policies that management considers ¢ntical because of the level of judgement and estimation
required which often involves assumptions regarding future events which can vary from what 1s anticipated 1he directors believe that the
financial statements reflect appropriate jJudgements and estimates and provide a true and fair view of Synthomer's performance and
financial posthon,

Valuation of goodwill and intangibles on acquisition

Acguired infangibles INRS 3 (revised) "Business Combinations” reguires that goodwill ansing on the acquisition of sebsidianes 1s capitalsed
and included in intangible assets. IFRS 3 (revised) also requires the identfication of gther intangible assets at acquisiion The assumptions
involved In valluing these intangible assets require the use of estimates and judgements, that may differ from the actual cutcorme These
estimates and Judgements cover future growth rates. expected inflation rates and the discount rate used Changing the assumptions
selected by management could significantly affect the allocation of the purchase price paid between goodwill and other acquired intangibles)
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Post retirement benefit obligations
Included 0 the actuaries’ calculation of the post retirement benefit obhigations are a numiber of assumptions Any changes in these
assumptions will impact the carrying value of the obligations These are shown in detal in note 26

Current tax liability and deferred tax

The Group annually incurs significant amounts of income taxes payable to varous junsdictions arcund the world and it also recognises
sigmificant changes in deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities, all of which are based on management’s interpretations of apphcable
laws, regulations and relevant court decisions The quality of these estimates s highly dependent upon management s ability to properly
apply what can be very complex sets of rules and to recognise ¢changes in applicable rules.

3 Special tems
The Special ltems are made up as follows:

woday 21681808
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2018 2017
Note £m £m

Continuing operations
Restructuring and site closure {12.2) (11 6)
Sale of busmess 38 -
Sale of land 24 16.4 1.3
Acquisition costs 31 {0.5) 23
Amortisation of acquired iIntangbles 16 (16.4) (310}
Aborted bond costs {1.7) -
UK Guaranteed Minimum Pension equalisation (2.8) -
QOperating loss (13.4} {43 B)
Finance costs
Farr value of unhedged interest denvatives 2] {(1.4) -
Loss before taxation from continuing operations (14.8) 143 6)
Taxation 10 6.0 131
Loss for the year from continuing operations (8.8) 30 5)

Reastructunng and site closure relates to the natural rubber and polyester resing production ines, in Kiuang {Malaysia). which closed in
Q4 2018, and an increase In the onerous lease and related provisions for the Ossett site due 1o a change In circumstance relating to the
subletting of the site, In 2017, 1t primarily related to the ratonahsation of the Ribecourt (France) site and the nhal onerous lease provision
for the Ossett site

sjuowoyes jejaueuy dnoin

rPL-S6

Sale of business relates to the disposal of the Leuna (Germany) site and the disposal of 51% of our sales entiies in Dubay

Sale of land in 2018 refates to the disposal of the iinal tranche of Malaysian land at Kluang. The profit on sale of land in 2017 related to a
disposal of land It Hapton {UK)

Acquisition costs were incurred in relation to BASF Pischelsdorf {2017 BASF Pischelsdort and Speciahty Addiives) and for other potential
acquistions which will not occur or had not occurred before the balance sheet date

Amortisation of acquired intangibles decreased significantly during 2018 due to the full amortisation during the year of the PolymearLatex
customer relationships acqguired durng 2011, The amortization ncludes £1 4m in respect of intangibles relating to the acouisition of BASE
Pischelsdorf in 2018

Ahead of the Group refinancing during the yvear, a process was undertaken to 1ssue fixed rate unsecured senior notes Despite a strong
response from investors the Group decided not 1o complete the transaction due to unfavourable market conditions The costs of this
process are net reflective of Underlying performance

Following a UK High Court ruling during the year in relation to the egualisation of male and female Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (GMP}
a pension plan amendment 1s deemed to have occurred  The actuanal estimate of this streqular cost was £2 8m

As part of the Group refinancing in July 2018 we entered into swap arrangements to fix interest rates on the full value of the €440m
committed unsecurad revolving credit faciity  The tair value of the unhedged derivatives relates to the mark to market of the swap at
31 Decerbor 2008 0 excess, of the o rrent horrowangs of the Cronp arcd hias beer taken through Seecial Hems as e not reflec tive
of the Underlying performance
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

4 Segmental analysis
The Group's Executive Committee, chaired by the Chief Executive Officer, examines the Group's performance and has wentified two
reportable segments of its business

Europe and North America (ENA)
These markats are well developed and are typically growing in ine with GDP,

Asia and Rest of the Wortd (ARW)

These markets are charactersed by growing at rates generally above GDP coupled with an increased pengtration of more sophisticated
products into wider uses

The Executive Committee pnimarily uses a measure of earnings befors interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) to assess the
performance of the operating segments No information is provided to the Committee at the segment level concerning nterest income,
Interest expenses, INncome taxes or other matenal non cash tems

No single customer accounts for more than 10% of the Group's revenues

Analysis by activity - Revenue

2018 2047

£m £m

Europe & North Amernca 1,228.4 1134 9
Asia & Rest of the World 390.5 345.3

1,618.9 1,480.2

Analysis by activity — Operating Profit 2018 2017
Share of Share ot
joint joint
fos Total Subsidiares ventures Total
£m Em £m £m £m €m
Europe & North America 91.8 - 91.8 775 - 775
Asia & Rest of the World 54.5 04 54.9 302 10 312
Reported segment operating profit 146.3 0.4 146.7 1077 10 108.7
Unaliocated corporate expenses (18.0) - {18.0) {13.3) - {13.3)
Operating profit 128.3 0.4 128.7 94 4 10 954
Analysis by activity 2018
n Amortisation
Totat Fotal Capital and acquired
assets liabilities expenditure amortisation intangibles
Note £m £m £m £m m
Subsidiaries
Furope & North Amerca 516.6 {189.6) 61.0 246 12.6
Asia & Rest of the World 226.2 {78.4) 16.3 14.0 3.8
742.8 (268.0) 77.3 38.6 16.4
Unallocated assets and liabilities 71 {15.4) - 0.3 -
749.9 (283.4) 77.3 38.9 16.4
Share of jont ventures 19 14.0 5.4)
Goodwill 15 336.5 -
Acaurad intangibles and related deferred tax 16 69.1 {13.4)
Current and deferred taxation 234 {59.2)
Post retirement benefit obligations 26 - {132.5})
Net borrowings 22 - {214.0}
1,192.9 (707.9)
Net assets 485.0
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2017
Depreciahion  Amortisation
Total Total Caprtal and acquired
assets habimes expenditure  amottisaton intangibles
Note £m £m £m £m £m
Subsidiaries
Eurcpe & North America 453.9 {205 2) 363 238 27.3
Asia & Rest of the World 224 8 718 24 3 131 37
6785 (277 0 606 369 310
Unallocated assets and habiities 65 14 6} Q3
B850 (291 6} 60.6 37.2 31.0
Share of joint ventures 19 109 3.4}
Goodwil 15 3291 -
Acquired intangibles and related deferred tax 16 B& 2 1186.3)
Current and deferred taxation 233 159.3)
Post retirement bengtit obigations 26 - (157 2)
Net borrowings 22 {180 5)
1,114 5 (708 3)
Net assets 408 2
Analysis of total revenue by destination 2018 2017
£m £m
UK 87.0 69 4
Germany 2345 2251
Other Western Europe 556.3 483 8
Western Europe 877.8 7783
Eastern Eurgpe 118.0 1028
North Amenca 92.4 84 9
Malaysia 260.1 1853
Other Asia 195.2 2288
Atrica and Middle East 45.7 582
Rest of the World 29.7 219
1,618.9 1,480 2

BOUBLLIGAOD) | | 25-041 vodel 216ajeng
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Inter-segmental revenue

In addition to the amounts included above, INter-segmental reveniue was earned as set out below. This cvenue was el minated on consoldation

208 2017

Europe & Asia & Europe & Asia g

North Rest of North Rest of
America World Total America World Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Europe & North America - 18.7 18.7 - 162 162
Asia & Rest of the World 1.1 - 14 08 - 08
Total 1.1 18,7 19.8 08 162 17.0
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

5 Underlying segmental performance

The IFRS profit measures show the performance of the Group as a whole and as such includes all sources of Income and expenses, including
both one-off tems and those that do not relate to the Group's ongoing busmesses To provide ncreased clarty on the ongoing trading
periormance of the Group's businesses, management uses "underlying performance” as an alternative performance measure to plan for,
control and assess the performance of the segments Underlying performance differs from the IFRS measures as i excludes Special ltems

The defintion of Special tems 1s shown N note 2 and has been consistently apphed Special ltems are either wregular, and theretore
ncluding them in the assessment of a segment’s perfarmance would lead to a distortion of trends, or are technical adjustments which
ensure the Group's financial statements are in compliance with 1IFRS but do not reflect the operating performance of the segment In
the year, or both An example of the fatter 1s the amortisation of acquied intangibles, which principally relates to acquired customer
relationships. The Group incurs costs, which are recognised as an expense In the iIncome statement, In maintaining these customer
relationships The Group considers that the exclusion of the amortisation charge on acgured intangibles from Underlying performance
avoids the potential double counting of such costs and therefore excludes It as a Special tem frem Underlying performance

Reconciliation of Underlying performance to IFRS

2018 207
Europs Asia & Unasllocated Europe Asla & Unallocated
& North Restof corporate & North Rest of corporate
America World #xpenses Total America Worid expenses Total
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue
Underlying performance and
IFRS 1,228.4 390.5 1,618.9 1,134 9 3453 1.480.2

Operating profit/loss) - including
share of joint ventures
Underlying performance 111.2 45.7 {14.8) 1421 1171 351 13 2) 1390
Special ltems
Restructuring & site

closure costs (6.0) 16.2) - (12.2) {113 02 0N (11 6)
Sale of busingss 1.0 2.8 - 3.8 -

Sale of land - 16.4 - 16.4 13 - - 13
Acquisition costs {0.5) - - {0.5) 23) - - 2 3)
Amaortisation of

acquired intangibles (12.6) {3.8) - (16.4) 27 3) 37 - (310
Aborted bond costs - - {1.7) {1.7) - - - -

UK Guaranteed
Minimum Pension

equalisation (1.3) - {1.5) {2.8) - - - -
(19.4) 9.2 (3.2) {13.4) (39.6) (3.9) (0.1) (43.6)
IFRS 91.8 54.9 {18.0) 128.7 775 312 {13 3) 954
Finance costs
Underlying performance g (7.0) 90
Fair value of unhedged
interest dernvatives 9 {1.4) -
IFRS g (8.4) 90
Profit before taxation
Underlying performance 135.1 1300
IFRS 120.3 86 4
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2018 2017
Europs Asia & Unallocated Europe Asia & Unallocated
& North Rest of corporats & North Rest of cormporate
America Word axpenses Total Amenca World expenses Tota!
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Taxation
Underlying performance (23.0) {24 7}
Special tems
Histonical 1ssues 10 2.5 -
Purchase and sale
of husiness 10 0.1 G4
Restructurning and
aite closure costs 10 0.2 13
Amortisation of
acguired intangibles 10 3.2 114
IFRS 10 {17.0) {11 6)
Profit for the year
Underlying performance 112.1 105.3
IFRS 103.3 74.8
Profit attributable to
non-controlling interests 0.5 08
Underlying performance
Special terms
Sale of land 4.8 -
Restructuring and site
closure costs {1.8) —
IFRS 3.5 0.8
Prefit attributable to equity
holders of the parent
Underlying performance 111.6 104 5
IFRS 99.8 740
Earnings per share (pence)
Underlying performance 32.8p 30.7p
Special terms (3.4p) (8 9p)
IFRS 13 29.4p 21 8p
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31 December 2018

6 EBITDA

The Group uses EBITDA as an alternative performance measure as it provides an indication of the level of cash being generated by the
business from its trading activities In the penad by excluding the depreciation and amortisation charges and Special ltems, This 1s also the
princpal profit measure used for the financial covenants i the Group's debt fachties

The detimtion of EBITDA 18 shown in note 2

Reconciliation of EBITDA to IFRS

2018 2017
Europe Aslad Unaliocated Europe Asia 8 Unallocated
& North Restof corporate & North Rest of carporate
America World axpanses Total America World expenses Total
Note Em £m £m £m £€m £m £m £m
EBITDA 135.8 59.7 {14.5) 181.0 140.9 48.2 {129} 176 2
Depreciation and amortisation 4 (24.6) (14.0) (0.3) {38.9) (23 8) (13 1) ©03) (37 2)
Cperating profit/(loss) —
Underlying performance 5 111.2 457 (14.8) 1421 1171 351 {13.2} 1390
Special ltems 5 {19.4) 9.2 (3.2) (13.9) {39 6) B39 © 1 (43 6)
Operating profit/(loss) —
IFRS 5 91.8 54.9 (18.0) 128.7 775 312 113.3) 95,4
7 Operating profit 2018 017
Note £m £m
Revenue 1,618.9 1,480 2
Cost of sales {1,325.1) (1,195 4)
Gross proft 293.8 284 8
Sales and marketing costs (42.9) 39 1)
Adrmuntstrative expensas {70.3) {70.5)
Share of joint ventures 19 0.4 1.0
EBITDA 181.0 1762
Depreciation and amortisation — Underlying performance {38.9) (37 2)
Operating profit - Underlying performance 1421 1350
Specal ltems {13.4) {43 6)
Operating profit — IFRS 128.7 95.4
2018 2017
Note £m £m
Operating profit 1s stated after charging the following:
Amcrtisation acquired imangoles 16 16.4 310
Amortisation. other Intangibles 17 1.1 o8
Depreciation 18 37.8 364
Hire of plant and equipment 6.8 42
Other lease rentals 36 31
Research and development expenditure 171 183
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8 Auditors’ remuneration

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for
audit of the Company s annual financial statements and the consolidated annual financial statements 142 139
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and their associates for other services to the Group,
audit of the Company’s subsidiaries’ annuat financial statements 750 661
Total audit fees 892 800
Audit related assurance services 22 33
Other assurance services a5
Cther taxation advisory services 3 24
Total non-audit fees 120 57

Details of the Company's policy on the use of auditor for non audit services, the reasons why the auditors were used rather than another
supplier and how the auditors’ independence and objectivity was safeguarded are set out in the Audit Committee section of the Corporate
Governance Report on page 71 No services were provided pursuant to contingent fee arrangements

9 Finance costs

2018 2017

£m £m

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts 4.9 57
Less interest recevable (1.1) (1.0
3.8 47

Pensions - IAS 19 interest charge 3.2 43
Net interest payable 7.0 90
Farr vaive of unhedged interest denvatives 1.4 -
Total finance costs 8.4 9.0

The far value of the unhedged denvatives relates to the mark to market of the swap arrangements at 31 December 2018 1n excess of the
current barrowings of the Group This has been taken through Special ltems as 1t 1s not reflectve of the Underlying performance

10 Taxation

2018 2017
£m £m
Current tax
UK corporation tax 0.1
QOverseas tax 23.8 271
23.9 271
Deferred tax
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences (0.9) 2 4)
23.0 247
Special ltems
Current tax.
Historical Issues (2.5)
Purchase and sale of business {0.1) {0 4)
Restructuring and site closure costs - 0.3)
Deferred tax:
Restructuring ang site closure costs (0.2) (10
Amortisation of acquired intangibles (3.2) (11 4)
{6.0) (13 1)
Total tax on profit before taxation 17.0 118

UK corporation tax 1s caloulated at 19 0%, {2017 19 25%-) of the estimated assessable profit for the year Taxaton for other unsdictions 1s
ratculated at the rates prevaiing in the respective jursdictions

\odsi oi68jeng

45-0d1

DOUBLIBALL)

26-85

4 dnosy

FIUGWAEYS (0]

$rl1-£6

Synthomer plc Arnual Report 2018

17

OITBWLIOJUI IBYIC || 9UL-SpL  SIUSWIYE)S jEousuy Auedwon) |

091451




Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

10 Taxation continued

Reconciliation of tax expense to profit before taxation

The differences between the total tax expense shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate of UK corporation
lax to the piolt betore tax s as fellows,

2018 2017
£m £m
Profit before taxation 120.3 86.4
Tax on proht belore taxation at standard UK corporation tax rate of 19 0% (2017 19 25%) 22.9 186
Effects of
Expenses not deductibie for tax purposes 4.8 43
Tax ncentives and items not subject 10 tax {(11.8) 8.7)
Higher tax rates on overseas earnings 6.8 53
Other deferred tax asset not recognised less amounts now recognised {3.2) {15}
Adiustments ta tax charge n respect of priar perods {2.4) 0Ny
Effect of change of rate on deferred tax (0.1) (4.3)
Tax charge for year 17.0 1.6
Tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 2018 2017
£m £m
Deferred tax {chargelcredit In respect of actuaral gains {2.3) 23
Current tax liabilities 2018 2017
£m £m
Current tax labiites (38.3) {40.2)

Tax incentivas and terms not sulyect to tax mamly comprise profits from the Nitrig latex business in Malaysia, which benefits from pioneer
status untd 28 February 2020, income 1n relation to the sale of land which s not subject to corporate tax in Malaysia and exemphions from
capital gains tax avalable on profits on sale of businesses in Dubal and Germany.,

In October 2017 the European Commission opened a state aid inveshgation into the Group Financing Exemption in the UK controlled
foreign company legislaton In common with other UK-based internationai companies, the Group may be affected by the outcome of this
Inveshgation and 18 therefore monitoning developments. If the preliminary iindings of the European Commission's invastigations into the UK
legislation are upheld, we have estimated the Group's potential labilty to be £5.8m Based on the current status of the investigation, we
have concluded that no provisicn is required in relation 1o thus amount,

11 Deferred taxation
Deferrad tax assets have been recogrised n respect of all tax losses and other temporary differences giving nse 1o deferred tax assets 1o
the extent that it is probable that these assets will be recovered

The movements in deferred tax assets and habites are shown below

Deferred tax liabilities

2018 Accolerated

tax Acquired

depreciation  intangibles Qther Total

£m £m £m £m
At 1 January (17.7) (16.3) {1.4) {35.4}
(Charged)/credited t¢ mcome statement {0.4) 3.2 (0.7) 21
Exchange adjustrment {0.6) (0.3) (c.1) {1.0)
At 3% December (18.7) (13.4) (2.2) (34.3)
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Deferred tax assets

2018 Pension Other Total
£m £m £m
At 1 January 18.9 4.4 23.3
Credited to Income statement 1.0 1.2 22
Charged to statement of cther comprehensive income {2.3) - {2.3)
Exchange adjustment G.1 0.1 Q.2
At 31 December 17.7 5.7 23.4
Deferred tax assets not recognised
The amounts of deferred tax not recognised at the balance sheaet dates are as follows 2018 2017
£m £m
UK pension hability 5.2 7.0
Tax losses 13.9 146
Accelerated capitat allowances 1.8 29
Other timing differences 0.2 -
211 245

Ot the unrecognised tax losses sat cut above
2022 and £0 4m expire at the end of 2023

12 Ordinary dividends

0 6m exprre at the end of 2019, £0 68m expire at the end of 2020, £0 5m exprre at the end of

wodai 01691e05
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2018 2017
Pence 2018 Pence 2017
per share Em per share £m
Intenm dividend 4.0 13.6 3.7 126
Proposed final dividend 9.1 30.9 85 2890
13.1 44.5 122 415

The proposed final dividend 1s subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual Gereral Mesting and hag not been included as a hability

in these financial statements,

Dividends paid

SJUBWIBYELE [BlOUBLIY CNOJE)
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2018 2017
£m £m
Intenm dividend 13.6 126
Pnor year final dividend 28.9 265
42.5 39.1
13 Earnings per share
Number of shares 2018 o017
Numbar Number
000s 000s
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share 339,766 339,881
Effect of dilutive potentialk ordinary shares
Share options 1,808 2,258
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share 341,574 342,139
Earnings per share 2018 2017
From Continuing operations
tarnings (Profit attributable to equity hotders of the parent) om 99.8 740
Basic earnings per share sl 294 218
Diluted earnings per share [} 29.2 216
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31 December 2018

14 Employees

2018 2017
Number Number
The average monthly number of employees during the year by segment was,
Furope 8 North America 2,089 1,985
Asia & Rest of the Warld 799 776
Corporate 30 28
2,918 2,789
2018 2017
£m £m
The aggregate remuneration of all Group employees comprised:
Wages and salaries 123.1 1163
Sccial security costs 21.5 180
Pension costs (including £2.8m GMP egualisation) 11.3 80
Share-based payments 1.5 2.8
157.4 1451
Directors’ emoluments are disclosed 1n the Remuneration Report on pages 73 1o 88
15 Goodwill 2018 2017
Note Em £m
Cost
At 1 January 439.0 4113
Exchange adjustments 6.2 28
Purchase of business 31 1.2 24.9
At 31 December 446.4 438.0
Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 January and at 31 December 109.9 109.9
Net book value
At 31 Decemiber 336.5 329.1

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment at the balance sheet date, or more frequently if there are indications that geodwill might

be impared

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units ("CGUSs") that are expected to benefit

from that business compination.

The allocation of the carrying value of goodwill 1S represented below,

Net book Net book Net book

vaiug at valug at value at

1 January Exchange Purchase of 31 December Exchange Purchase of 31 December

2017 adjustments business 2017 adj b 2018

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Europe & North America 2683 25 249 2957 4.6 1.2 301.5
Asia & Rest of the Wortd 33.1 03 - 334 1.6 - 35.0
Total 3014 2.8 24.9 329 1 6.2 1.2 336.5

The recoverable amounts for CGUs are determined from value In use calculations, based upon discounted cash flows The key assumptions
for those discounted cash flow calculabions are the discount rate, profifabity and growth rate The discount rate 12 based on the Group's
weighted average cost of capital adjusted. where appropriate. for the risk premium attrbutable to the particular CGU's activities and geography
of operation Profitability and growth rates are based on past expenience combined with management's expectations for future business
performance. which 1s informed by a number of factors including economic growth, internal plans and competitor and customer activity
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Pretax discount rates of 11% (2017 11%) and 12% (2017, 12%) have been used In the above calculations for Europe & North America and

Asia & Rest of World respectively.

The profit used in the cash flows for the first five years 1s derved from management forecasts, for years six to tén a growth rate 15 applied
Growth rates of 2% (2017 2%) and 5% (2017 5%} have been used for Europe & North Amenca and Asia & Rest of World respectively.
representing management s best estmate of each CGU's circumstances, and these do not exceed the long term growth rates for the
markets concerned. The profit for year ten 1s then assumed to apply without further growth mto perpetuity

The directors consider that there 1s no reasonably possible change in key assumphtions that would lead to an impairment

Of the net book value of goodwill at 31 December 2018, £70.56 milion {2017 £70 & million) 15 iocated in the UK

16 Acquired intangible assets
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Other
Customer acquired
hips  intangibk Total
Note £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2018 250.2 5.7 255.9
Exchange adjustments 5.0 0.2 5.2
Purchase of business 31 10.7 6.9 17.6
At 31 December 2018 265.9 12.8 278.7
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2018 187.2 2.5 189.7
Exchange adjustments 3.5 - 3.5
Armartisation charge tor the year 14.2 2.2 16.4
At 31 December 2018 204.9 4.7 209.6
Net book value
At 31 December 2018 61.0 8.1 69.1
Other
Customer acquired
relationships irtangibles Total
Note £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2017 2041 30 207 1
Exchange adiustments 72 0.2 74
Purchase of business 389 25 a1.4
At 31 December 2017 250.2 5.7 2559
Accumulated amorbsation and impairment
At 1 January 2017 151.2 17 1529
Cxchange adjustments 57 01 o8
Amortisation charge for the year 303 07 310
At 31 Becember 2017 187.2 258 1897
Net book value
At 31 December 2017 B30 32 6562
Analysis of net book value by segment. 2018 2017
£m £m
Europe & North America 68.7 B2 2
Asia & Rest of the World 0.4 40
69.1 662
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

17 Other intangible assets

£m
Cost
At 1 January 2018 3.6
Exchange adjustments -
Additions 4.3
Disposals {0.1)
At 31 December 2018 7.8
Accumulatad ameortisation and impatrment
At 1 January 2018 1.7
Exchange adjustments -
Amortisation charge for the year 1.1
Disposals 0.1)
At 31 December 2018 2.7
Net book value
At 31 December 2018 5.1

£m
Cost
At 1 January 2017 15
Exchange adjustments 02
Addtions 2.5
Transfer to assets held for sale 0.1}
Disposals 0.1)
At 31 December 2017 3.6
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2017 13
Exchange adjustrments C2)
Amortisation charge for the year 0.8
Transfer to assets held for sale 01
Disposals 01
At 31 December 2017 1.7
Net book value
At 31 December 2017 1.9

Expenditure on research actvities 1s recognised as an expense in the period in which 1t 1s iIncurred

As disclosed in note 2, there are various concditrons required Dy I1AS 38 for an internally generated ntangible asset to be recognised
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18 Property, plant and equipment Land and bulldings

Leascholds Plantand Assets under
Freeholds Long Short equipment construction Total
£m £m £m £m £€m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2018 104.9 6.9 1.2 499.3 33.8 646.1
Exchange adustmerts 28 - - 11.3 0.9 15.0
Additions 1.0 - - 34.8 37.2 73.0
Purchase of husiness 1.2 - - 4.2 - 5.4
Sale of business - - - {0.1) - {0.1)
Msposals {0.9) - - {1.5) - {2.4)
Transfer from assets under construction - - - 426 {42.6) -
Reclassification {0.1) - 0.5 {0.4) - -
At 31 December 2018 108.9 6.9 1.7 590.2 29.3 737.0
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2018 31.3 3.4 0.3 289.0 - 324.0
Exchange adjustments 0.6 - - 5.7 - 6.3
Depreciation charge for the year 53 0.2 0.3 32.0 - 378
Sale of business - - - (0.1) - {0.1)
Assets written down - - - (0.2) - {0.2)
Dispesals [0.2) - - (0.6) - {0.8)
Reclassification - - 0.4 (0.4) - -
At 31 December 2018 37.0 3.6 1.0 325.4 - 367.0
Net beok value
At 31 December 2018 71.9 3.3 0.7 264.8 29.3 370.0
Land and buildings
Leaseholds Plantand  Assets under
Freeholds Long Short equpment  construction Total
£m £€m £m £m m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2017 802 8.9 204 459 7 152 582.4
Exchange adjustments 22 - 101 g5 04 12.0
Additions 22 02z - 37.5 182 581
Purchase of business 51 - - 38 89
Transfer to assets held tor sale 43 - - 54 - @7
Disposals 07) 10 2) - 14.7) - (56}
Reclassiiication 20.2 - {19 1} 1y -
At 31 December 2017 104.9 69 12 189 3 33.8 646 1
Accumulated depreciation and impairmernt
At 1 January 2017 24.3 33 286 2589 2891
Exchange adjustments 47 - 47
Depreciation charge for the year 53 02 03 3086 364
Transfer to assets held far sale (1.0} -- - 20 (3 0)
Assets written down (8] - - {10 {1 4)
Disposals 07 O 10 (18)
Reclassification 38 (2 6) {12) -
At 31 December 2017 313 34 03 2890 - 3240
Net book value
At 31 Decemiber 2017 Feths! 35 0y 2103 338 3221
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

18 Property, plant and equipment continued

2018 2017
£m £m
Freehold land which has not been deprecated 17.6 17.4
Analysis of net book value by location 2018 17
£m £m
UK 43.7 39.3
Germany 83.0 67 5
Malaysia 130.6 1235
Other 112.7 918
370.0 322.1
Analysis of net book value by segment
2018 2017
£m £m
Europe & North Amenca 233.3 192 3
Asia & Rest of the World 136.7 1298
370.0 3221
19 Investment in joint ventures
Detalls of the Group's joint ventures are as follows,
% of cwnership
Name of entity Place of incorporation 2018 2017 Principal Activity Segment
Synthomer Middle Saud Arabia 49% 49% Manufacturer and sale of acrylc and Asia & Rest of the World
East vinyl resimn emulgions
Synthomer Functional UAE 49% - Trading in adhesives and ollfield chermicals  Asia & Rest of the World
Solutiong FZCO
Synthomer tZE UAE 48% 100% Sales and marketing support for Asia & Rest of the World
Limited Synthomer Group companies
Super Sky Ltd United Kingdom 50% 50% Non-trading Unallocated

corporate expense

Sale of businass note 32

These joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these financial statements,

those amounts),

The Group reduced its holding in its UAE assets to 49% to align with other arrangements with jaint venture partners in the region

Dunng the year, the Group transterred certain assets and liabilities to Synthomer Functional Sotutioris FZCO Limited On 28 June 2018,
Group disposed of 51% of its shareholding in Synthomer Functional Solutions FZCO Limited for £1 4m, generating a profit on disposal of
£0 5m and the Group disposed of 51% of its sharehclding in Synthomer FZE Limited for £2.9m, generating a profit on disposat of £2 4m See

Summarnsed financial information 1IN respect of the joint ventures 1s set out below This Information represents amounts in the joint ventures'
financial statements adjusted for differences In accounting policies between the Group and the joint venture {and not the Group's share of
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Summarised balance sheet (100%)

vods) mbaeng

2018 2017
£m £m
Non-current assets 5.2 46 S
o
&
-
Cash and cash equivalents 4.7 23
Other current assets 18.6 15.3 pr—
Total current assets 233 17.6 o
é
B
Other current iabilities {10.9) 17.0) 2
Total current labiities (10.9) 17.0) ®
Net assets 17.6 15.2
2018 2017
Group share £m £m o
Total assets 14.0 109 g
Total habities (5.4) {3 4)
P—
Net assets (Group share} 8.6 75
o
]
Summarised statement of comprehensive income (100%) s
s
2018 2017 ]
£m £m %
Revenue 42.3 396 ®
]
g
Operating profit from continuing operations 0.9 21 %
Intarest - - ®
Taxation - - g
Amortisation of intangibles - - '-:-
Profit from continuing operations 0.9 21
Exchange differences on translation 1.1 (1.1) p—
Total comprehensive income 2.0 10 o
Dividends paid (2.3) 41 g
Movement in retained earnings {0.3) BN 2
8
O
Profit for the year (Group share) 0.4 10 o
“w
Exchange differences on translation {Group share) 0.5 {0.5) f:,;
Dividends paid (Group share} {t.1) {2 0) 3
3
I3
The following table reconciles the summary information above to the carrying amount of the Group's interest in the joint ventures =
o
. @
Investrnent in joint venture o
2018 2017 e
£m £m
At 1 January 7.5 9.0 o
Profit from continuing operations 0.4 10 8
Exchange differences on translaton 0.4 {0 5) %
Partial disposal UAE business 1.4 a
Dwicend paid (1.1) 20 5
At 31 December 8.6 75
&
3
3
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20 Inventories

2018 2017

£m £m

Raw matenals and consumables 68.1 546
Finished goods 73.8 705
141.9 1251

Stock written off during the year 0.7 0.2
Cost of inventory recognised as an expense and iIncluded in cost of sales 1,126.6 10319

There 1s nc matenal difference between the consolidated balance sheet value of inventories and their net realisable value

The nature of the chemical reaction necessary to produce finished goods from raw matenals is such that ‘work In progress’ 1s not a material
part of the Group's inventory at any given point of time

21 Trade and other receivables

2018 2017

£m £m

Trade receivables 196.2 196 8
Cther receivables 30.6 28.8
Recewvables excluding prepayments 226.8 2256
Prepayments 6.1 35
232.9 2291

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to therr fair value
Credit risk
Amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful recevables, estimated by the Group's management based

on expected losses The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large nurmber of customers

Before accepting a new customer, the Group uses appropriate procedures to assess the potential customer's credit qualty in order to set a

credit imit
2018 2017
Ageing of trade receivables £m £m
Not yet due 171.8 167.2
0 - 60 days overdue 23.8 288
61 - 120 days overdue 0.3 04
Over 120 days overdue 1.1 2.2
197.0 198 4
Less' loss ailowance (0.8) (1 6)
196.2 196.8
208 2017
Provision for impairrment of recelvables £m m
At 1 January 1.6 41
Exchange adjustments - 0.1
Sale of business (0.1) -
(Credit)/charge for the year (0.1) o}
Amounts written back/off as uncollectable (0.6) (2.7
At 31 December 0.8 16
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22 Cash and borrowings 2018 017
£m £m
Current borrowings
Bank overdrafts 20.7 242 pu
Bank loans £
Unsecured €55m loan expiring 21 November 2018 - 489 here—
Unsecured €55m loan expring 26 July 2019 49.4 -
70.1 731 g
Non-current borrowings é
Bank loans 8
Unsecured £370m mult currency Revolving Credit Facility expinng 30 July 2019 - 197 8
Unsecured €440m multi currency Revelving Credit Facility expiring 23 July 2022 2426 -
2426 197 8
Less capitalised costs (1.8) 0.8
240.8 197 0
»
Bank loans and overdrafts are denominated i a number of currencies and bear interest based on LIBOR or foreign eguivalents or %
government bond rates appropriate to the country in which the borrowing 1s incuirred
The directors calculate the carrying value of the Group's borrowings as follows o
Sterting US dodlar Euro Other Total g
Analysis of borrowings at carrying value by currency £m £m £m £m £m -
=)
31 Decamber 2018 H
[}
Bank overdrafts 2.1 1.2 17.4 - 20.7 B
Bank loans - - 292.0 - 292.0 %
(]
Capitahsed costs {1.8) - - - {1.8) ;
0.3 1.2 309.4 - 310.9 EY
Cash and cash equivalents {96.9)
Net borrowngs 214.0 $
&
31 December 2017
Bank cverdrafts 132 5.7 43 10 242
o
Bank loans - 2153 314 2487 E]
Capnalised costs {C 8) - - 0.8 E
-~
12 4 57 219.6 324 2701 ES
a8
Cash and cash equivalents (89 6) 3
o
Net borrowings 180.5 @
5
3
Cash and cash equivalents are depaosited with financial insututions rated as investment grade 3
W
Capital structure =
The Group manages 1ts capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while maximising the return to &
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes @
the cash and borrowngs, and equity attributable to equity halders of the parent comprising 1ssusd capital, reserves and retamned earmmngs
e
-
o
Ed
g
3
S
=3
a
2
=
o
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23 Financial instruments
The Group operates pracedures designed to reduce or elminate financial risk and ensure that funds are avalable for currert and future
needs The policies are approved by the Board and the use of financial iInstruments 1 strictly controlied

2018 2017

Fair value Farr value
through threugh
Loans and profitor Loans and proft or
receivables loss receivables loss
Financial assets Note £m £m £m £m

Trade and other recewvables excluding prepayments 21 226.8 - 22586
Gash and ¢ash eguivalents 22 96.9 - 89.6 -
323.7 - 3158.2 -

2018 2017

Derivative Denvatve
instruments instruments
in designated n designated
Amortised hadge Amorhsed hedge
cost  accounting cost accounting
Financial habilities Note £m £m £m £m
Bank overdratts 22 20.7 - 24 2 -

Bank Ioans (less capitalised costs) 22 290.2 - 245 9
Trade and other payables 25 263.9 - 281.6 -
Denvatives at farr value - 53 - -
5748 5.3 5517 -

Set out below 18 a compansgon by category of book values and fair values of the Group's financial assets and habilites

Carrying values at Fair values at
31 December 31 December
2018 2017 2018 2017
Note £m £m £m £m
Fair value of financial assets
Trade and other recevables excluding prepayments 21 226.8 2256 226.8 2256
Cash and cash equivalents 22 96.9 896 96.9 89.6
323.7 3152 323.7 315.2
Fair value of financial liabilities
Bank overdrafts 22 20.7 242 20.7 24.2
Bank loans 22 290.2 2459 290.2 2459
Trade and other payables 25 263.9 2816 263.9 2816
Derwvatives at far value 5.3 - 53 -
580.1 55617 580.1 551.7

Fair values have been obtamned from the relevant nstitutions where appropriate Where market values are not avalable, far values of
tinancial agsets and financial labilities have been calculated by discounting expected future cash flow at prevailing mterest rates and by
applying year end exchange rates The carrying amount of short-term borrowings approximates 10 book value

The farr values of the Group's financial instruments are measured using INputs other than quoted prices that are directly or ndirectly
observable (Level 2 as defined by IFRS 13)

The main risks anging from the Group's financial nstruments are market sk and iquidity rsk The Board reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these nsks and they are summansed below, together with the related disclosure required by IFRS
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Market risk
The Group's main exposure to market sk 1s in the form of interest rate nsk and foreign currency risk  [he policies adopted to address these
nsks are as follows

Interest rate risk
The Group finances its operations through a mixture of retained profits, loan notes and bank borrowings The Group monitors iInterest rate
trends regularly, through discussion with its banks, and fixes interest rates when it 1s prudent 1o do so

Foreign currency nsk
Yhen It 1s effective to do so the Group uses currency borrowings, forward contracts and currency swaps to hedge overseas net assets,
which are predominantly denominated in Euro, US dollar and Malaysian Ringgit Profit translahon exposures are not hedged

The Group hedges currency transaction exposures at the point of confirmed order. using forward foreign exchange contracts. The Group's
pohcy s, where practicable, to hedge all exposures on monetary assets and llabiities Consequently, there are no matenal currency
exposures to disclose (2017 none)

Hedge accounting
The Group has interest rate swaps that are used 10 reduce the exposure to Interest rate risk in relation to the neftective portion of interest
rate hedges

These swaps are fully effective at eliminating tne risks they address The Group has rewiewed the requirements necessary to permit the
application of hedge accounting under 1AS 32,

Changes in the fair vaiue of denvative financial nstruments to which hedge accounting 1s not apphed or s not eftective are recognised in the
mocome statement as they anse, £1.4 million has been debited to the iIncome statement in the year (2017 £nil} These changes ale shown
separately as a Special ltem in the conschdated income statement

Intarest rate nsk profile
Financial iabities

After taking into account the various Interest rate and currency swaps entered into by the Group, the currency and interest rate exposure of
the Group as at 31 December 2018 was

BOUBLLIIAOL) | | 216-041 yodel aibajeng
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2018 2017 $

Floating rate . Fixed .rtte N Iotal Floating rate Fixed rate Total §
borr a hor 9 bor a borrowings borrewings borrowings
£m £€m em £m £m £m
Sterling 0.3 - 0.3 12 4 - 12.4
Euro 17.4 202.0 3094 2198 - 2198
US dollar 1.2 - 1.2 57 - 57
Other - - - 324 324
18.9 292.0 310.9 2701 - 2704
Cash andt cash equivalents (96.9) {89 6)
Net borrowings 214.0 1805

At 31 December 2018 the Group had in place swap arrangements to hx interest rates on the full value of the €440m comimitted, unsecured
revolving credit facihty

The effective interest rate for the year was 1 5% (2017, 1 720)
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

23 Financial instruments continued

Sensitivity analysis

The following table llustrates the effect on the ncome statement and tems that are recognised directly in equity that would resuft from
reasonably possible movements in UK and US interest rates and in Eurg, US doliar and Malaysian Ringgit to sterling exchange rates.
before the effect of tax

2018 2017
Income statement Equity Income statement Equity
Underlying IFRS IFRS Undertying IFRS IFRS
-+ Em -f+ €m -/+Em -+ £m -+ £m -/+ £m

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
UK interest rate +/- 1 0% ~ - - _ _
Euro interest rate +/- 1.0% - 1.0 2.9 19 19 -
US interest rate +/~ 1.0% 0.1 0.1 - 01 a1 -
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
Malaysian Ringgit exchange rate -/+ 10% - - - _ _
Euro exchange rate -/+ 10% 0.6 0.6 1.5 03 03 157
US dollar exchange rate -/+ 10% 0.2 02 - 02 02 4.0

The interest rate sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both denvative and non dervative
nstruments at the balance sheet date For floating rate habilties, the analysis ts prepared assuming the armount of 1ability cutstanding
at the balance sheet date was outstandmg for the whoie year

For interest rate denvatives the mark 1o market adjustment, and ameunt recognised in equity as part of a hedging arrangement 18 estimated
using the interest rate sensitivity against the nominal amount

The foreign currency sensitvity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency dencminated monetary kems and adjusts therr translation at
the period end for & 10% change In foreign currency rates  The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign cperations
within the Group where the denomination of the loan 1s 1N a currency other than the functicnal currency of the lender or borrower

Liguidity risk
The objective of the Group ts to meet financial commitments as and when they tall due The Board closely monitors quidity through

monthly management accounts.

At the year end, Synthomer plc had the following principal committed facilities:

2018 2017
Drawn at Drawn at
Facility 31December  Hesadroom Faciity 31 December Headroom
S - o Em £m Em £m iﬂ - &m
Unsecured £370m multt currency
Revolving Credrt Facility expiring 30 July 2018 - - - 370.0 197 8 1722
Unsecured €440m mult currency
Revolving Credit Facility expiring 23 July 2022 395.4 2426 152.8 - -
Unsecured €55m loan expirng 21 November 2018 - - - 489 48.9 -
Unsecured €55m loan expiring 26 July 2018 49.4 49.4 - - - -
4448 292.0 152.8 418.9 248.7 1722
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The following table details the remaining contractual maturity for non-denvative financiai assets
2018 2017
Amount due Total Amount dus Total
between between between  between g
within 1and 2and after within 1 and 2 and after n
oneyear 2years GSyears Syears one year 2 years 5 years 5 ygars ~
£m £m £m £m £m &m £m £m £m £m
Non-interest bearing pm—
Trade and other recavables excluding o
prepayments 226.8 - - - 2268 2256 - - - 2256 H
Vanable interest rate instruments §
o
Cash and cash eguivalents 96.9 - - - 96.9 89.8 - - - 896 ®
323.7 - - - 323.7 316.2 - - - 3152
The following table details the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative financial latilities
208 2017
Amount due Total Amount dug Total
between between betwaen  between %
within 1and 2and atter within 1 and 2and after 2
ane year  2years Syears Syears one year 2 years 5 years 5 years
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m h—
Non-interest bearng
Trade and other payables 263.2 0.7 - - 263.9 2793 23 - - 28186 5’
=
Variable interest rate instruments v
Bank loans and overdrafts 70.1 - 2408 - 3108 731 1870 - 2701
333.3 0.7 240.8 - 5748 3524 1993 - - 5517 5
-
-3
24 Assets classified as held for sale 3
2018 2017 H
£m £m ;.
Disposal of Synthomer Leuna - 85
Freehold land located 1 Malaysia - 0.3 8
Asgsets classifed as held for sale - 5.8 E
The assets held for sale in relation to the disposal of Synthomer Leuna compnise the fixed assets, current assets and current hatuities —
of Synthomer Leuna as at 31 December 2017 As disclosed n note 32, Synthomer Leuna was disposed on 1 January 2018 Q
3
o
2
5
o
=
(=}
3
@
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3
@
=
@
=
¢
o
[+
14
g
5
g
3
2
o
=2
2
g
S
Synthomer pkc Annuat Beport 2018 131



Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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24 Assets classified as held for sale continued
Malaysia

The status of the disposal programme was as follows

The Group owns agricultural land 1n Malaysia, which 1s operated as a palm ol and natural rubber plantation The land was owned by Kind
Action Sdn Bhd, which 1s a wholly owned subsidiary of Revertex Malaysia Sdn Bhd that has a 30% non-controling interest. The directors
decided 1n 2013 to dispose of this land on the open market excluding the 300 acres immediately surrounding the manufactunng facites

2018 2017
Consideration Considgration
Acros £m Acres £m
Sale completed 400 171 -
Contragts exchanged - - 400 17.1
lo be sold - - -
400 171 400 171
The consideration is shown before deduction of disposal costs, taxation and the non-controlling interest share
For the sales completed in the year the profit on sale was derved as follows'
2018 2017
Number of acres sold 400 -
£m £m
Gross consideration 17.1 -
Less disposal costs (0.4) -
16.7 -
Less cost of land (0.3) -
Profit on disposat 16.4 -

25 Trade and other payables

As at 31 December 2018 there are no more acres of land to be sold and the value of assets held for sale as at 31 Decemper 201815 £nil,

2018 2017
£m £m

Amaount due within one year
Trade payables 204.9 2028
Other payables 27.7 397
Accruals 30.6 37.0
263.2 2793

Amount due after one year

Other payables 0.7 23
0.7 23

calculated as a weighted average based on cost of sales

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables, other payables and accruals approximates to their fairr value

Average trade payable days i 2018 was 61 (2017 60) This figure represents trade payable days for all trading operations within the Group,
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26 Post retirement benefit obligations

Charge/(credit) to income statement in respect of the Group's pension schemes:

208 2017
UK Overseas Totat UK Overseas Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Defined benefit 5.4 23 T.7 34 25 59
Defined contribution 2.0 4.8 6.8 17 47 5.4
7.4 71 14.5 51 T2 123
Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
2018 2017
UK Overseas Total UK Overseas Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Actuanal gains 14.2 1.3 15.5 224 12 236
Amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Group's defined benefit scheme obligations
2018 2017
UK Qverseas Total UK Overseas Total
£m £m £m £m £m em
Present value of defined benefit obhigations (372.3) (90.8) {463.1) (410 8) 189 7) (500 5)
Fair value of scheme assets 3191 11.5 330.6 3325 108 343.3
Net hability ansing from defined benefit obligations {53.2) {79.3) {132.5) {78 3) 178 9) {157 2)

UK pension schemes
The Group's UK defined benefit scheme was closed to future accrual in 2009 All pension benefits since that time are provided by way
of a detined contribution scheme The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the companies concermed

the tnennial valuation of the scheme was performed during 2018 and 1s in the process of being finaiised with the trustees of the scheme

Defined benefit scheme
The defined benefit scheme 1s admimistered by a separate fund that 1s legally separated from the Company

The trustees of the pension fund are required by law to act in the interest of the fund and of all relevant stakeholders in the scheme.
The trustees of the pension are responsible for the investment policy with regard to the assets of the fund

A full actuarial valuation was carried out as at 6 Apnl 2015 and updated to 31 December 2018 by a qualfied actuary

The Group 1s committed to a funding deficit recovery plan entered into following the 2015 valuation  his valuation indicated a shortfall.
when measured agamnst the Scheme's technical provisions of £118 7m This shortfall 1s expected to be eliminated in eight years following
the valuation date Ag a result the Group 1s committed to paying contributions for the period 6 April 2015 to 5 Apnl 2023, increasing from
£14 Om for the year commencing 6 Aprl 2015 to £18 2m for the year commencing 6 April 2022

BIUBLIBADT I | 25-041 uodas 0)Bajeng

2685

BlUSILIALE]E [EIZUELY) ANOJD

Lol ]

Synthomer plc Annuct Bepot 208

133

UOIBULOL IBYIO || 9GL-GpL  SHUBWIBIRS [RIoUBUY Auedwon I

081-25L




Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

26 Post retirement benefit obligations continued
The scheme Is exposed to a number of nsks. the most significant of which are detailed below,

Asset return rnigk The plan habilities are caiculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields; if plan assets
underperform this yield, this will increase the defict The scheme holds a signtficant proportion of equities which
are expected to outpertorm corporate bonds in the long term while providing valatiity and nsk in the short term.

Interest rate nisk A decrease in corporate bond yislds will ncrease plan habiities. although this will be partially offset by an increase
N the value of the plans' bond holdings
Longevity risk The maporty of the plans' obligations are to provide benefits for the e of the member, so Increases i life

expectancy will result in an increase n the plans' labiibes

The nsk relating to benefits to be paid to the dependants of scheme members (widow and orphan benefits) 1s re-insured by an external
nsurance company.

The majer assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarnal valuations were as follows

2018 2017
Rate of Increase N pensions in payment 2.00% 2 00%
Rate of increase n pensions i deferment 2.20% 2 00%
Discount rate 2.80% 250%
Inflation assumption 3.20% 3 10%

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on actuaral advice 1in accordance with published statistics These assumptions translate
nto an average e expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring at 65 as follows.

2018 2017
years Years
Retiring today:
Males 87.1 87 2
females 89.4 89 1
Retinng in 20 years
Males 88.7 88.7
Females 91,2 00.6

Significant actuanal assumptions for the determination of the defined benetit obligation are discount rate and mortality The senstiaty
anaiysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions occurnng at the end of the reporting
peried assuming that all other assumptions are held constant

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on scheme liabilities
Discount rate Increase/decrease by 1% Decrease/increase by £48m
Rate ot mortality Increase by 1 year Increase by £14m

The above sensitivities are based on a change of assumption while holding all other assumptions constant In practice this 1s unlikely to ccour
and changes in some of the assumptions may have some correlation When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obiigation to
signficant actuaral assumptions, the same method {present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit
method at the end of the reporting penod) has been apphed as when calculating the pension hability recognised within the balance sheet
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The movements in the net hability ansing from defined beneht obligation over the year 1s as follows:

2018 2017
Present Present
value of Net liability value of Net latilty
funded arising from funded ansing from
dafinad Fair value defined defined Fair value defined
benefit of scheme benefit benefit of scheme benefit
obligation assets obligation obiigation assets obhgation
£m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January (410.8) 3325 (78.3) (428 4) 3159 (112.5)
Current service cost {0.8) - {0.8) {0 5) - {0 5)
Past service cost {2.8) - {2.8) - - -
Interest lexpense)/income (10.0) 8.2 (1.8) {11 3} 8.4 2.9
Amounts recognised in income in respect
of defined benefit schemes (13.6) 8.2 (5.4) {11 8) 8.4 (3.4)
Remeasurement
Return on plan assets excluding amounts
included in interast s;ncome - (13.5) (13.5) - 153 153
Gamns from changes in financial assumptions 277 - 27.7 7.1 - 71
Amounts recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income 27.7 (13.5) 14.2 71 153 22 4
Contributions
Employers 0.8 15.5 16.3 05 147 152
Payments from plans
Benefit payments 236 {23.6) - 21.8 (21 8) -
At 31 December {372.3) 319.1 {53.2) 410 8} 332.5 (78 3)
Plan assets are comprised as follows
2018 2017
£m £m
Hedge funds 36.2 396
Equrty instruments 64.9 69.6
Debt instruments 192.2 2088
Property 8.2 100
Cash 17.6 4.5
Total fair value of assets 3191 332.5

All investments in Equities. Bonds and Property are quoted

The weighted average duration of the benefit obligaton at the end of the reporting period 1s 14 years (2017, 16 years})

Contnbutions from the sponsoring companies are expected to be £16 2 midlion in 2019,

Overseas pension schemes

The Group operates a number of smaller overseas pension and post retrement schemes Fhe assets of these schemes are held sepatrately
from those of the Group, with the exception of the unfunded German schemes (net hability £71 8 mullion, 2017 £72 1 milion) where in line
with common practice the assets are held within the respactive companies
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

26 Post retirement benefit obligations continued
Defined benefit schemes

valuatons at 31 December 2018

used in the actuanal valuatron of thig scheme are.

The aggregated pension disclosure below for the overseas defined benefit schemes has been compiled from a number of actuarial

The largest of these schemes accounts for £68 1 mithon {2017 £88.5 miion) of the deticit at 31 December 2018 The major assurnption

2018 2017
Rate of mcrease in salanes 3.00% 3.00%
Rate of increase in pensions 1.75% 1.75%
Discount rate 2.00% 1.90%
Mortality assumptions
The assumed Nife expectations on retrement at age 65 are: 2018 2017
years years
Retiring today-
Males 85.0 843
Females 88.6 883
Retiring in 20 years
Males 87.8 86.9
Females 90.8 908
The major assumphons used In the valuation of the other overseas schemes do not differ significantly from the above
The movement in the net liabiity ansing from defined benefit obligation over the year s as follows
2018 2017
Present Present
valus of Net Hability value of Net Jiabilrty
funded arising fram funded arising from
defined Fair value defined defined Fay value debned
benefit of scheme benefit hensfit of scheme penefit
ohligation asseis obligation obhgation assets obligaton
£m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January {89.7) 10.8 {78.9) (83 2) 50 (74 2)
Current service cost {1.0) - (1.0) 1,1} (1.1}
Past service cradit 0.1 - 0.1 - -
Interest {expense)/income {1.6) 0.2 (1.4) {16) 02 14
Amounts recognised in the income statement
in respect of defined benefit schemes {2.5) 0.2 (2.3) (27 0.2 (2.5)
Remsasurermnent:
Gains/losses) from changes in financial assumphions 1.4 (0.1) 1.3 13 (0.1} 12
Amounts recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income 1.4 {0.1) 1.3 13 01 12
Contnbutions less payments frem plans 2.4 (0.1) 23 23 0.2) 21
Obligahons of acquired entities {1.2) 0.6 {0.6) (42 15 27)
Exchange adjustments {1.2) 0.1 {1.1) 32 04 (2 8)
At 31 December (90.8) 11.5 {79.3) (82.7} 10.8 (78 9
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Multi-employer schemes

In addition 1o the overseas defined benefit schemes included in the above, the Group participates in the Degussa Pensionskasse in Germany,
which 1s a multi-employer defined bensfit pension scheme Regular contributions are payable to the scheme by each participating employer
for new benefts accruing  The assets of alt participating employers are pocled, and contributions are calculated based on aggregated
demographic expenence Therefore sufficient mtormation 1s not avallable to identify the Group s share of the assets on a consistent and reliable
basis and the Group accounts for the scheme on a defined contnibution basis The Group expects to make regular contrnibutions of £2 3m to
the scheme in 2018

To the extent that there 1s underfuncing in the scheme dehcit contrbutions are payable Based on the latest actuanal assessment each
participatng employer's share has been determined according to the value of tts future benefit accrual and it has been determined that the
Group 1s lable for total deficit contributions of €4 Bm in three instalments payable in January 2017, 2018 and 2018 As a result an accrual of
£1.3m (2017, £2.7m) has been included at 31 December 2018

27 Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Liabliity

Legal and arising on

Envir al a business
restoration claims Restructuring combination Total
£m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2018 0.6 2.5 6.7 0.2 10.0
{Credited)/charged to the income statement - {2.5) 9.3 - 6.8
Utilsed during the year (0.6) - (2.0) - (2.6)
At 31 December 2018 - - 14.0 0.2 14.2

Analysis of provisions 31 December 31 December

2018 2017
£m £m

Non-current 4.8 76
Current 9.4 24
14,2 100

Analysis of {credit)/charge to the income staternent 2018 o017
£m £m

Underlying pertormance {2.5) -
Special items 9.3 40
6.8 40
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Environmental restoration
The prowision for the restoration of land which 1s no longer being used as a manufacturing site was fully utiised in the year and no further
obligation remans

Legal and customer claims
This amount represented a provision for certain legal and customer claims brought against the Group During the year the time passed for
which these claims could be settled and the amounts were credited to the ncome statement

Restructuring

The Group has additionally prowvided for an onerous tease and related costs on the closed site In Ossett and as part of the post PAC
acquistion restructuning programme, the Group has planned the demaoltion of bulldings at the site in Ribécourt, France The Group also
closed i1s natural rubber and polyestar tesing production ines i Kluang in 2018 The cost of all these restructuning pregrammes 1s charged
to the iIncome statement when permitted by the Group's accounting policy within Special lteims The provision reflects the amount that has
heen charged but not yet spent

Liability arising on a business combination
As part of the acauisttion of Polymerlatex in 2311, the Group acguired a teasehald interest in an empty property  The provision reflects this
onergus contract

The provisions are expectert to be fully utised over the next tve yedrs with the exception of the Ossett overseas lease provision which 1s
expected to be utilsed over 50 years
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

28 Called up share capital

2018 2017
£m €m
Issued and fully paid
339,880,769 (2017: 338,880,769) ordinary shares of 10 pence each 34.0 340
Ordinary shares carry no nght 1o fixed income.
Share options (see note 36)
The cutstanding share options were all issued under the Executive share option scheme These are discussed further in note 36
Share based payments
As at 31 December 2018 the following options were outstanding Nurber
Executive share options
Exercizable between 2016-2023 11,879
Exercisable between 2017-2024 20,009
Exercisable between 2018 2025 138,734
Exercisable between 2019-2026 634,219
Exercisable between 2020-2027 497,405
Exercisable between 2021-2028 505,717
1,807,963
The total exercise price for all the above grants 15 £ril.
29 Reconciliation of operating profit to cash generated from operations 218 2017
£m £m
Operating profit — continuing operations 128.7 954
Less share of profits of joint ventures (0.4) (1.0}
128.3 94 4
Adjustments for,
Depreciation 378 36 4
Amaortisahon 1.1 08
Share-based payments 1.5 2.8
Restructuring and srte closure — Special Items 12.2 11.6
Sale of business - Special ltems (3.8) -
Sale of land - Special lterms (16.4} {138}
Acquistion costs — Special ltems 0.5 23
Amcrtisation of acgured ntangbles - Special Hems 16.4 310
Aborted bond costs - Special ltems 1.7 -
GMP equalisation — Special ltems 2.8 -
Cash impact of restructunng and site closure {3.3) 60
Cash impact of acquisition costs {0.5) 2.1}
Cash impact ot aborted bend costs (1.2) -
|AS 19 interest charge (3.2) 4 3)
Pension funding m excess of IAS 19 interest charge (13.8) (12 5)
Movement In working capital {35.2) 95
Cash generated from operations 124.9 162.6
Reconciliation of movement in working capital
increase N Inventories (13.5) (13.3)
Increase 1n trade and other recelvables {5.6) 24 Oy
{Decreassyincrease In trade and other payables {16.1) 46.8
Movement In working capial {35.2) 9.5
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30 Analysis of changes in net borrowings

Cash Exchange

1 January inflows/ and other 31 Decembar

2018 (outflows) movements 2018

£m fm £m £m

Current borrowing — Bank overdrafts {24.2) 3.6 (0.1) {20.7)
Current bank borrowings  Other {48.9) - (0.5) {49.4)
Non-current berrowings {197.0) (40.4) {3.4) (240.8)
Total borrowings (270.1) {36.8) (4.0) (310.9)
Cash and cash eguivalenits 89.6 5.6 1.7 96.9
Net borrowings (180.5) (31.2) {2.3) (214.0)
2018 2017

£m £m

Repayment of borrowings (83.5) {102.0)
Proceeds of borrowings 103.9 136.3
40.4 34.3

3t Purchase of business
On 31 January 2018 the Group acguired the BASFE Pischelsdorf Styrene Butadiene Rubber (SBR) business for a total consideration of
£25 8m, to complement the Group's existing SBR markets and customers

The considerahion paid in respect of this acquisition and the fair value of net agsets acquired 13 summarised as follows

Fair value
£m
Net assets acquired
Intangible assets 17.6
Property, plant and equipment 5.4
Inventories 2.2
Post retirement benefit obhgations {0.6)
Farr value of net assets acquired 24.6
Gooawllt arising on acguistion 1.2
Total consideration 258
Satisfied by
Cash consideration 25.8

The goodwill ansing on the acquisition of the business represents the premium the Group pald to acguire companies which complement
the existing business and create significant opportunities for cross selling and other synergies

Acqguisition costs expensed

£m
In 12 months to 31 December 2017 0.9
In 12 months to 31 December 2018 [+
1.0
In the perniod from acquisihon to 31 December 2018 the business contnbuted the following to the Group s rasults
£m
Revenue of, 42.7
Operating profit of 2.6
1 the acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial vear the following would have been included in the Group's result
£m
Revenue of 46.3
Operating profit of 28
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

32 Sale of business
Sale of Synthomer Leuna
On 1 January 2018, the Group disposed of 100% of the share capital of Synthomer Leuna GmbH for £71m

The consolidated net assets of the companies at the date of disposal were as follows:

£m
Property, plant and eguipment 6.4
Inventones 0.3
Trade receivables 0.1
Paost retirement benefit obligations {0.3)
Net assets disposed of 6.5
Total consideration (net of disposal costs) 7.4
Less net assets disposed off {6.5)
Profit on sale of business before recycling of foreign exchange 0.6
Recycling of foreign exchange 04
Profit on disposal 1.0
Total consideration satisfied by
Cash {net of disposal costs) 7.1
Cash flow:
Cash {net of disposal costs} 71
Cash consideration received in 2017 {7.6)
2018 net cash inflow ansing on disposal {0.5)
in the penod from 1 January 2018 1o the date of disposal. Synthomer Leuna contnbuted the following to the Group's results

£m

Revenues of -
Operating profit of. -

Partial sale of UAE business

The Group reduced its holding in its U A.E assets to 49% to algn with other arrangements with joint venture partners in the region, During
the year, the Group transferred certain assets and liabilities to Synthomer Functicnal Solutions FZCO Limited On 28 June 2018, the Group
disposed of 51% of s shareholding in Synthomer Functional Sclutions FZCCO Limited for £1 4m, generating a profit on disposal of £0 &m
and the Group disposed of 51% of its shareholding in Synthomer FZE Limited for £2.9m, generating a profit on disposal of £2.4m.

The subsequently created joint ventures are accounted for under the equity method of consolidation.

Company name Date of sale Purchaser Diwvision Sale type
Synthomer FZE Limited 28 June 2018 Third party trade Asla and Rest of the World Share
Synthomer Functional

Scluticns FZCO Limited 28 June 2018 Third party trade Asla and Rest of the World Share
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The share cf net assets of the companies at the date of disposal were as follows.

£m
Inventones 0.5
Irade recelvables 2.4
Trade payables {1.5)
Net assets disposed of 1.4
Total consideration {net of disposal costs) 4.2
Less net assets disposed of (1.4
Profit on disposal 28
Total consideration satisfied by
Cash (net of disposal costs) 4.2
Cash flow
Cash consicderation 4.2
2018 net cash irdlow ansing on disposal 4.2

In the period from 1 January 2018 to the date of disposal, the dispesed businesses (100%) contnbuted the following to the Group's resulis.

£m
Revenues of. 8.2
Operating profit of 0.5

podsi aibejeng
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33 Related party transactions

Transactions between the Company and its subsidianes, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not Included

inthus note Transactions between the Company and its subsidianes are disclosed in the Company's financial statements where appropriate

The UK defined benefit scheme 1z a related party, see note 26

2018 2017
Key management compensation £m £m
Short-term employee benehts 5.2 53
FPost rebrement benefit obligations 04 0.4
Share-based payments 1.5 20
7.1 77
The key management figures given above Include the directors and members of the Executive Committee
34 Commitments 2018 a017
£m £m
Capital expenditure authorised but not provided for in the financial statements
PPE Contracted 21.2 23.7
2018 2017
£m £m
Commitments under operating leases are as follows
Payments under operating leases which fall due
Within 1 year 3.3 51
Between 2 and 5 years 12.0 107
After 5 years 151 18.9
30.4 347

Operating leases relate largely to property leases

iy dnoun
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Giroup financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

35 Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and guarantees

Other guarantees and contingent labilities of the Group amount to £8 4 miilion {2017 £nily and relates to an European Commussion state aid
case in relation to the Group Financing Exemptions in the UK controlied foreign company legislahon {see Note 10) and environmental hability
in France

The Company and its subsidianes have. m the normal course of business, entered Into guarantees and countar-indemnities N respect of
performance bonds, relating to the Group's own contracts

During the year, the European Commission {the Commission) inibated an investigation into practices relating to the purchase of Styrene
monomer by companies, mcluding Synthomer, operating in the European Economic Area. The Company has and will continue to fully
cooperate with the Commission during its nvestigation As the investigation 1s ongoing and the Commission does not provide feedback
on its work until the investigation is complete, 1t 15 not possible to determine whether or not a iability exists In relation 1o this matter.

36 Share-based payments

Executive share option schemes

The Group's share option scheme 18 described in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 73 to 88 In addition to the two

executive directors it I1s avalable to other semor management The movement in the options held under the scheme are defined as follows:

Waeighted Waeighted
av. exercise av. exXercise
Options price (£) Optons price ()
2018 2018 2017 2017
number number number number

Cutstanding at 1 January 2,257,771 — 2,334,899
Granted dunng the year 547,752 - 520958 -
Exercised dunng the year (863,923) - {568,032) -
Lapsed dunng the year (113,637} - (30,054} -
Qutstanding at 31 December 1,807,963 - 2257771 -
Exercisable at 31 December 170,622 - 50,166 -

For options cutstanding as at 31 December 2018, the exercise price was £nil and the weighted average remaining contractual ife was 4 75
years (2017 4 73 years)

The Group also cperates a cash settled share-based payment scheme for which there was an expense in the year of £0.5m (2017, £0 8m)
and tor which there was a labilty at the year end of £1.5m (2017: £1 0m)

The Synthomer Employee Benefit Trust

The Company established a trust, formerly the Yule Catto Empioyee Benefit Trust, on 17 July 1996 to distribute shares to employees
enabling the obligations under the Yule Catto Longer-Term Performance Share Plan and the Yule Catto Longer-Term Deferred Bonus Plan
tc be met The Trust is managed by the RBC Trustees (Guemsey) Limited, an independent company located in Guemsey

At 31 December 2018, the Trust held 110,969 (2017 249) ordinary shares in the Company with a market value of £0 4m (2017* £nil}

The dividends on these shares have been waived All of the shares are under option Costs are amortised over the hfe of the plans

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise was £4.91 (2017, £4 70}

The weighted average fair value of the options at the measurement date granted during the year was £2 68 {2017 £2 97) The valuation was
based on the following nputs and assumptions, using a Monte Carlo simulation model.

2018 2017
Weighted average share price i) 4.88 503
Option price (£) - _
Value of optionality nil nil
Vesting assumption 55% 59%

Given the option price s Cnil, the only circumstance in which a vested option will not be exercised 18 If the current share price s £nil There 15
some value associated with the timing of when the exercise would be made but this is considered to be minimal and therefore this has not
been modelled

The vesting assumption s the estimate at the measurement date of the percentage of the options that will ultimately vest and 15 based on
market conditions and management's assessment of the Ikelihood of achievement of the performance criteria
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37 Share price information

The middle market value of the isted ordinary shares at 31 December 2018 was 357 4 pence (31 December 2017 491 4 pence) During the
year, the market price ranged between 347 4 pence and 575 & pence The latest ordinary share price 1s available on the Group's website,

www.synthomer com

38 Additional segmental analysis

With effect from 1 January 2019, the Group has implemented a new organisation structure, comprising three operating segments

Going forward, the following global operating segments will replace the previous regional operating segments.

+ Performance Elastomers
+ Functional Solutions
+ Industrial Specialties

2018 results under the new dwisional structure are shown below

2018

Analysis by activity - Revenue £fm
Performance Elastomers 704.5
Functional Sclutions 680.1
Industrial Specialities 234.3
1,618.9

Share of jont

Subsidaries ventures Total

Analysis by activity — Underlying operating profit £m £m £m
Performance Elastomers 872 - 87 2
Functional Solutions 526 a4 530
Industral Speciaities 167 - 16.7
Reported segment operating profit 1565 04 156 9
Unallosated corporate expenses (14 8) - {14 8)
Operating profit 141.7 04 142 1
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

39 Audit exemptions

The following subsicharies have taken advantage of the exemption from an avdn for the year ended 31 December 2018 avallable under
s479a of the Companies Act 2006 as the Company has given a statutory guarantee of all of the outstanding iabiliues of these subsidianes
as at 31 December 2018

Company Carnpany Registraticn
Dimex Limited 01763129
Ecatto Limited 00978441
Harlow Chemical Company Limited 00778831
PolymerlLatex Limited 03439041
S AL300) Limited 00236227
Super Sky Limited 02021871
Synthomer Overseas Limited 06349474
Temple Figids 514 Limited 04541637
Temple Fialds 515 Limitgg == 00692510
Temple Fields 522 Limited 05516912
Temple Figlds 523 Limited 35516913
Tempie Figlds 530 Limited 00831113
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Company financial statements

Company balance sheet
31 December 2018

2018 2017
Note £m £m
Fixed assets
Property, piant and equipment S| 23 2.1
Investments In subsidiaries and joint ventures 208.1 3375
210.4 3396
Current assets
Trade and cther receivables 7 963.6 7082
Cash and cash eguivalents 53.3 353
1,016.9 7445
Creditors — amounts falling due within one year
Borrowings 8 (74.3) B3 7)
Other creditors 10 {262.9) {215.2)
Derivatives at farr value g (5.3) -
(342.5) 278.9)
Net current assets 674.4 465.6
Total assets less current liabilities 884.8 805.2
Creditors - amounts falling due after more than one year
Borrowings 8 (240.8) (1567 8}
Net assets 644.0 6474
Equity
Ordinary shares 34.0 340
Share premium 230.5 2305
Revaluation reserve 0.8 0.8
Capral redemplion reserve 0.9 09
Retained earnings 377.8 3812
Total shareholders’ funds 644.0 B47 4
Analysis of net borrowings
Cash and cash equivalents 53.3 353
Borrowtngs due in less than one year (74.3) B3 7)
Borrowings due after more than one year (240.8) {157 8)
Net borrowings g (261.8) {186 2)

As disclosed in note 3. the Company's profit for the year was £46 8m {2017, £22 7m)
The notes on pages 147 10 156 are an integral part of these financial statements

The financial statements of Synthomer plo registered number 98381) on pages 145 to 156 were authonsed tor issue by the Board of

Directors cn 4 March 2019

C G MacLean S G Bennett
Director Director
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Company financial statements

Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31December 2018

Called up Share Cantal
share premium Revaluation redemphon Profit and loss Total
capital account reserve reserve account equrty
£m £m £m em £m £m
At 1 January 2018 34.0 230.5 0.8 0.9 381.2 647.4
Profit for the year - - - ~ 46.9 46.9
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - ~ 46.9 46.9
Dividends - - - ~ {42.5) {42.5)
Share-based payments - - - -~ {3.9) {3.9)
Farr value of hedged interest dervatives - - - ~ (3.9} (2.9)
Total transactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity - - - - (50.3) {50.3)
Balance as at 31 December 2018 34.0 230.5 0.8 0.9 377.8 644.0
Balance as at 1 January 2017 340 230 5 08 08 398.1 664 3
Profit for the year - - - - 227 227
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 227 227
Dwidends - - - - {39 1} 39 1j
Share-based payments - - - - 05 (0.5}
Total transactions with owners,
recognised directly in eguity - - - - (39 6) (39.6)
Batance as at 31 December 2017 34.0 2305 0.8 09 381.2 647.4
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Notes to the Company financial statements
31 December 2018

1 Accounting policies
The principal accounting pelicies apphed In the preparation ot these financial statements are set out below These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, untess otherwise stated

Basis of accounting

The financial statements of Synthomer plc have been prepared in accordance with Financiai Reporting Standard 101, "Reduced Disclosure
Framework’ (FRS 101} 1he financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
land and buldings and dervative financial assets and tinancial labilties measured at far value through the income statement, and in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006

The preparation of financial statements In conformity with FRS 101 reguires the use of certain critical accounting estimates |t also reguires
management to exercise its judgement In the process of applying the Company's accounting policies The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on industry expengnce and vanous other factors that are beleved to be reasonable under the circumstances

The directors have reviewed the estimates and assumptions used In the preparation of the financial statements. The directors do not believe
that there 1s 2 significant risk which would lead to matenal adjustments to the carrying value of any assets and habiities in the next financial
year due to changes of estimates or assumptions,

The following exemptions from the requrements of IFRS have been applied n the preparation of these financial statements. in accordance
with FRS 101

+ IAS 7, "Statement of cashflows,

+ The requirements in IAS24, 'Related party disclosures’ to disclose related party transactions entered into between two or more members
of a groups,

+ IFRS 7. 'Financial instruments. Disclosurgs’,

+ Paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13, ‘Fawr valye measurement’ {disclosure of valuation technigues and inputs used for fair value measurement
of assets and habiites, and

+ Paragraphs 45(1) and 46 to 52 of IFRS 2, 'Share based payment’ {details of the number and weighted-average exercise prices of share
options, and how the far vaiue of goods or services received was determined)

Going concern

The Company meets its day to-day working capital requirements through its cash reserves and borrowings  After makig enquiries and
taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading performance the Directors have concluded that the Company should be able to
operate within the level of its current cash reserves and borrowings and continue In operational existence for the foreseeadle future The
Company therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis in prepanng its financial statements

Foreign currencies

ltems included i the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic environmeant in
which the Company operates ('the functional currency’) The financial statements are presented in "Pounds Stering” (£). which s also the
Company's functional currency

Foreign currency transachons are transiated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevaling at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at year end exchangs rates ot monetary assets and habiities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised N the ncome
statement except when deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow hedges. All other foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in the Income statement within other operating income

Property, plant and equipment

Properties are shown at professional valuation from 1985 All other plant and equipment are stated at cost Cost includes the onginal
purchase price of the asset plus the costs attnbutable to bringing the asset to 1ts working condition for its intended use Increases in the
carrying amount ansing on revaluation of land and buldings are credited to other comprehensive Income and shown as Revaluation reserve
m shareholders’ funds Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged m other comprehensive Income and debited
against Revaluation reserve, all other decreases are charged to the ncome statement Each year the ditterence between depreciation
hased on the revalued carrying amount of the asset charged to the income statemsnt and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost s
transferred trom 'Revaluation reserve to 'Retaned earnings’

Except tor freehold land, which 1s not depreciated, the cost o valuation of property, plant and equipment 15 depreciated on a straight line
basis over thelir expected usefut hves as follows

freehold buildings 00 vears
Plant and Equipment 3 years

Ihe assels residual values and useful ives arg reviewed and adjustea if appropnate, at the end of each reporting penod
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Company financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements continued
31 December 2018

1 Accounting policies continued
Investments
Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures arg shown at cost less provision for impairment

Intercompany
Intercompany balances are shown gross unless a nght of set off exists. Balances are valued at far value at ncephion and are repayable
on demand

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax

The tax currently payable 1s based on taxable profit for the year Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported In the Income statement
because I excludes items of Income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and 1t further excludes dems that are never
taxable or deductible The Company's lability for current tax 1s calculated using tax rates that have been enacted of substantively enacted
by the balance sheet date

Deferred taxation

Detferred tax is fhe tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabitties in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and 18 accounted for using the balance
sheet labiity method Deferred tax hatwhties are generally recogrised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recogrused 1o the extent that 1t 1s probable that taxable profits will be avallable against which deductible temporary differences can

be utiised.

Financial instruments

all financial assets and liabilities are intially measured at transaction price {Including transaction costs), except for those financial assets
classified as at fair valug through the income statement, which are imtially measured at fair value, Financial assets and financial labilhes
{(ncluding dervatve instruments) are recogrised on the Company statement of inancia! poshon when the Company becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument

Financial assets and habilities are only offset in the balance sheet when, and onfy when, there exists a legally énforceatite nght 1o set off the
recognised amounts and the Company intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the hability simultaneousty

Financial assets are derecognised, when and only when, a) the contractual nghts to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or are
settleq, b) the Company transfers to another party substantially all of the nsks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or ¢) the
Company, despite having retained some significant nsks and rewards of ownership, has transferred ¢ontrol of the assat to ancther party
and the cther party has the practical ability to sell the asset In its entirety to an unrelated third party and s able to exercise that ability
unilaterally and without needing to impose additional restrictions on the transfer

Financial labiies are derecognised only when the obligation specified in the contract 1s discharged cancelied or expires.

Trade and other recevables

Trade receivables are generally short-term in nature and are therefore are all classified as current assets and their far valus recogrised
at consideration due The carrying value of trade receivables are considered to be the same as therr far values, due to therr short-term
nature Appropnate allowances for estmated rrrecoverable amounts are recogrised in the iIncome statement based on expected losses

Bank borrowings

interest bearing bank iodns and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received net of direct issue costs Finance charges, Including
premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct 1ssUe costs, are accounted for on an accruals basis to the income statement
using the effective nterest method and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the
period in which they anse

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are generally short term in nature and are therefore are all classified as current assets and therr far value recognised at
amounts payaple The carrying value of trade payables are considered to be the same as therr far values, due to then short-term nature

148 Synthomer plc Annual Report 2018



Derivative financial nstruments
The use of tinanaial denvatives s governed by the company's policies approved by the Beard of Directors, which provide written principles
on the use of financial dervatives

The Company enters inta dervative financial instruments to manage 1ts exposure 1o interest rate and foreign exchange rate sk, including
cross currency interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts. The Company doeas not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for speculative purposes

Darwvatives are inhally recognised at fair value at the date a derwvative contract 1s entered into and are subsequently remeasured to theirr farr
value at each balance sheet date A derivative with a positive fair value 1s recognised as a financial asset whereas a dervative wiath a
negative fair value 1s recognised as a financial lability. The resulting gain or 1oss 1s recognised in the income statement immediately unless
the derivative 1s designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in the income statement
depends on the nature of the hedge refaticnship.

Fair value hedge accounting

The Company designates certaim dervatives as farr value hedges. Changes in the tarr value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as
fair value hedges are recorded In the Income statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged assets or habilities that are
attnbutable to the hedged risk. The Company only applies far value hedge accounting for foreign currency exposure associated with the
underlying hedged item The gain or loss relating to the neffective portion 1s also recogrised in the income statement

Cash flow hedges

At the inception of the hedge relattonship the entity documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hadged item, along
with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking vanous hedge transactions Furthermore at the inception of the hedge
and on an ongoing basis, the Company documents whether the hedging instrument that 1s used In a hedging relationship 1s highly effective
in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item

The etfective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and gualify as cash flow hedges are deferred in eguity
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement

Amounts deterred In equity ate recycted In the income statement N the periods when the hedged e 1 recagrised in profit or loss, N the
same line of the Nncome statement as the recognised hedged item However, when the forecast transaction that 1s hedged results in the
recognition of a non-financial asset or a non financial liability, the gains and iosses praviously deferred in equity are transterred from equity
and included in the inthial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or non financial lability

Hedge accounting 1s discontinued when the Company revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or s sold.
terminated. or exercised. or no longer qualfies for hedge accounbing Any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that time remains in
equity and 1s recognised when the forecast transaction 1s uftimately recognised in profit or loss When a forecast transaction 18 no longer
expected to ocour, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity 1s recognised immediately i profit or loss

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and other short-term highly iquid investments with a matunity of three months or less

Borrowings
Borrowings represent short-and long-term borrowings as adjusted for the eftect ot related derivative instruments irrespective of whether
they quality for hedge accounting

Fees paid on the establishment of loan faciliies are capitalsed as prepayment for lquidity service and amortised over the term of the facility

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity

Dividend distribution
Drvidend distributions to the Company s shareholders are recognised as a lability in the Company s inancial statements in the penod in
which the dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders

Financial guarantees
The Company 1ssues guarantees in respect of bank and other faciibies of subsihangs and joint ventures

2 Auditors’ remuneration
Ihe audht fee of Synthomer ple amounted to S11,000 (2017 £10,000)
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Company financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements continued
31 December 2018

3 Profit attributable to equity shareholders

2018 2017

£m tm

Attributable to Synthomer plc 46.9 227
As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 no profit and loss account 1s presented for Synthomer plc

4 Ordinary dividends 2018 017

Pence per Pence per 2018 2M7

share share Em £m

Intenm dividend 4.0 37 13.6 1286

Proposed final dradend 9.1 85 30.9 289

n these financial statements.

5 Property, plant and equipment

The proposed final dividend 1s subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and has not been ncluded as a lability

Land and
buildings
" Frechauds
£m
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2018 28
Addtions 0.2
At 31 December 2018 3.0
At cost -
At professicnal valuation in 1885 2.8
3.0
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2018 0.7
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2018 0.7
Net book value
At 31 December 2018 2.3
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2017 28
Disposals -
At 31 December 2017 28
At cost
At professicnal valuatian in 1985 2.8
2.8
Accumuiated depreciation
At 1 January 2017 08B
Charge for the year 01
At 31 Decermnber 2017 0.7
Net bock value
At 31 December 2017 2.1

(2017, £0 6m).

Freehold land amounting tc £1 8m {2017 £1 8m) has not been depreciated

Properties included at valuation would have been stated on a hustonical cost basis at cost of £1 8m (2017, €1 9m) and depreciation of £0.6m
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6 Investments

Joint
Subsidiaries ventures Total
£m £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 2018 337.2 0.5 337.7
Additions 160.0 - 160.0
Return of capital {292.6) - (292.6)
Hedge adjustment {see below) 3.2 - 3.2
At 31 December 2018 207.8 0.5 208.3
Provisions
At 1 January 2018 - 0.2 0.2
At 31 December 2018 - 0.2 02
Net book value
At 31 December 2018 207.8 0.3 208.1
Net book value
At 31 December 2017 337 2 03 3375

Detalls of the Group's subsicdianes and jont ventures are given on pages 154 to 156

During the year the Company designated up to €264 1m (2017 €232 5) of its borrowings as a FRS 101 fair value hedge against the
designated Eura portion of its investment i Synthomer Jersey Limited of up to €264 1m (2017 €232 5m) The movement in the Euro

borrowings is recorded in the profit and loss account along with the movement of the hedged mvestment,
Directors consider the value of investments to be supported by underlying assets

7 Trade and other receivables

2018 2017

£m £m

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 962.9 7088
Other recevables 0.7 06

963.6 7092

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are valued at far value at nception and are repayable on demand,

nodai abayens
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Company financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements continued
31 December 2018

8 Borrowings

2018 2017
£m £m
Current barrowings
Bank loans
Overdrafts 24.9 148
Committed unsecured €56m loan expinng 21 November 2078 - 489
Committed unsecured €55m loan expiring 26 July 2019 49.4 -
74.3 837
Non-current borrowings
Bank loans
Committed unsecured £370 Om multi currency Revoiving Credit Facility expinng 30 July 2019 - ib8 6
Committed unsecured €440m mult currency Revalving Credit Facility expiring 23 July 2022 242.6 -
242.6 158 8
Less: capitalised costs (1.8) {0 8)
240.8 157.8

all conditions precedent had been met

Analysis of borrowings at carrying value by currency
The directors calculate the carrying value of the Company’s borrowings as follows:

Bank loans are denominated in Eurc (2017 Euro and Czech Koruna) and bear interest based on EURIBOR (2017 LIBOR and EURIBOR)

At 31 December 2018, the Company had avalable £152.4m {2017. £172 2m} of undrawn cormimitted borrowing faciiiies in respect of which

Sterling US dollar Eura Total
£m £m £m
31 Decermber 2018
Bank loans and overdrafts 5.2 3.2 308.5 316.9
Capitalised costs (1.8) - - (1.8)
34 3.2 308.5 3151
Cash and cash equwvalents (53.3)
Net borrowings 261.8
31 December 2017
Bank loans and overdrafts 9.5 5.3 207 5 2223
Capttalsed costs ©8) - ~ 0.8)
87 53 207 5 221.5
Cash and cash eguivalents 35 3)
Net borrowings 186.2

Cash and cash eguivalents comprise cash at bank and other short-term hughly iguid investments with a maturity of three months or fess
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9 Financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments has been disclosed in the Company’s statement of financial position as

2018 2017
Fair value Farr vaiue
through Totat through Total
Loans and Incoms carrying Loans and Income carrying
T t value recevables statement valug
Farr value of financial assets £m £m £m £m £m £m
Trade and other receivailes excluding prepayments 963.2 - 963.2 708 6 - 708 6
Cash and cash equivalents 53.3 - 53.3 353 - 353
1,016.5 - 1,016.5 743.9 - 7439
Loans and Fair value Loans and Far value
payables at through Total payables at through Total
amortised Incoms carrying amortised Inceme carrying
cost statement valug cost statement value
Farr value of financial habilites £m £m £m £m £m £m
Bank loans and overdrafts 3151 - 3151 2215 - 2215
Trade and other payables 262.9 - 262.9 2152 2152
Derivatives at farr value - 5.3 5.3 - - -
578.0 5.3 583.3 4367 - 436.7
A fuller description of financial instruments 1s included in note 23 of the consolidated financial statements on page 128
10 Other creditors 2018 2017
£m £m
Amount due within one year
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 254.1 2130
Other creditors 23 08
Accruals and deferred income 6.5 1.4
2629 2152

Amounts owed to Group undertakings are valued at fair value at inception and are repayable on demand

11 Called up share capital

Detals of the Company's share capital and outstanding share options are shown in note 28 of the consolidated financial statements on

page 138

12 Related party transactions

The Company has elected to take the allowable exemption in terms of FRS 101 to not disclose transactions with wholly owned subsicharies,

13 Guarantees and other financial commitments

The Company has given guarantees amounting to £37 2m {2017 £55 7m) in respect of bank and other faciities of subsidianes

and joint ventures

14 Share-based paymenis

Far details of share-based payments please refer to note 36 to the consoldated financial statements on page 142

15 Employees

The Company had no employees durning the year (2017, ril}
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Company financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements continued

31 December 2018

16 Subsidiaries and joint ventures

Effectve
Group
nterest in
Trading/ Place of aquty
Company Non-Trading Registered address ncorparation %
Desa Baidun Sdn Bhd Non Trading Bangunan Revertex, 1 1/2 Mites, Malaysia 70
Letting of Jalan Batu Pahat. 86000 Kiuang,
Properties) Johor Darul Takzim
Dimex Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Bullding, Temple Fields,  Unrted Kingdom 100
Harlow. Essex, CM20 2BH
Ecatto Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields,  United Kingdom 1007
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH
Fing Chemicals Sdn Bhd Non Trading Bangunan Revertex, 1 1/2 Miles, Malaysia 70
Jalan Batu Pahat, 86000 Kluang.
Johor Darui Takzim
Harlow Chemical Company Limited Non-Trading Temple Felds, Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH  United Kingdem 1007
Holliday Pigments bimrted Non-Trading Yule Catto Building. Temple Fields,  United Kingdom 100°
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH
Kind Action (M) Sdn Bhd Trading Bangunan Revertex, 1 1/2 Miles, Malaysia 70
Jalan Batu Pahat, 86000 Kluang,
Johor Darul Takzim
PAC Chemical (Shanghal) Co Limited Trading Roormn 326. 3rd Floor, Butding No 3. China 100
(in the process of de-registration) N 500 Bingke Road,
Shanghai Free Trade Zone
PolymerLatex Ltd Non-Trading Central Road, Temple Fields,  United Kingdom 100
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH
Polymerlatex Sdn Bhd Trading 1 1/2 Miles, Jalan Batu Pahat, 86000 Malaysia 100
Kluang, Johor Darul Takzim
Quality Polyrmer Scn Bhd Trading Bangunan Revertex. 1 1/2 Miles, Malaysia 70
Jalan Batu Pahat, 86000 Kluang.
Johar Darul Takzim
Revertex (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Trading Bangunan Revertex, 1 1/2 Miles, Malaysia 70
Jalan Batu Pahat, 86000 Kluang,
Joher Darul Takzim
Revertex Limited Nan-Trading Yule Catto Bullding, Temple Figlds,  United Kingdom 100"
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH
Rexplas Sdn Bhd Non-Trading Bangunan Revertex, 1 1/2 Miles, Malaysia 70
(Dormant) Jalan Batu Pahat, 86000 Kluang,
Jahaor Darul Takzim
S.A, (300) Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Bulding, Temple Fields,  United Kingdom 1007
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH
Shanghar Synthcmer Chemicals Trading China Technical Gentre, Buillding 53-55, China 100
Co Limited (FICE) Lang 1000 Zhangheng Road,
Zhangnang High-tech Park, Pudang,
Shangha 201203
Star Pharma Limited Nan-Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields.  United Kingdom 100
Harlow, Essex, CM20 28H
Super Sky Lirmnited Non-Trading Synthomer Bulding, Temgple Fields,  United Kingdom 50"
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH
Synthomer (Thalland) Limited Tracing 3195/6 Vibulthant Tower 1 Thatland 100
1st Floor, Rama )V Road,
Klongton Sub-District, Klongtoey District
Bangkok 10110
Synthomer (UK) Limited Trading Temple Fields. Central Road,  United Kingdom 100
. Harlow, Essex, CM20 28H
Synthomer 2016 Limited Non-Trading Synthomer Bulding. Temple FMelds,  United Kingdom 100!
Central Road, Harlow, Essex, CM20 28H
Synthomer AS Trading Sokolov, Tovarni 2093, Czech Republic 100
Postal Code 356 01
Synthomer Asua SL Trading Caming Sangroniz, No 8 Sondika Spain 100

48150 Vizcaya
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Effective
Group
interest in
Trading/ Place of equrty
Company Non-Trading Registered address incorporation %
Synthomer Austraha Pty Limited Trading C/o  Cosec Consulting Pty Ltd Australa 100 I
58 Gipps Street, Colingwood, VIC 3066 o
Synthomer Austria GmbH Trading industriepark Pischelsdorf Austria 100 er—
3435 Zwentendort an der Donau p—
Synthomer Bangkok Limited Trading 3195/6 Vibulthan: Tower 1 Thaitand 100 o
1st Floor, Rama IV Road. Klengton Sub-District, H
Klongtoey Distrct, Bangkok 10110 §
Synthomer BV Trading ||sselstraat 41, 5347 KG Oss  The Netherlands 100 s
Synthomer Deutschland GmbH Trading Werrastrasse 10, D-45768 Marl Germany 100
Synthomer Finland Oy Trading P.0O.B 175 FI-80101 Oulu Finland 100
Synthomer France SAS Trading 704 rue Pierrs et Mane Cunie 60170 France 100
Ribécourt-Dreslincourt
Synthomer Functicnal Solutions FZCC Trading Building East, Wing 2-office, No 201, Dubal UAL 49
Synthomer FZE Trading Dubai Airport Free Zene Authority, Dubat UAE 49 @
Synthomer Holdings {(CZE) s ro Non Trading V Celnici 103174, Nové Mesto,  Czech Republic 100 ‘,\"’,
11000, Prague 1
Synthomer Holdings {Thalland) Limited Non Trading No 99/329 So Suanluang. Thaland 100 [——
Bangkho Sub District, ]
Jomthong District, Bangkok g
Synthomer Holdings Limited Non-Trading Yuie Catto Bulding, Temple Nelds.  United Kingdom 100" é’-
Harlow Essex, CM20 2BH a
Synthomer Jersey Ltd Nen-Trading 44 Esplanade. St Helier, JE4 9WG Jersey 100% i
Synthomer LLC Trading 1201 Peachtree Street NE, Atlanta, USA 100 gf
Fulton, GA 30361 2
{CT Corporation} @
Synthomer Middle Last Company Limited Trading PO Box 7544, Dammam 31472 Saudi Arabia 49
Synthomer Overseas Limited Non-Trading Yuls Catto Buiiding, Temple Fields,  United Kingdom 100° @
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH i~
Synthomer Participacoes Ltda Trading Av Casa Verde, 3100, sala 01, Brazil 100 ®
parrro Casa Verde. CEP-02520-300,
S&o Paule-SP o
Synthomer S rl Trading Via delle Industne &, — 24040 Flago (BG) Italy 100 g
Synthomer SAE Trading Industriel Zone 1 B, 10th of Fgypt 28 E
Ramadam City, Sharkiya =
=
Synthomer Sdn Bhd Trading Bangunan Revertex, 1 1/2 Miles, Malaysia 100 2
Jalan Batu Pahat. 86000 Kluang. &
Johor Darul Takzim E-
Synthomer Speciality Additives AB Trading Ourmakker 33, 9940 Evergem Sweden 100 g’
Synthomer Spectally Rasing S.rl Trading Via Morazzo 27, 12040 Sant'Albano ltaly 100 i
Stura, CN '.é
Synthomer Trachng Limited Trading 45 Pali Mall, Londen, SW1Y 5JG United Kingdom 100 s
o
Synthomer USA LLC Trading 160 Greentree Dr Suite 101 USA 100 @
Dover, Delaware, 19904
{Registered agent address) -
Synthomer Vistnam Co Ltd Trading No 8 Road 6 (Lots No 101, 109) Vietnam B0 8
Sang Than | Industnal Park, ;D
D1 An District, Binh Duong Province g
Temple Fields 510 MNon-Trading Yule Catto Bulding, Temple Felds,  linted Kingdom 100 g
Harlow, Essex, CM20 23H E
Temple Nelds 512 Limitect Non-Trading Yule Catto Bulding, lemple Fields,  Umnted Kingdom 100
Hairlow, Easex. CM20 2B3H
lemple Felds 514 Limited Non Trading Yule Catto Bullding, Temple Fields. United Kingdom 100
Hatlow, Essex, CM20 23H
= Temple |ields 515 biminedd Non Trading Yule Catto Bullding, Ternple Melds United Kingdom 100 ﬁ
Harlow, [ssex, CM20 213H é




Company financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements continued

31 December 2018

Eftective
Group
interest in
Trading/ Piace of equity
Company Non-Trading Regstered address incorporation %
Temple Fields 522 Limited Non Trading Yule Catto Bullding, Temple Fieids,  United Kingdom 100°
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH
Temple Felds 523 Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Fields,  Urited Kingdom 100°
Harlow, Essex, CM20 28H
Ternple Fields 530 Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Bulding, Temple Fields,  United Kingdom 100
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH
Temple Fields 534 Limited Nor-Trading Yule Catto Bunding, Temple Fields,  Untted Kingdom 100
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH
Temple Fields GrbH Non-Trading Inmerstetal 2, 38685 Langelsheim Germany 100
Temple Fields GmbH & Co Non-Trading Innerstetal 2, 38685 Langelsheim Germany 100
Chemie oHG (formerly Jarmes
Robinson GmbH & Co Chemie oHG)
Temple Fields Verwaltungs GmbH (formerly ~ Non-Trading Innerstetal 2, 38685 Langelsheim Germany 100
James Robinson Verwaltungs GmbH)
Terra Simfon Sdn Bhd Non-Trading Bangunan Revertex, 1 1/2 Miles, Malaysia 100
{nvestment Jalan Batu Pahat, 86000 Kluang,
Haolding) Johor Darul Takzim
UQUIFA ltalia Sl Non-Trading Piazza Cavour 3, Milano Italy 100
Wiliam Blythe Limited Trading Synthomer Bullding, Temple Fields,  United Kingdom 100
Hariow, Essex, CM20 2BH
Yule Catto BV Non-Trading jsselstragt 41, 5347 KG Oss  The Netherands 100
Yule Catto France SA Non-Trading 6 Place de la Madeline, 75008 Paris France 100
Yule Catto Holdings GmbH Non-Trading Werrastrasse 10, 45768 Marl Germany 100
Yule Catto Inc Non-Trading 1201 Peachtree Street NE, Atlanta, Fulton, USA 100
GA 30361
Yule Catto International SA Non-Trading 6 Place de la Madeline, 75008 Paris France 100
Yule Catto Nederland BV Non-Trading lisselstraat 41, 5347 KG Oss  The Netherlands 100
Yule Catto Overseas Non-Trading Temple Fields, Central Road,  United Kingdom 100"
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH
Yulg Catto Spain SL Non-Trading C/0 Rambla de Catalunya no. 53, Atico, Span 100
08007 Barcelecna
Yule Catto Western Europe Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Bullding, Temple Fields,  Urited Kingdom 100°

Central Road Harlow, Essex, CM20 28H

Notes
T Joint ventures

2 Harlow Chemical Company Limited was incorporated in UK but 1s resident in the Netheriands

3 Shares drestly held by Synthomer ple
4 Dissolved January 2019
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Other information

Five year financial summary

2018 2017 2016 2015 (reség:)’
Undertying performance® £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue 1,618.9 1,480 2 10457 870.1 936 4
EBITDA"R 181.0 176.2 160.1 125.0 118.0
Operating profit 1421 1390 130.2 102.9 96 5
Finance costs (7.0) 9.0 8 0) (7 B) (10.5)
Profit before taxation 135.1 130.0 1222 953 860
Basic earnings per share 32.8p 30 7o 28 3p 215p 19 5p
Dividengs per share 13.1p 12 2p 11 3p 8 Bp 7 8p
Dividend cover 2.5 2.5 25 25 25
Ngt borrowings (214.0) {180 5) {150 3) {77.4) (112.1)
Capital expenditure’ 757 60 3 456 228 220
2014
2018 2017 2016 2015 [restated)’
IFRS - continuing operations £m £m £m £m £m
Reverue 1,618.9 1,480 2 1.0457 8701 936 4
EBITDAR 181.0 176 2 160.1 1250 1180
Operating profit- 128.7 954 1447 803 65.1
Finance costs {8.4) 9 0) 80 {7 8 {11 3
Profit before taxation 120.3 86.4 1367 725 53.8
Basic earnings per share 29.4p 21 8p 32 5p 17 8p 13 3p
Dividends per share 13.1p 12 2p 11 3p 8 6p 7 8p
Dividend cover 2.2 18 29 21 1.7
Net borrowings’ (214.0} {180 5) (150 3) 80 1) 114.1)
Capital expendiiure® 75.7 60.3 45.6 228 220

Naotes
a  Asoresenedin the conseldated income statement on page 100
b As defined in the accounting pohcies at note 2 and rec anciled N note 6

Ag defined in the accounting ol cies at note 2

As defined in note 2 to the conscldated finanoiar statemrents and reconciled in note 22
As shiown with the consoldated cash flow statement

Restated for impact of IAS19 revised

T oaon

yodas oifsens

SOUBUIBAOL) | I £5-0dl

| 951-Gk1  SoWaels [eaueul Auedwon || PrI-E6 Sluewe|e)s [BjauEL) dnous I 26-95

ucRULIOMI JOYLO

094-L54

Synthomer plc Annual Re port 2015

157



Other information

Glossary of terms

AGM

AIMS

APMs

ARW

C&C

C&F

CGuU

CH

ClA

CO,

CO:e

Capital employed
Constant currency

CRM
CSR
OEFRA
EBITDA
EGM
ENA
EPS
ERP
ESG

FP

FRC
Free cash flow

FRS

FS
GHGs
GJ
GWP
H&P
HR
HSSBR
IAS
IFRS

1S4
KPls
Ktes
LTA
LTIP
MEA
MOC
MYR
N:O
NBR

Annual General Meeting

Accident and Incident Management System
Alternative Performance Measures

Asia and Rest of the World

Construction and Coatings

Carpet and Foam

Cash Generating Units

Methane

Chemical Industries Association

Carbon Dioxide

Carbon Dioxide equivalent

Net assets excluding third party net debt

Reflects current year results for existing business translated at the prior year's average exchange rates,
and includes the impact of acquisitions.

Customer Relatonship Management system
Corporate Social Responsibility

Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affars
EBITDA Is calculated as operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and Special ltems
Extraordinary General Mesting

Europe and North America

Earnings Per Share

Enterprise Resource Planning

Environmentat, Sccial and Governance

Functional Polymers

Financial Reporting Counci!

Net cash flow from operating activities, after net interest pard and purchases and proceeds from sale
of non-cuirent assets and investmants

Financiai Reporting Standard
Functional Soiutions

Greenhouse Gases

Gigajoule

Global Warmming Pateral

Health and Protecticn

Human Rescurces

High Solids Styrene Butadiene Rubber
International Accounting Standard
International Financial Reporting Standards
Industral Specalites

International Standards of Auditing
Key Performance Indicators
Kilgtonne or 1,000 tonnes metric)
Lost lime Accident

Long Term Incentive Plan

Mergers and Acquisitions
Management of Change
Malaysian Ringgits

Nitrous Oxide

Nitrile Butadiene Rubber
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Net borrowings

Met debt
N
Operating profit
PBT

PE

PPE
P3P
PTW
PVC
R&D
RCIC

SBR

SEC

SHE

SHEMS

The Code

TSR

UK GAAP

Underlying performance

VOCs

Net borrowings represent cash and cash equivalents together with short and long-term borrowings,
as adjusled for the effect of relaled dervative inslruments nespeciive ol whelher they gualty lor
hedge accounting, non-tecourse factonng arrangements, and the mcluston of fnanvial assels

Borrowings and cther financial kabilities less cash and cash equivalents

Nitrogen Oxide

Operating proft represents profit from continuing activities before finance costs and taxation
Profit Before Tax

Performance Elastcmers

Property, Plant and Equipment

Performance Share Plan

Permit to Work

Polyvinyt Chlonde

Research and Developmerit

Return on Invested Capital 1s calculated as Group Underlying operating profit as a percentage of Group
capital employed

Styrene Butadiene Rubber

Speciic Energy Consumption

Safety, Health and Environment

Bafety, Health and Enviionment Management System
'he UK Corporate Governance Code

fotal Shareholder Return

UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice

Underlying performance represents the statutory performance of the Group under IFRS, excluding
special tems

Volatile Organic Compounds
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